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Minmetals Land Limited is a subsidiary and the sole
listed real estate flagship of China Minmetals
Corporation in Hong Kong. Minmetals Land
Limited’s principal business includes real estate
development, specialised construction and property
investment. Currently, its real estate development
business covers the Pan Bohai Rim, Yangtze River
Delta, Central China, Chengdu-Chongqing, Pearl

River Delta and Hong Kong regions.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. He Jianbo — Chairman

Mr. Liu Bo — Managing Director

Mr. Chen Xingwu — Deputy Managing Director
Mr. Yang Shangping — Deputy Managing Director

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. He Xiaoli
Mr. Huang Guoping (appointed on 1 February 2022)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Selwyn Mar
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheng Ka Hang, Francis

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27th Floor, One Taikoo Place,

979 King's Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of Beijing Company Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communication Company, Limited

Chong Hing Bank Limited

CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited

DBS Bank Ltd.

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Nanyang Commercial Bank Limited

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716,

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East,

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Victoria Place,

5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM 10,

Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG

KONG

18th Floor, China Minmetals Tower,
79 Chatham Road South,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Tel: 2613 6363

Fax: 2581 9823

Email: info@minmetalsland.com

WEBSITE

http://www.minmetalsland.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
LR R B

REVENUE TOTAL ASSETS

A EERE

Bam 5 - 53T 5§
R 2 12,885,638 R 18
tk/ g m - tk/ &l -
51 S» | 17,661,646 g=% S»
sz - S Eg o
MRS M «
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= 11,935,505 2>
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68,387,737

48,961,365

47,252,777

49,018,381

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
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» Bl 631,807

437,340

» 1,352,583

> 1,747,143

> 1,448,801

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

Bk

t-ALEE W

(HK cents) GBI

For the year ended 31 December
-A

nEt

2018 2019 2020 2021

2017

EXEF

» Il 2.67
» | 336
> 287
> 27.94
> 2132

For the year ended 31 December

BE+t-RA=1t—HLFE

Percentage

2021 2020 change (%)
—B=-—F —E-TF AILBRE (%)
Basic earnings per share for profit 74~ 7] IR#EFHE A B
attributable to equity holders of Fz8REREF
the Company (HK cents) (F&AL) 2.67 3.36 -21%
Dividend per share (HK cents) FREE GBA) 2.0* 2.0* —
Dividend payout (%) REZNAE (%) 74.9% 59.5% +15.4%**
Net debt (HK$ million)* BEFE(EEBR)" 8,983 11,139 -19%
Net gearing ratio (%)" FRELE %)™ 38.9% 49.7% -10.8%
*  Subject to Shareholders’ approval at AGM * FREARRBFAG @B
*  Change in percentage points »* RESHNEEH
“ Net debt = (Total borrowings — Cash and bank deposits) fOBEEFE = (BReRE - RS RRITFER
“  Net gearing ratio = Net debt woRaERE = BIEFE
Total equity EmBE
A Net asset value attributable to equity holders of the Company N ERRRIREREABEZEESE
T —F3% 007 TEERRA A



HONOURS AND AWARDS
SRB BN

REAL ESTATE
DEVELOPMENT

FHERE

Minmetals Land Limited
LB ERRQ A

o 2021 Top 100 Chinese Real Estate Companies
2021 7 [ 55 b 7 9181005

o 2021 China Real Estate Benchmark Brand Enterprise
with Comprehensive Strength
2021 FEFEMESRAE N FEmMEEE

o 2021 China Real Estate Blue Chip Enterprise
2021 FHREMEEERE

o 2021 Annual Top 30 Real Estate Enterprises with
Investment Value
2021 FF E 1R & B E N E 1> % (3058)

o 2021 Annual Social Responsibility Real Estate
Enterprise
N FERHBEERMESE

o 2021 China Real Estate Annual High Growth Enterprise
202 EEEFERKRIERE

o 2021 Top 20 China Intelligent City Operator
2021 P B BT E 2 2058

PROPERTY
MANAGEMENT

YREE

Minmetals Land Properties Services
(Nanjing) Limited

FRMERB (BR) BRAF

. Excellent Properties Services Enterprise
BEMERERE

Minmetals Land Properties Services

(Yingkou) Limited

TEYERE (E0)BRAA

o Advance Unit for City Creation

B S BB AL

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

Minmetals Land Limited — 5M intelligent
product system

HiEEERRAT —SMEERERRA
o 2021 China Real Estate Association Science and Technology
Award

20214F [ 70 B 55 3 E 3 1 2 o R R g 42

Minmetals Land 2021 Sustainable Bonds
hEE2021F S EEE

o Green and Sustainable Finance Certification Scheme 2021
A EF A FE S B RE R E12021
o Hong Kong Green and Sustainable Finance Awards 2021

BB B A 548 © @A 522021
o Triple A Country Awards 2021 — Best Sustainability Bond

(China Offshore) — Real Estate

AAABI R K 88

2021 — F'EF:T (Y
Platinum Bay

REERES
(RERER) —
FHETH
EEJE $HEE
2021 Liaoning Province Online and Offline Life Services
Benchmarking Project
2021 EEER FRTEERBIZIEEE

o Provincial Water-saving Community

B RETKE M R

Enchanté Cove

FiE. RS W

o Nanjing City Property Management Demonstration
Project
FARTYRERREEIAR

China Minmetals Tower

TEAEAE

o Honorable Managed Property Award
ERBERY R R

LKF29

o Quality Water Supply Scheme for Buildings — Fresh
Water (Management System)(Gold)

RNEBEHKBAGE — RK(EERER) ()

ANNUAL REPORT 2021



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
10 A7 1 0

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E-—F ZT-TF ZT-hF ZE-N\F ZZT—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FAT FAT FHET
Results 45
Revenue WA 12,885,638 7661646 11261431 10,930,824 11,935,505
Operating profit SR T 1,193,649 652,873 2,079,235 3,425,762 3,530,528
Finance income B 7 U A 249,115 222,799 221,744 189,019 147,039
Finance costs B 75 AR 7R (163,076) (69,471) (26,739) (137,524) (114,674)
Share of results of DIREE N R EE
associates (264,007) 4,469 (3,761) (10,531) (2,495)
Share of results of joint DhEE QRS
ventures 48,253 (2,260) (10,380) (3,310) (2,610)
Profit before tax B B2 A1 5 1,063,934 808,410 2,260,099 3,463,416 3,557,788
Income tax expense FrisfiMx (432,127) (371,070) (907,516)  (1,716,273)  (2,108,987)
Profit for the year NGl 631,807 437,340 1,352,583 1,747,143 1,448,801
Profit attributable to: mrEBR
Equity holders of the PAN/NGIF g
Company BEA 89,209 112,370 942,689 934,964 712,914
Holders of perpetual KABRTE
capital instruments BFEA 164,996 220,578 219,089 184,362 1,303
Non-controlling interests FE1E PR AR R = 377,602 104,392 190,805 627,817 734,584
Assets and liabilities EERERE
Non-current assets ERBEE 8,123,710 7,700,506 5,875,617 5,322,165 5,287,308
Current assets mEEE 69,049,534 60,687,231  43,085748 41,930,612 43,731,073
Total assets BEEBEE 77,173,244 68,387,737 48961365 47,252,777 49,018,381
Equity attributable to equity AR BIRRERH A
holders of the Company JEfh 2 = 10,020,461 9,598,951 9,193,845 8,367,708 8,352,677
Perpetual capital KABERTLTE
instruments 2,448,182 3,947,539 3,803,647 3,854,289 2,393,903
Non-controlling interests  JE¥5= B A% B8 25 10,649,268 8,863,517 3,269,226 2,588,454 2,855,958
Total equity e 23,117,911 22,410,007 16,266,718  14,810451 13,602,538
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 14,860,560 15,928,050 9,723,554 14,172,783 10,938,718
Current liabilities ViEI = 39,194,773 30,049,680 22,971,093 18269543 24,477,125
Total liabilities BERT 54,055,333  45977,730 32,694,647 32442326 35415843
Total equity and liabilities 1z & B E4REE 77,173,244 68,387,737 48961365 47,252,777 49,018,381
—E— g 009 LB ESRAT
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GROUP PROPERTIES

L IEYE S

REAL ESTATE
DEVELOPMENT
PROJECTS
FiERREE

it = Beijing [

# [ Yingkou .

B %% Langfang

X # Tianjin .

. 75 EE Xining

3 % Taian .

= Nanjing .

. A% #B Chengdu

e

& M Suzhou .— .

. ﬁ:}fi Wuhan

-
R’ Changsha i
#5% Xiangtan [l

& M Guangzhou .
% 11l Foshan .

& 3| Shenzhen

As at 31 December 2021, The Group's projects breakdown was listed as below:

RZE-—F+-_A=+—H AEEEB Z2EKWOT :

I =/ Huizhou

. % 7 Hong Kong

Percentage
Construction share of
Site Area floor area Land Bank Land Bank
15 £ i 4B
WEEE HLEEEE I b A BA

(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (sq.m.)

Location It Bh (FHXK) (EHXK) (FFHK)
Pan Bohai Rim R & 2,270,000 5,226,000 2,862,000 32%
Yangtze River Delta R=A& 812,000 2,214,000 542,000 6%
Central China Region Ehi[R 2,419,000 5,983,000 2,266,000 25%
Chengdu-Chongqing Region X JAI b [& 658,000 1,628,000 1,476,000 17%

Pearl River Delta including H=-AtEeE

Hong Kong BB 1,247,000 2,835,000 1,791,000 20%
Total et 7,406,000 17,886,000 8,937,000 100%
MINMETALS LAND LIMITED 012 ANNUAL REPORT 2021



Fortune Garden 1t ZE

Harrow Town M5 & /NE

Location

I Eh

Usage
A&

Site area

BB T 18

Construction floor area

BEEEE

Group's interest

REEEHE DS

Construction completion
date
BETETKER

. Xibeiwang Town, Haidian

District, Beijing, the PRC
B L B R R PR AL AT §A

. Residential
F=

: Approximately 139,000 square
metres
#9139,000F 73 2K

. Approximately 414,000 square
metres
#7414,000F 75 K

© 51%

0 2018
—T-N\F

Location

HoE

Usage
R

Site area

A&

Construction floor area

MRS 1A

Group's interest

REB FL =S

Expected construction
completion date

TEHZETIE K B H

. Jiangxintun Town, Xianghe

County, Langfang City, Hebei
Province, the PRC
¢5ﬂit%)§ﬁﬁﬁ§iﬂ%qé¥

: Residential

=

: Approximately 550,000 square

metres
#7550,000F J5 K

. Approximately 1,285,000 square

metres

#91,285,000°F J5 >k

: 50%

: Land plot No. 3 in 4Q 2024

izﬁﬂi&ﬁﬂ R HFEN

Beijing Chao Yang One* (formerly Beijing
Wangsiyingxiang project)
EtRHBEER (BT EINEHER)

Location

M E

Usage
Rz

Site area

AR E S

Construction floor area

B EEE

Group's interest

REBE LS

Expected construction
completion date

TEHRE TR TR A S

. Wangsiyingxiang, Chaoyang

District, Beijing, the PRC
A B b R T A R [ P 40

. Residential

E=

. Approximately 49,000 square

metres R
#749,000F A K

. Approximately 189,000 square

metres

#7189,000°F 75 K

: 40%

: 2Q 2024

—TENFEF

Minmetals International M B f B # A B

Location

HE

Usage
&

Site area

BRI 18

Construction floor area

B EmE A

Group's interest

REBE LS

Construction completion
date

EETRETHKAR

. At east of Yingbin Main Road and

south of Tuochang Road, Tanggu
District, Tianjin, the PRC
PEIRETIRE R E RBEIAR
K PEI5 B IA R

. Residential and commercial

FEREE

: Approximately 21,000 square

metres

#21,000F 7 2K

. Approximately 183,000 square

metres

#7183,000F 5 K

: 100%

Platinum Bay H 7Z . $1/5&

Neo-Metropolis 5 3 5

Location

I Eh

Usage
Rz

Site area

AR E S

Construction floor area

B E
Group's interest

REBE LS

Expected construction
completion date

EHRE TR TR A

T —FWH

. Liaoning (Yingkou) Coastal

Industrial Base, Yingkou City,
Liaoning Province, the PRC
PEEEREOMEE(40)
TR EEM

: Rgsidential
F=

: Approximately 396,000 square
metres
#7396,000F 5 K

. Approximately 377,000 square
metres
#9377,000F 77 2K

: 100%

1 2Q 2022

=

— =

013

Location

I Eh

Usage
R

Site area

AR E S

Construction floor area

B EE A

Group's interest

REB PGS

Expected construction
completion date

TRHREE Ti25AK H

. Yixingbuzhen, Bei Chen District,

Tianjin, the PRC
R RET AL R R B IR A

. Residential

EE=3

. Approximately 1,115,000 square

metres
#91,115,000F 75 K

. Approximately 2,778,000 square

metres
#92,778,000F 75 K

: 49%

: 4Q 2031

AREBERRDA



GROUP PROPERTIES
£ LIRS

Sello Royale LifE - N E&

Location . At south of Hongjing Main Road,

b2 Science Park, Jiangning District,
Nanjipgdian sg_Ffrovince, thﬁ PRC
BT # & UL B R 2 E A
EPN N

Usage : Residential

A& F=x

Site area . Approximately 179,000 square

A T FE metres
#9179,000F 77 K

Construction floor area . Approximately 270,000 square

RIFEEME metres
#9270,000°F 77 2K

Group's interest . 100%

REFEER

Construction completion  : 2014

date \ —E

EETRTKAH

Academic Royale FLHE « 5230 &1 Yan Shan Ju 2L F

Location . At Tian He Road, Jianye District, Location © At Zhong Ling Jie, Xuanwu
o2 Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC s EftggéNanﬂng,hangsuF%ownce
T T e the

BT R A R R R [ RO B PR IHE A REEE
Usage g Rgsisiential Usage . Residential
A& F= Rz F=
Site area . Approximately 136,000 square Site area . Approximately 91,000 square
A% TE AR metres AR E rinetres »

#7136,000F 75 K #991,000%F 75 2K

Construction floor area

Construction floor area

. Approximately 203,000 square

. Approximately 482,000 square 408 58 55 T s

MEEERE metres ! #9203,000°F 5 K

#1482,000F 77K Group's interest¥ : 100%
Group's interest : 100% REEMEER
ARE AR Construction completion : 2018
Construction completion  : 2019 gg“ilifi*ﬁﬁz B £ AN
date —ET-NF - .
BETET B S

Enchanté Oasis T 5% « & & 1 R

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

014

w

Location . At the junction of Shuanglong

1 B Main Road and Xuelindong Road,
Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC
PENTE# AL EREREAE
B MR B A SR

Usage : Residential

iRz =

Site area : Approximately 95,000 square

AR ETE metres )
#995,000°F 77 2K

Construction floor area
BEEME

VO =2

: Approximately 255,000 square

metres
#9255,000°F 75 oK

Group’s interest : 100%
REBAIEER

Construction completion 2020
date —_T-=F

BETE5EK A H

ANNUAL REPORT 2021



Enchanté Cove T HE « B 5 1L

Majestic Mansion & I E

Location

o E

Usage
e
Site area

BB 18

Construction floor area
REEME

Group's interest

REEEE DS

Construction completion

date :
BRETRTKAEH

At the junction of Fanggian Main
Road and Wushi Road, Jiangning

District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC N

BT &R F T B S )T ATAE
HISE R

Residential

T=

Approximately 68,000 square
metres .
#968,000°F 75 2K

Approximately 148,000 square
metres

#7148,000F 75 K
100%

2019

—T—h4F

Location . At the junction of Yanshan Road

b 2 and Shuiximen Jie, Gulou District,
Nanjipg, Jiangsg_Province, the PRC
PR BT #k l o S [ A L B E
IKPEFTR T2 R

Usage : Residential and commercial

Rz FEREE

Site area . Approximately 43,000 square

B EE metres
#943,000°F 73 2K

Construction floor area . Approximately 233,000 square

BIEEME metres
#9233,000F 75 K

Group's interest 0 34.1%

REE GRS

Expected construction . 4Q 2022

completion date T FENE

TREAEE TR B
58 0% 1L

Enchanté Park FLH& « &/

Location

il

Site area

AR E S

Construction floor area
BIZEEE

Group's interest

REBE PGS

Expected construction
completion date

TRHREE TI25EAk H H1

East of the Nanjing Jiangning
high-tech park Zhengfang Main
Road and south of Shimeng Road,
Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC N
TENTHA ML ER S EE
TTRBIAR - FEEIAFE
Residential

E=E

Approximately 61,000 square
metres
#161,000°F 75 K

Approximately 181,000 square
metres

#9181,000F 77 K
100%
30,2022

T FE=F

Jiang Shan Da Jing ST 1L K38

Suzhou Industrial Park Project* & /N T # & 18 B *

Location

HE

Usage

P

Site area

BB TE 18

Construction floor area

BEEER

Group's interest

REBE LS

Expected construction
completion date

TRHREE T2 3Rk H H1

. At the junction of Guangming

Road and Lixin Road, Pukou
District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC N

R BT A4 B AUR 1 B e AR R
ST BE AX SR

. Residential
>

F=

: Approximately 83,000 square

metres

#783,000F 77 2K

. Approximately 285,000 square

metres

#9285,000°F 75 K

: 39.8%

: 1Q 2022

015

Location

HE

Usage

P

Site area

AR T 18

Construction floor area

BEEER

Group's interest

REBE LS

Expected construction
completion date

TRHREE Ti25eAk H H3

. South of Min Sheng Road and

West of Xing Pu Road, High Trade
Zone, Suzhou Industrial Park,
Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
P EDT & A &N T AN TEERR
=8 R RBEE - BUEKA

. Residential
b

F=

. Approximately 56,000 square

metres

#756,000F 77 2K

. Approximately 157,000 square

metres
#7157,000F 75 K

: 55.0%

: 2Q 2024

T NFEF

AREBERRDA



GROUP PROPERTIES
£ LIRS

Scotland Town #& B /N8

Location . At Yuntang Village and Yuetang
i Bh Village, Muyun Town, Changsha,
Hunan Province, the PRC

TEMEE RS T EZATEN
H¥EN

K
Usage : Residential
Rz T
Site area . Approximately 333,000 square
3 A4 TH 1B metres
#1333,000F 75 2K
Construction floor area . Approximately 442,000 square
BIEEEE metres
#9442,000F 75 K
Group’s interest : 100%
AN E PrAG =
Construction completion  : 2013
date —F—=

BETE5EM A H

Changsha Wanjing Yayuan* & & 5 Hbr*

Location . East of East Nine Road, North of

It 2 Wang Xian Road, West of East
Ten Road, South of Te Li Road,
Changsha City, Hunan Province,
the PRC N
FEDREE RO T RDERN
FELAR « SRR LAIL - A3
VAT ~ L BE AR

Usgge : Residential
Jizkes F=x
Site area : Approximately 137,000 square
A4 TE AR metres
#9137,000F 77 2K
Construction floor area . Approximately 315,000 square
IR LI metres
#9315,000F 75 K
Group's interest © 51%
REBEAEER
Expected construction : 2Q 2024 .
cog&letign date —ECHEFE-F
TREZETi25E K B
LO%AS%%ern@iﬁo:nal Community Qin Royale &  ib B & 1
hiE. Bl FR 4t &
e - Location . At Fu Yuan West Road, Kaifu
Location . At Gaoyun Road, Muyun Town, b2 District, Changsha, Hunan
b B Changsha, Hunan Province, the Province, the PRC
PRC _ TR E R MAEERETLA
TEMEE RS T EESES TR B
Usgge . Residential Usage : Residential and commercial
A& F= Rz FEREE
Site area : Approximately 643,000 square Site area . Approximately 150,000 square
AR metres b A% T FE metres
#7643,000F 15 K #7150,000F 75 K
Construction floor area . Approximately 1,084,000 square Construction floor area : Approximately 570,000 square
HEE IR metres HRIEEMEIE metres
#71,084,000F 75 2K #7570,000F 75 K
Group’s interest : 100% Group’s interest : 100%
REBIEER REE PGSR
Construction completion  : 2018 Expected construction : 2Q 2022
date . —E-N\F completion date T —FEFE =
FEETETHK B H TREZ S Ti25E K B

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED 016 ANNUAL REPORT 2021



Changsha Minmetals Plaza (formerly Nanhu project)

ROOBES (AIHEEMHIER)
Location . Within the central business unit of
b 2 Xiangjiang Riverbank area, south of

xpected construction
oréHoIetlon date
BETRE

e A

Baisha Road, in between

Xian (?Jlangzhong Road and Shuyuan
Road, Tianxin District, Changsha,
Hunan Provmce the PRC

AR Ebﬁ ME %w
&EEH/IEW R

L3 Beis 2

. Commercial

=

: Approximately 22,000 square

metres R
#922,000F 77 K

. Approximately 192,000 square

metres
#7192,000%F 75 K

: 100%

: 4Q 2025

—ERFENE

Realm of Landscape & 1% 5 )i

Location

o E

Usage
i
Site area

AR E S

Construction floor area
IR EH A

Group's interest

REB (5 #E &

Expected construction
completion date

BHIEETE

SR A

: At No. 79, Section 2, Xiangjiang

North Road, Kaifu District,
Changsha Hunan Province, the

q:' ./Eﬂljﬁ‘é EAmABEMRITIL
B ZER795%

. Residential
IIA_!

B

. Approximately 87,000 square

metres

#787,000F 77 2K

. Approximately 311,000 square

metres
#9311,000F 75 K

© 255%

: 4Q 2024

ZENFENE

Xiangtan Scenery Cove #HE - B

K=

Location

HE

Usage
R

Site area

AR E

Construction floor area

HEEER

Group's interest

REBPI5 =

Expected construction
completion date

TAHRETIE

5ERK A

At No. 28 Xuefu Road, Economic
and Technological Development
Zone, Xiangtan, Hunan Province,
the PRC
o B4 g A IR T A B R B 3
& BT B% 2855

: Residential
F=

. Approximately 428,000 square
metres

#7428,000F 75 K

. Approximately 1,104,000 square
metres

#91,104,000F 75 oK
: 51%

. Phase V Lot G: 1Q 2022
%ﬂ@@ﬁﬁ._q__i%—

Greenland Centre #&ith /7 /0y

Enchanté Crest LHE . WL EHE

Location

HE

Usage
B
Site area

BB T 18

Construction floor area

BEEEE

Group's interest

REEMEHE S

Construction completion

date
EETRETKAH

. At No. 319, Section 1, Furong

Middle Road, Kaifu District,
Changsha Hunan Province, the

¢Iﬂﬁéﬁ/mﬁmﬁ%§
B —ER3195%

: Commercial

=

: Approximately 23,000 square

metres

#923,000 F 75 K

: Approximately 259,000 square

metres
#9259,000°F 75 oK
: 25.5%
. 2018
—ZT—N\F

017

Location

HE

Usage
i
Site area

AR E A

Construction floor area :

HEEE R

Group's interest

REEPTIE S

Construction
completlon date

BETIZEM A

At the junction of Songjiagangdong
Road and Huayun Road,

Panlongcheng Economic

Development Zone, Huangpi District,
Wuhan, Hubei Province, the PRC
H B AL A O T R R AR R
75 7 25 [ R K feel BB B EE R R K2

Residential
F=

Approxmately 61,000 square metres
#161,000F 7 K

Approximately 180,000 square
metres

%

I

F

28

#7180,000°F 75 2K
100%
2020
—ZTZTF
LB ESRAT



GROUP PROPERTIES

£ LIRS

Wuhan Scenery Cove i E B FEKF

Location

HE

Usgge
Jizk=s

Site area

8B T 18

Construction floor area

MR EEE R

Group's interest

REBE LS

Expected construction
completion date

TAHZETIREK B A

Between Third Ring South and
Fourth Ring South, Wuhan, Hubei
Province, the PRC

BRI A R R R = IREE Y
R2E

Residential

F=x

Approximately 62,000 square
metres

#762,000F 77 2K

Approximately 215,000 square
metres

#9215,000F 75 K
100%

Chengdu West-Lake Future Cit
Eco City)* A% &R 78 8 & R 3 (A1

(formerl Future-

R SR ARG

West Begonia LilE - AR K E

Location

I Eh

Usage
e
Site area

AR E R

Construction floor area

BEEER

Group's interest

REBEME S

Construction completion
date

BETRE

ek B H

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

: Wenjiajie Road, Qingyang District,

Chengdu, Sichuan Province, the
PRC

FREI)IE RS F R E R ER
WX REE

. Residential

{EEEE

. Approximately 22,000 square

metres N
#22,000F 7 K

: Approximately 80,000 square

metres

#780,000F 5 K

: 100%

: 4Q 2021

Location

Ho B

Usage
ot
Site area

AR E S

Construction floor area

MR EETH 1R

Group's interest

REEPTIE S

Expected construction
completion date

BHIRETE

e B

. Eastern new district of Day|

County Chengdu City, Sichuan
Province, the PRC

PEI)IIE RSB R AT

. Residential and commercial

FERBEE

. Approximately 509,000 square

metres

#9509,000F 75 K

. Approximately 1,171,000 square

metres

#91,171,000F 75 oK

: 100%

. Phase 1in 2Q 2023

E—H: T -_=FF_F

Chengdu Dayi Shaqu project* & X &

WREE

Location

o E

Usage
A
Site area

AR E S

Construction floor area

BEEmIR

Group's interest

REBPTIE S

Expected construction
completion date

TRHRE T2 H

: Shaqu Subdistrict, Dayi County,

Chengdu City, Sichuan Province,
EPIE B EHAREF RS

. Residential

F=E

. Approximately 44,000 square

metres

#744,000F 7 2K

. Approximately 114,000 square

metres

#9114,000F 75 K

: 100%

: 4Q 2024

ZENFEENE

ANNUAL REPORT 2021



Chengdu Xindu Dafeng Project* &R & A L8 B *

Location
H#h B

Il

Group's interest

REBE RS

Expected construction

completion date
TEEAEE T2 5T A A

: No.5 Community, Huamei Village,

: ReS|dent|aI

. Approximately 39,000 square

. Approximately 123,000 square

: 51%

Dafeng Town, Xindu District,
Chengdu Sichuan Province, the

¢IEHéWﬂmﬁﬂtﬁiﬁ
EXNA

F=

metres

#739,000F A K

metres
#1123,000F 75 2K

202024
_g_ﬂﬁ%:i

u Xind

R A s

Jmshulhe Project*

Location
Hh B

Usage
B
Site area

R A

Construction floor area
BEEEE

Group's interest

REE S

Expected construction

completion date
B T2 B 5

No.7 Community, Tuojiang, No.7
Community, Hancheng Village,
Xindu Town, Xindu District,
Chengdu Sichuan Province, the

¢IEHéWﬂﬁ%ﬂEﬁﬂﬁ
EWATAAL eI A

Residential
F=

Approximately 44,000 square
metres

#944,000F 75 2K

Approximately 140,000 square
metres .
#9140,000F 77 2K

51%

2Q2024
—E_FE=F

Taian Scenery Cove 2% « B

BEKE

Location

I Eh

Usage
R

Site area

AR E S

Construction floor area

BEEER

Group's interest

REBAIE R

Expected construction
completion date

TAHZETIEEKAH

. Changcheng Road, Angao New

District, Taian, Shangdong Province,

the PRC N )
PEIRERL TR SR EMR
S

. Residential
F=

. Approximately 270,000 square
metres
#9270,000F 75 K

. Approximately 699,000 square
metres
#9699,000F 77 2K

© 51%

: 4Q 2022
R _FFENF

Taian Scenery Centre EZ HEE IR EH

Minmetals Chai Da Mu Plaza i 7% 4¢38 K &5

Location

L E

Usage
A
Site area

AR E S

Construction floor area

HEEEEE

Group's interest

REE PribER

Construction completion

date
EETRETKAH

—E-FH

. Changcheng Road, Angao New

District, Taian, Shangdong
Province, the PRCA L )
HEILIRE FRLET R R RN

iz

. Commercial

a

. Approximately 51,000 square

metres N
#51,000F 77 K

. Approximately 148,000 square

metres
#9148,000°F 75 oK
: 51%

. Phase 2 in 4Q 2021

FH: T —FENE

019

Location

HE

Usage
A
Site area

AR E S

Construction floor area

MR EET TR

Group's interest

REEPIE S

Construction completion

date
EETRTRAH

: Wusi West Road, Haihu New

District, Xining, Qinghai Province,
the PRC
FESEEAETENNERAN
g

. Commercial

=

. Approximately 152,000 square

metres R
#7152,000 75 K

. Approximately 464,000 square

metres

#7464,000F 75 K

© 51%

: 2019

—T-NF

AREBERRDA



GROUP PROPERTIES

ESLEVES

Hallstatt See FHE « 15 i 35 45

Regent Heights TE B B (L 7

Location

HE

Usage
Ri&

Site area

A2 T 18

Construction floor area

BEEEE

Group's interest

REBPI5 R

Expected construction
completion date

TAHZETIREK B A

. Mai Tian Ling, Boluo County,

Huizhou City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
hREEREEMNTIEEREMAS

. Residential

x=

. Approximately 918,000 square

metres
#7918,000F /5 2K

. Approximately 1,549,000 square

metres
#91,549,000F 75 oK

: 100%

. High rise of Phase V in 4Q 2023

FHHESERNRD —_E_=FF
g 2=

Location

HE

Usage
&

Site area

AR E

Construction floor area

B E
Group's interest

AREE B P15 7 &

Expected construction
completion date

TRHZETEEKAH

: Maogang Road, Huangpu District,

Guangzhou, Guangdong Province
the PRC
PRIEREEMNTERER =R

. Residential

F=E

. Approximately 21,000 square

metres
#921,000F 7 2K

. Approximately 72,000 square

metres

#972,000F 75 K

: 51%

: 4Q 2022

R —FFEWE

Foshan Academic Royale ff || 1 & « 52 30 & 3

ParcOne TiE.=E &

Location

L E

Usage
P&

Site area

AR T 8

Construction floor area

A

Group's interest

REBMIEE R

Expected construction
completion date

FTRHREE T2 H 3

. Lujingdong Road, Chancheng

District, Foshan, Guangdong
Province, the PRC‘ )
P R R L A R A S AR

. Residential

£

: Approximately 43,000 square

metres R
#43,000F 7 K

: Approximately 214,000 square

metres

#7214,000F 75 2K

: 100%

: 4Q 2022

T FENE

Location

o E

Usage
R

Site area

AT A

Construction floor area

BEEmEIE
Group’s interest
REE PGSR

Expected construction
completion date

FEHZETIZ5EAK H

: Changling Road, Huangpu District,

Guangzhou, Guangdong Province,
the PRC )
PREEREEMNTEERRER

. Residential

=

: Approximately 72,000 square

metres
#972,000F 7 K

. Approximately 258,000 square

metres

#7258,000F 75 K

© 51%

: 2Q 2023

Greenery Terrace Bl &

Guangzhou Langyun Garden E M B ZE 1t &

Location

3t

R

Site area

A& T 8

Construction floor area

BEEER

Group's interest

REBE LS

Construction completion

date. .
BETI25E A H

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

. Xingnan Main Road, Nancun

County, Panyu District,

Guangzhou, Guangdong Province,

the PRC N

ﬁ%%‘é‘ﬁ%d‘\‘\ % 8 & B Y R
8

|

: Residential

F=

: Approximately 17,000 square

metres R
#717,000F 7 2K

: Approximately 29,000 square

metres

#929,000F 5 K

: 100%

: 2019

—E-NF

020

Location

HE

Usage
&

Site area

A& E 18

Construction floor area

BEEEE
Group's interest
REBEMEER

Expected construction
completion date

TRHZETEEKAH

. At Airport Expressway, Baiyun

District, Guangzhou, Guangdong
Province, the PRC N
TEEREEMNTAZRE®SS

. Residential

E=E

. Approximately 57,000 square

metres

#957,000F 77 K

. Approximately 130,000 square

metres

#7130,000F A oK

: 10%

: 4Q 2022

—E - —FFWE
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The Greenville B #i fff

Location : Maluan Subdistrict, Pingshan
32 District, Shenzhen, Guangdong
Province, thg PRC )
PR ERARYIT LR S &EE
Usage . Residential and commercial
Rz TEREE
Site area . Approximately 31,000 square
R EE metres
#931,000%F 75 2K
Construction floor area : Approximately 178,000 square
REEMIE metres
#7178,000F 75 K
Group's interest © 51%
REBAIEER
Expected construction : 2Q 2023
completion date T =FEF

AR TIZEK B A

Guangzhou River Skyline (formerly Guangzhou
Baiyun Chatou project)
BMNIXE GIBENOEEEFIERR)

Location . Complex on phase Il of metro line
Hh 24 no. 13, Baiyun District, Guangzhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC
e B i SR N T £ 2 13
SEAR — HATESE UL IS UA AR A 48
Usage . Residential and commercial
Rz EEhEE
Site area . Approximately 77,000 square
A4 TE AR metres
#977,000%F 75 K
Construction floor area . Approximately 340,000 square
MM IE metres
#7340,000F 75 K
Group's interest © 45.9%
REBEMEER
Expected construction : 4Q 2026
completion date ZTERFENFE

TAHZETIZEK B A

MAJOR
INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

TBRENF

Montego Bay B EE R =

Location

HE

Usage
R

Site area

AR 18

Construction floor area

MR EETE R

Group's interest

REE FTL S

Expected construction
completion date

TEHREE T2k H 3

new project of 2021
TR —FHIAR

18 Shung Shun Street, Yau Tong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

BB NBEMBEREE185
Residential

F=

Approximately 11,000 square
metres

#711,000F 7 2K

Approximately 65,000 square
metres

#965,000F 77 K
100%

1Q 2023
—E_=FFE—F

China Minmetals Tower FE A& X E LKF 29
Location 79 Chatham Road South, Location 29 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong
b 2 Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong B Kong
BBNERPBRBER TN BEBFRIRERMG =T %
Usage Commercial Usage Commercial
R [EES A& [GES
Lease term Medium term Lease term Long term
TH & HR # A FHE HAR =H

021

AREBERRDA
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I am pleased to present to you the report of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

In 2021, the Group achieved consolidated revenue of approximately
HK$12,886 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 68.2%. Net
profit was approximately HK$632 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 44.6%. Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
amounted to HK$89 million. The Board of Directors (the “Board")
recommended the payment of a final dividend for 2021 of HK1 cent
per share and a special dividend of HK1 cent per share, totalling HK2
cents per share.

Looking back, 2021 was a year full of challenges and opportunities
under the combined impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and prolonged
overhaul of the real estate market. Under the principle that “houses are
for living in, not for speculation” and the guideline of ensuring stability
on the three fronts of land prices, housing prices, and market
expectations, intensified rectification work on China’s real estate market
has been carried out during the year with a series of measures have
been rolled out, namely “three red lines’, “centralised land supply” and
real estate loan concentration management system and others.
Compared to the first half of the year when real estate enterprises’
active participation in land acquisition, their investment appetite saw a
decline in the second half of the year due to capital pressure with
rising failed auctions across various regions. The Chinese real estate
market has been going through an adjustment with significantly
dampened sentiment in the second half of the year.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED 024
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Real estate enterprises have encountered new challenges with
strengthened market overhaul and persistently tightened funding
channels. The survival of the fittest has been prevailing in the industry,
with intensified reshuffle and record-high debt defaults by highly-
leveraged real estate enterprises in 2021. Despite the unfavorable
market situation, the Group actively responded to the policy changes,
adhered to the principle of prudent operation with flexible resource
allocation, and strived to overcome the adverse effects brought by the
changes in the business environment. The Group had exceeded its full-
year sales target, maintained steady growth in business scale, and
stayed in the green camp of the “three red lines” with the enhanced
financial position. The Group has made a good start to the 14th Five-
Year Plan.

Actively responding to market changes and hitting
another new high in sales

In the first half of 2021, the Company keenly seized the exceptional
sales window in the market with continuous innovative marketing
initiatives. In the second half of the year, the Company made timely
adjustments to its business strategies and stepped up its efforts in
inventory de-stocking in light of the unfavorable situation of the rapidly
cooling market. The Company recorded contracted sales of RMB26
billion for the year, representing a 34.0% year-on-year increase from
RMB19.4 billion in 2020, exceeding its full-year sales target of RMB25
billion. At the same time, the Company continued to strengthen the
application and optimisation of its operation standardisation system,
which greatly improved the development speed of newly acquired
projects; on the other hand, the Company laid a solid foundation for
elevating its profitability by exercising vigorous cost control.

—E-—FH 025
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Accelerating the transformation to an “urban
operator” and prudently developing businesses

In 2021, guided by the "14th Five-Year Plan”, the Company fully
implemented the strategic positioning as an ‘integrated urban
operator” and achieved remarkable results on the back of its stepped-
up efforts in industry-city business development. Firstly, we opened up
the industry-city business chain to propel synergies between
investment, property and other businesses. Secondly, we ramped up
the industry-city strategic resources expansion by entering into
strategic cooperation agreements with the governments and
enterprises of Nan‘an City, Tong'an District of Xiamen City, which
effectively broadened the industrial resources of the Company. Thirdly,
we had given full play to the synergies of the industry-city. Successfully
acquired 510 mu of commercial and residential land for the Chengdu
Dayi Project, securing mass resources for land development by the
synergy derived from the industry-city business while replenishing
quality and low-cost land bank.

At the same time, in terms of its commercial management business,
the Company strived to fight against the resurgence of the pandemic
and upgraded its control system, resulting in the successful
enhancement of The Huizhou Cultural and Tourism Town with the
grand opening of the hotel. Tai'an LIVE, the commercial complex, was
officially opened in December and attracted great market attention. In
addition, the property services business has been actively expanded
into internal and external markets and enjoyed steady growth during
the year.

In terms of land investment, the Company pursued a prudent
investment strategy instead of blindly going after the scale, and
successfully acquired 12 land parcels during the year. The Company’s
land bank increased to 8.937 million square meters from 8.50 million
square meters at the end of 2020. During the year, China’s real estate
market underwent drastic changes, transforming from the boom in the
first half of the year to a deeper correction in the second half of the
year. The Company, who has a deep insight into the market situation
with meticulous research and planning, acquired only one piece of land
in Beijing, a Tier-1 city, despite the strong showing in the first round of
concentrated land auction, and two pieces of land in Suzhou and
Changsha, in the second round of concentrated land auction with a
significant drop in temperature. Meanwhile, under its industry-city
model, the Company acquired nine pieces of land during the year at
low cost, not only ensuring the normal development pace of the
Company but also enabling effective control of the investment risks
and advancing the Company'’s sustainable development capabilities.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED 026

MRER[EHEER | FEMAARE
%

T —F - ARBUITEAIREISEIE
PHEEMGRAEMEERINBRENL  #
—HMREREBHERNE  BUSEENKAE -
—RITBEREHEZEG  HBHRE  WEF
EBHE —RINAERBBEERBR - TR
HEe™ BFITRZREFRN EXRZER
B 1EHE  ENARRARFEXER =2
AOBRBERBFME  KEBAEEB KT
EESI0MBEERM - BRBBEWEKHR
ERARELHRAZRER M T EEEK
R fE -

B EF ARAEEERENEREBR
B BCEEER  BNSURNDBEKRIDF
EEIBFIFIE /L LVEARABRERMET =
AEXFAE  SIRRMSEAEE - o) - 3
IREEXBEBRBHRAIITME  RERE
SER o

ELiRESH - AR ERIBRERIARRE
TEBERBR - FRAKINER 2RI - +
R T - TFFRNB0EF K LT
E8R7EF LK -FA - PEBEHMEMHH

ERIRES  LEFFRRABTFFRESR
BENEE  BARAARTSTE  @BREE

MAMRE EARNE—BETHBTE
FIAR—RB 3% EBLNE _&HT A
BEBFERD BIEHFMRDOMR LM
R RAEFRBBEMURS FERLE
CEBRAR L - TNMERET ARBERE
RETE BB RIRG TIRERR - BRUERT
ARBWAFEERES -

ANNUAL REPORT 2021



Taking innovative financing initiatives and building a
solid financial foundation

The Group adhered to the principle of prudent financial management,
and attached great importance to the “three red lines” with a proactive
response, not only maintaining its “green” status but also achieving
continuous improvement in financial indicators. The Group's net
gearing ratio dropped significantly to 38.9% by optimising its debt
structure. At the same time, the Company continued to broaden its
funding channels with onshore and offshore financing remained
smooth, riding on thorough utilisation of the listing platform. The
Group had the funding cost controlled effectively with finance costs for
the year maintained at a relatively low level of 3.6%.

The Group seized the window in mid-July, when the market was
relatively stable, to carry out refinancing arrangements and successfully
issued its inaugural US$300 million sustainable bonds under the
greening concept. It was also the first offshore sustainable bond issued
by a state-owned real estate enterprise, with issue cost hitting the
lowest level on record for bond issuance at 4.95%. It underscored the
exemplary role and positive impact of state-owned real estate
enterprise in the green bond market and further boosted the Group's
reputable image as a quality issuer of offshore bonds.

Upholding the concept of empowerment through
technology and achieving quality development

Throughout the year, the Company made continuous efforts in
innovative branding and launched festival activities, actively
participated in mega-brand campaigns across the industry and took the
initiative to make its voice heard in the industry media. The Group has
built up a good reputation in the market by its product quality, and its
brand influence has continuously been on the rise. We were honored
with various awards, including “2021 Top 100 Real Estate Companies of
China”, “2021 China Real Estate Benchmark Brand Enterprise with
Comprehensive Strength”, “2021 China Real Estate Blue Chip Enterprise’,
“2021 Annual Top 30 Real Estate Enterprises with Investment Value’,
and “2021 Annual Social Responsibility Real Estate Enterprise”.

e 027
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While facilitating its own steady development, the Group actively
fulfilled its social responsibility. The Group has been vigorously
promoting green buildings, so as to achieve the goals of energy saving,
emission reduction and sustainable development. The Group has been
playing its rightful role in contributing to the achievement of the “dual
carbon” goal, by taking the lead in optimisation of urban habitat
quality with its products, coupled with intensifying the innovation and
application of green and smart technologies. During the year, the
Group stepped up its efforts in developing the 5M intelligent health
system, which is based on the concept of intelligence, health and
green, and was awarded the “2021 China Real Estate Association
Science and Technology Award”.

Looking back to 2021, it has been a remarkable year. The Group has
been seeking progress while maintaining stability with the silent
endeavor. Emphasis would be placed on solving the problems of
insufficient development momentum, operational inefficiency and asset
revitalisation for the next step of development.

At present, the recurring waves of the COVID-19 pandemic and shifts in
the domestic and international economic environment have brought
tremendous pressure. However, the fundamentals of the Chinese
economy, characterised by strong resilience, enormous potential and
long-term sustainability, remain unchanged. In addition, China has
unveiled dual-cycle as a new development pattern, which will
profoundly reshape the new dynamics and opportunities for economic
development. We have every confidence in the future of China’s
economy.

Looking ahead to 2022, the Chinese Government will continue to
adhere to the principle of “houses are for living in, not for speculation”
and achieve the goal of “three stabilities”. Monetary policy will probably
continue to serve as a tool to maintain economic stability with stable
growth in monetary and credit aggregates, further refining the
fastidious management of real estate finance. With the steady
advancement of real estate overhaul initiatives and gradual
improvement of market supply, the real estate market is expected to
stabilize, in general, amid the changing environment.
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In addition, urbanisation in China is still in a phase of development.
Momentum in China’s real estate market, the most important pillar of
its national economy, remains relatively strong, in particular, there are
greater room for structural development in terms of demands
amelioration and urban renewal. This is both a challenge we face, as
well as an opportunity for us to grow.

As a state-owned real estate enterprise, the Group has always been
pursuing its social responsibilities, facilitating transition to a green
economy and sustainable development, vigorously promoting green
buildings in order to achieve the goals of energy saving, emission
reduction and sustainable development, and making new and greater
contributions to the achievement of China’s strategic goals of carbon
peaking and carbon neutrality. In addition, backed by the strong
support from the parent company, the Group is rich in resources with
stable development path. Under the current industry condition, the
Group will give full play to its advantages as a Hong Kong-listed
platform, and cope with the changing industry landscape with robust
operation. The Group will continue its transformation into an “urban
operator’, pursue the development path of provision of high-quality
products, continuously improve its resource regime and business
capabilities, and deliver the competitive advantage of the whole
industry chain.

He Jianbo

Chairman

24 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

T )i B A

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview

In 2021, the real estate industry in the Mainland China experienced a
significant adjustment with the ongoing global pandemic. The Group
has been overcoming difficulties while pursuing progress and striving
for stable growth while accelerating its transformation into an “urban
operator”. During the year, the Group's revenue was HK$12,886 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 68.2%; profit for the year was
HK$632 million,
consolidated gross profit margin improved 2.4 percentage points to
18.5% as compared to last year; contracted sales reached a new record
high of RMB26 billion. The financial position of the Group remains
healthy, together with full compliance with the three red lines and a
reasonable debt structure, fully ensuring the Group's future

representing a year-on-year increase of 44.6%;

development.
Real Estate Development
Contracted Sales

The total contracted sales of the Company together with its
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates for 2021 increased by 34.3%
year-on-year to RMB26,008 million (2020: RMB19,360 million) whilst the
gross floor area (“GFA”) contracted for sale rose approximately 31.7% to
992,000 square metres (2020: 753,000 square metres). The majority of
the contracted sales was derived from Tier 1 and core Tier 2 cities.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED 032

R E R
R 3t

—F  RIREERE BAEHETE
KT KPR - NEEWRTH - Bk
ERBTEEMRE - NkmE [T E ]
Ao N REBMA A12886E BT » 1%
FIR682% : FREMNA632EBTT - 1LFIH
R446% : 416 EFEBIRE  EF LEA24
EEDEZE185%: AROHEEBBINS &
0BT ARYE - REBBM KK AER =&
A 2HER  BHEBERE  BA%£EB
BERERTZRE -

= __

FiEER
EHHE

AAREREMBAR AE QAR REER
Bl B —FANHERIEFIER343%E
60V ETTARE (ZEZFF  1936ETAR
)  AHEERERERE EAOINT%E
992,000 F T K (ZE ZF 4 : 753,000 77
K)o AEBAHBERFTERE — KR
TR e

ANNUAL REPORT 2021



The Company's contracted sales in 2021 reached a new record high,
exceeding its full-year sales target of RMB25.0 billion. The increase in
contracted sales was mainly attributable to the real estate development
projects acquired from the Group's controlling shareholder in 2020,
coupled with the growth in contracted sales of the real estate
development projects in the Yangtze River Delta.

The contracted sales breakdown was listed as below:

ARAZT-_—FANHERBAFS &
BEMB0BETARBNEFHERR - AL
HERLANTIERARN T _TFHRARN
SEERERMEBZEHERRIER - U
EE=ZAEBEZFHEZERBEANHEER
IS -

BRHEBEBRIT -

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=t-BLEE

2021 2020
“EZ-F —ETZZF
Contracted Contracted Contracted Contracted
amount GFA amount GFA
& B4
BHEE BREHER X ok | BEMEHRE
(RMB million) (sq.m.) (RMB million) (sq.m.)
Location 2 (AR¥EET) (FAK) (AREBERL (FK)
Pan Bohai Rim REEHE 3,780 192,483 2,252 139,310
Yangtze River Delta R=-fAnE 11,612 286,427 2,909 89,445
Central China Region Ehie 2,679 252,231 2,120 179,143
Chengdu-Chongging Region Boa iR 1,496 88,436 -
Pearl River Delta h=-AE
including Hong Kong BEER 6,441 172,871 12,079 344,900
Total @t 26,008 992,448 19,360 752,798
Revenue KA

Revenue from real estate development business was HK$12,511 million
(2020: HKS$7,072 million), up 76.9% from the previous year. It was
mainly due to the delivery of several highly sought-after projects in the
Pearl River Delta during the vyear, together with the real estate
development projects acquired from the Group’s controlling
shareholder in 2020 which beefed up the Group’s business scale,
resulting in a significant increase in the area of delivered properties as
compared to 2020. The gross profit margin of the real estate
development business rose 2.4 percentage points to 18.5% (2020:
16.1%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Specialised Construction

The Group is engaged in the business of specialised construction
mainly comprising the services of design, production and installation of
curtain walls system in the Hong Kong market via Minmetals Condo
(Hong Kong) Engineering Company (“Condo Hong Kong”). Condo Hong
Kong's active participation in both private development and the public
sector in recent years has earned itself a good reputation in the
industry. In light of persisting fierce market competition and the higher
risk of increasing direct and indirect costs, Condo Hong Kong has
adopted a relatively conservative bidding strategy to control risk,
leading to fewer new projects and thus a lower contracted value of the
projects on hand.

The Group disposed of Minmetals Condo (Shanghai) Construction Co.,
Ltd.* (“Condo Shanghai”), which was engaged in the Mainland China’s
specialised construction market, at the end of 2020 with resultant
scaling down of the total size of the specialised construction business.
Specialised construction business recorded a year-on-year revenue
decline of 39.1% to HK$322 million (2020: HK$529 million), whilst the
gross profit margin remained stable at 9.3% (2020: 9.0%).
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Property Investment

The Group's property investment business primarily comprises two
commercial office buildings in Hong Kong, namely China Minmetals
Tower in Tsimshatsui and LKF 29 in Central.

Local consumption and investment sentiment remain low due to the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group's two investment
properties in Hong Kong posted a decline in rental levels during the
year. As at 31 December 2021, the occupancy rate of LKF 29 was 91.8%
(2020: 83.6%) while that of China Minmetals Tower was 80.3% (2020:
80.3%). Revenue from property investment business saw a 13.1%
decline to HKS$53 million (2020: HKS61 million) and the gross profit
margin remained at a relatively high level of 77.6% (2020: 76.3%).

Land Bank

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has 42 real estate development
projects in 17 cities, namely Beijing, Yingkou, Langfang, Tianjin, Nanjing,
Changsha, Xiangtan, Taian, Xining, Wuhan, Chengdu, Huizhou, Foshan,
Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Suzhou and Hong Kong, with a total
developable GFA (“Land Bank”) of approximately 8,937,000 square
metres.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o BILE t m K ar i
As at 31 December 2021, the composition of the Group's Land Bank RZ-ZZEZ—F+—A=+—H KEE L
was listed as below: AT
Percentage share of
Land Bank Land Bank
T i fEE HritFEEE S
(000 sq.m.)
City tier B A% 5l ("000F 75 3K)
First tier cities' — R 2,891 32%
Second tier cities? e 3,321 37%
Third tier cities® =¥ S ANE 2,725 31%
Total #et 8,937 100%
Percentage share of
Land Bank Land Bank
+ th fE B i fEEE DL
("000 sq.m.)
Location ith 2h (000 5 3K)
Pan Bohai Rim IR G (= 2,862 32%
Yangtze River Delta =AM 542 6%
Central China Region Ehi @ 2,266 25%
Chengdu-Chongging Region P8 b [ 1,476 17%
Pearl River Delta K=AE
including Hong Kong BEES 1,791 20%
Total #Et 8,937 100%
Notes: B

1. First tier cities include Beijing, Tianjin, Guangzhou, Shenzhen and Hong Kong.

2. Second tier cities include Chengdu, Changsha, Wuhan, Nanjing, Foshan and Suzhou.

3. Third tier cities include Yingkou, Langfang, Huizhou, Xiangtan, Xining and Taian.
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Newly Acquired Land Bank

Throughout the year of 2021, the Group acquired 12 parcels of land,
with estimated construction GFA of 1,799,000 square metres. The total
cost for the newly acquired Land Bank amounted to approximately
RMB11,056 million and the average land cost was approximately
RMB6,146 per square metre. The projects were located in the areas
where the Group has established its solid footholds, and the newly
acquired Land Bank would further strengthen the Group's leading
position in the market.

In 2021, the Group’s newly acquired Land Bank was listed as below:

FrAE L 171

RZZTZ—F  AEBBA T @SR - 84
HASESAB I TS 41,799,000 77 2K o #i% + 3t
2 RN BTN B11056BTARE - F5
THIR AL BE T K646 T ARE - 2%
STIEE MM AR SBIRAMIBE - 8+
MEHEBEERENEEEETMIERNEL
47 o

NTAREER S —FRME T HEE:

Attributable Estimated
interest to Construction Total land Average  Acquisition
Location/Project Property type the Group Site area GFA cost land cost  date
BN ] BREZE ¥4
HwE/IRE HRER FrieEs  HEER 0 BEER A1emEA tmEA BARS
(RMB (RMB per
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) million) sq.m.)
(AE®  (B¥AK
(F7XK) (FAHK) BER) AR%x)
1. Chengdu Dayi Shaqu project Residential 100% 44,000 114,000 110 95  12/01/2021
RBAEWDRER F=E
2. Beijing Chao Yang One (formerly ~ Residential 40% 49,000 189,000 5450 28807 27/05/2021
Beijing Wangsiyingxiang project)
TRAGER Fx
(Rt REMEHIER)
3. Chengdu West-Lake Future City  Residential 100% 208,000 425,000 513 1207 29/06/2021
(a total of 3 land parcels)
RETRAR (R=E1h) F%E
4. Chengdu West-Lake Future City  Residential 100% 111,000 308,000 295 958 08/07/2021
(a total of 2 land parcels)
FEFEMARRE (K- fELi) H=E
5. Chengdu West-Lake Future City ~ Commercial 100% 21,000 28,000 34 1214 22/09/2021
PR R R GRS
6. Changsha Wanjing Yayuan Residential 51% 137,000 315,000 1,150 3,647 03/09/2021
ROBH KR FE
7. Suzhou Industrial Park Project Residential 55% 56,000 157,000 2,197 13966 17/09/2021
HMIXEER F=E
8. Chengdu Xindu Jinshuihe Project  Residential 51% 44,000 140,000 670 4786 28/12/2021
PR 3 #0587 7 18 B F=E
9. Chengdu Xindu Dafeng Project  Residential 51% 39,000 123,000 637 5179 28/12/2021
KM BAEIER FE
Total #st 709,000 1,799,000 11,056 6,146
—T - F% 037 TR EFRAL A



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
O L e oy

Industry-City Business
Dayi Project

The West-Lake Future City, located in the eastern part of Dayi County,
Chengdu, is the closest part of Dayi County to the city centre of
Chengdu and with great ecological landscape. The West-Lake Future
City, which is positioned as a commercial and residential project, is
acquired by the Group through the industry-city business model with
low land cost, with cultural tourism products as the primary industrial
development direction. During the year, the Group acquired six parcels
of land in the region, laying a solid foundation for further development
in Chengdu and the integration of industry-city. During the year, the
project’s landscape construction, urban infrastructure and ancillary
operational planning work progressed in an orderly manner.

Xindu Project

The project is located in Shibantan, Xindu District, Chengdu, and is the
core area under the key development of the modern transportation
industry functional area of Xindu. The project focuses on the two
leading industrial ecosystems of rail transportation and aviation, and will
focus on introducing enterprises in both the aviation and rail
transportation fields to create high-quality science and innovation
space. During the year, the Group achieved progressive results in terms
of the conceptual planning of the urban area, and completed the
project operation plan as well as the investment and operation
agreement.

Opening of Huizhou Narada Hotel

In order to enhance the township commercial business of the Huizhou
Hallstatt See project and further improve its township cultural
atmosphere, the project has set up facilities such as the Austrian
culture museum, bicycle-themed museum, cosplay museum, jungle
adventure park and others. In addition, the Huizhou Narada Hotel, as a
major part of the project, has been opened in 2021.

Opening of Minmetals Taian-Live

Minmetals Taian-Live was grandly opened in December 2021 and was
well received by the market with an occupancy rate of 99.7%. As the
first large-scale commercial complex in Nancheng, Taian, Minmetals
Taian-Live integrates entertainment, leisure, specialty dining, retail and
children’s education, effectively fills the commercial blank in the region,
promotes the prosperity and development of Nancheng, Taian, and
offers a more fashionable and trendy shopping experience.
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Sustainable Development Product

The Group relentlessly works on high-quality development. In recent
years, the Group has been implementing the 5M intelligent health
product system which promotes and deploys the concept of healthy
life, smart system, delicate management, comfortable environment and
green materials into its several product lines, and integrates the
intelligent applications, environmental protection and green elements
into the design of the Group's real estate development projects.
Adhering to the “people-oriented” philosophy, the Group will continue
to pursue innovation in the fields of residential design, sales model,
brand influence and service quality, bringing about high-quality
products and services to residents.

The Group's 5M intelligent health product system garnered the “2021
China Real Estate Association Technology Award”. At the same time, the
Group has been actively implementing carbon emission reduction and
carbon neutral initiatives, developing new technologies and new
products, whilst the two patent applications for the new ventilators
have been accepted, further enhancing the competitiveness of the
Group's products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
O L e oy

COVID-19 Outbreak and Effects on The Group’s
Business

With the COVID-19 pandemic in Mainland China gradually subsided and
economic activities resumed during the vyear, the Group’s overall
operation and sales had resumed to normal. During the year, the Group
advanced its real estate development projects as planned, with
contracted sales reaching RMB26.0 billion for 2021, representing a
year-on-year increase of 34.3%. However, the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on consumption and investment sentiment in Hong Kong
remained, resulting in lower rental levels for the Group’s investment
properties. In general, there is no significant impact of COVID-19 on the
Group's business for the time being.

Entrusted Asset Management

During the year, the Group recorded a management service income of
RMB3.24 million under the entrusted management service agreement,
of which China Minmetals entrusted the Company with the
management of its non-listed assets within its real estate development
segment, including real estate development projects in Beijing, Tianjin,
Shenyang, Liaoning, Jiangsu, Hunan and Guangdong.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue was primarily derived from three business
segments, namely real estate development, specialised construction
and property investment. The Group’s consolidated revenue for 2021
rose 68.2% to HK$12,886 million as compared to HK$7,662 million for
the last year.

HERBRABASEERENRE

BEEEANTBEEBERFTRNERGEM  &BF
B)NEEIRE  AEEERES NEEY
BEEIES - FR - NEBIRTSHES A
EHEREEE T - —FHNANIHEERE
BE EF343% 260 TTARE - A+ #1E
REHEBHNEENREENNTENAE
o BYHAEENRENENTRESKERR
TEE o BERE  FTERBEE AN ALEENE
TEENERTE -

RETEEER

FA - AEERBREETERS HREKF324
BTARBZEERBEA - RRA@WHE
TEABESEFMEEREF DAL
MEEZFAAAREE  BEMMNER X
2 EGBEE  I&  MRRERFHIE
WERRERR -

51 % 121 R
LN

REEBNBAZEZREFHERRE S
BRMERE=AER - —T-—FF A&
BMEGRERABI12886BE T » REFH 7662
BT EF682% °

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED 040

ANNUAL REPORT 2021



The Group's consolidated revenue breakdown was listed as below:

AEEGARAZBRAOT :

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+-HLEE

2021 2020
—B-—F —BTF

Percentage Percentage
HK$ share of share of Year-on-year
million revenue  HKS million revenue change

EBA & A

BEERT Bt AEAETT Epiged REF

Real estate development FEER 12,511 97.1% 7,072 92.3% 76.9%
Specialised construction BXEEE 322 2.5% 529 6.9% -39.1%
Property investment WERE 53 0.4% 61 0.8% -13.1%
Securities investment BHKE — — — — —
Total st 12,886 100% 7,662 100% 68.2%

The Group's revenue from real estate development business was
HK$12,511 million (2020: HKS$7,072 million), increased by 76.9% year-
on-year and accounted for 97.1% of the Group's consolidated revenue.
The increase in revenue from real estate development business was
primarily due to a significant increase in the area of properties
delivered by the Group in the Pearl River Delta, coupled with the real
estate development projects acquired from the Group’s controlling
shareholder in 2020 which beefed up the Group's business scale.

Revenue from specialised construction business posted a year-on-year
decline of 39.1% to HK$322 million (2020: HK$529 million), accounting
for 2.5% of the Group’s consolidated revenue. The decrease in revenue
from specialised construction business was primarily due to the
disposal of Condo Shanghai, which was engaged in the PRC market, at
the end of 2020 with resultant scaling down of the total size of the
specialised construction business.

Revenue from property investment business saw a 13.1% decline to
HKS$53 million (2020: HKS61 million), accounting for 0.4% of the Group's
consolidated revenue. Revenue from property investment business was
mainly generated from two commercial buildings in Hong Kong, and
the decrease in revenue was primarily due to the decline in rental
levels as a result of the impact of COVID-19 pandemic.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Group's overall gross profit margin increased to 18.5% from 16.1%
of last year, mainly due to the recognised revenue from real estate
development business during the year was derived from the several
projects with higher gross profit margin in the Pearl River Delta.

Other Income

The Group's other income was HK$92 million (2020: HK$496 million),
down 81.5% vyear-on-year, which was attributable primarily to the
one-off gain of HK$272 million arising from the acquisition of real
estate development projects from the Group's controlling shareholder
and the one-off government subsidy of HK$136 million received in
2020.

Fair Value Changes on Investment Properties

During the year, the Group's fair value loss on investment properties
was HK$153 million, representing a 2-fold increase from HK$51 million
last year. Office and retail business have been suppressed by the
COVID-19 pandemic, with declining rental levels, resulting in fair value
loss on investment properties located in Hong Kong and Changsha,
China.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Selling and marketing expenses of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021 increased by 82.8% year-on-year to HK$468 million
(2020: HK$256 million), mainly due to the increase in sales commissions
and sales related service fees as a result of the rising revenue and
contracted sales during the year. The sales commission represented
52.7% of the total selling and marketing expenses for the year.

Administrative and Other Expenses

Administrative and other expenses of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021 decreased by 13.9% year-on-year to HK$648 million
(2020: HKS753 million), mainly due to significant asset impairment in
2020 whilst a corresponding reversal of inventory impairment in 2021.
Administrative and other expenses mainly comprised of the Group's
staff remuneration, which represented 49.9% of the total administrative
and other expenses.
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Finance Costs

Total finance costs of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
was HKS$827 million, representing an increase of 8.8% from HK$760
million last year, mainly attributable to the increase in loans during the
year. Finance costs charged to the profit or loss recorded a significant
increase of 136.2% to HKS$163 million (2020: HK$69 million) due to a
decrease in the interest capitalisation ratio for the year. During the year,
the weighted average borrowing cost of the Group decreased by 0.1
percentage point to 3.6%.

Share of Results of Associates

The Group's share of loss of associates was HK$264 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021, compared with the share of profits of HK$4
million last year, mainly as a result of losses recorded by the associates
in China (Tianjin and Changsha) due to inventory impairment.

Profit and Core Profit Attributable to Equity Holders
of the Company

In view of the above, the Group's net profit for the year increased by
44.6% to HKS632 million (2020: HKS$437 million). During the year, the
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company dropped by 20.5%
to HK$S89 million from HKS$112 million in 2020 as some profitable
projects recognised during the year were those projects with minority
shareholders. Basic earnings per share was HK2.67 cents (2020: HK3.36
cents). However, the core profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company* was HK215 million, representing a 23.3% year-on-year

growth.
Financial Position

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's total assets increased by 12.8% to
HKS$77,173 million (2020: HK$68,388 million) whilst net assets increased
by 3.2% to HK$23,118 million (2020: HK$22,410 million). The increase in
net assets was mainly attributable to the increase in non-controlling
interests by introduction of partners in an individual real estate
development project.

Notes:

4 “Core profit attributable to equity holders of the Company” excludes reversal/
allowance for impairment of inventories, exchange gains/losses, fair values changes
on investment properties, allowance for impairment of receivables and the one-off
bargain purchase gain on acquisitions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
O L e oy

The contract liabilities, which mainly represent contracted sales carried
forward that will subsequently be recognised as the Group's revenue
when presold properties are completed and delivered to buyers.
During the year, the Group's contract liabilities increased by 23.9% to
HK$15,849 million (2020: HK$12,788 million), which was mainly due to
the increase in contracted sales of the Group during the year.

The financial position of the Group remained healthy with a gearing
ratio (total liabilities to total assets) of 70.0% (2020: 67.2%). The rise of
2.8 percentage points in gearing ratio was mainly due to the
redemption of US$200 million senior perpetual bonds by bank loans
during the year. The gearing ratio, net of contract liabilities and
deferred revenue, was 62.1% (2020: 59.5%). Net gearing ratio (net debt
to total equity) was 38.9% (2020: 49.7%).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year, the Group’s working capital was mainly derived from
cash flows generated from business operations and borrowings.

In terms of offshore financing, the Group issued the 2021 sustainable
bonds with a principal amount of US$300,000,000 bearing interest at
the coupon rate of 4.95% per annum, the 2021
be matured on 22 July 2026. In the second half of the year, the Group
also completed the restructuring of three revolving loans of HK$4.08

sustainable bonds will

billion in total, which replenished the financial resources of the Group.
In terms of onshore financing, the Group secured construction loans for
the development of its real estate development projects in the PRC.
The Group will continue to give full play to its competitive advantage
as a state-owned enterprise, strive to optimise financing costs and
broaden financing channels, and provide solid capital support for the
Group's steady business development in the future.

Total borrowings of the Group stood at HKS$21,017 million as at
31 December 2021 (2020: HK$19,571 million), which mainly comprised
borrowings from banks and bond issuance. The increase in total
borrowings was mainly due to the replacement of US$200 million
senior perpetual bonds with bank loans. The weighted average
borrowing cost of the Group remained at a low level of approximately

3.6% (2020: 3.7%).
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The maturity profile of the Group’s borrowings was listed as below:

AEBEZEREHBERMT

31 December 2021
—g--%t=A=+-8

31 December 2020
—EEF+-HA=+—H

Percentage Percentage

share of share of

HK$ million borrowings HKS million borrowings

LEREEN EfER

BEAET Aok BEAT Aot

Within one year —FR 6,547 31.2% 4,555 23.3%
In the second year F_F 4,179 19.9% 6,307 32.2%
In the third to fifth year FE=FEFRF 9,395 44.7% 8,003 40.9%
More than five years BBAF 896 4.2% 706 3.6%
Total Bt 21,017 100% 19,571 100%

The currency profile of the Group’s borrowings was listed as below:

AEBEZBHREEBEROT

31 December 2021
—E-—-f+=-A=+—H

31 December 2020
—EEF+A=+—H

Percentage Percentage

share of share of

HK$ million borrowings HKS million borrowings

LEREEN (ERERN

BEAT BaL AEETT Bt

Renminbi AR 2,227 10.6% 2,083 10.6%
Hong Kong Dollar BT 15,487 73.7% 14,201 72.6%
United States Dollar eI 3,303 15.7% 3,287 16.8%
Total Azt 21,017 100% 19,571 100%
The finance costs charged to the profit or loss for 2021 amounted to R ZZ = —F » &MB LA E AL 5 8 A %
HK$163 million (2020: HK$69 million) after capitalisation of HK$664 B #6648 B T (Z T ZFF : 690188
million (2020: HK$690 million) into properties under development. T B RBEmANER VBRI 6318

As at 31 December 2021,
(excluding restricted cash and bank deposits) of HKS$10,956 million
(2020: HKS8,239 million), of which 97.5%, 2.1%, 0.3% and 0.1% (2020:
95.6%, 4.2%, 0.1% and 0.1%) were denominated in Renminbi, Hong
Kong dollar, United States dollar and Macau Pataca respectively. The
unused banking facilities of the Group as at 31 December 2021
amounted to HK$4,360 million (2020: HK$8,045 million).

the Group had cash and bank deposits
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
O L e oy

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES AND INTEREST RATES

Exchange Rate Risk

The Group's principal business is located in Mainland China where most
of the external financing is denominated in Hong Kong dollar and
revenue is denominated in Renminbi primarily. The Group is exposed to
exchange rate risk on transactions that are denominated in a currency
other than Hong Kong dollar, the reporting and functional currency of
the Company. The Group has been closely monitoring the fluctuation
in Renminbi exchange rate and has considered necessary measures to
minimise the impact arising from adverse currency fluctuation including
adjustment to the proportion of borrowings in foreign currencies and
utilisation of foreign exchange hedging instruments such as forward
foreign exchange contracts or capped forward contracts.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is also exposed to interest rate risk resulting from
fluctuation in interest rates. Most of the borrowings of the Group was
on a floating rate basis and therefore, an increase in interest rate would
raise the Group’s finance cost. In order to mitigate the interest rate risk,
the Group entered into interest rate swap contracts in which the Group
would receive interest of one-month HIBOR and pay monthly interest at
a fixed rate based on the notional amount of HK$2.0 billion. As at
31 December 2021, approximately 25.2% (2020: 28.4%) of the Group's
borrowings was on a fixed rate basis after hedging with the remainder
on a floating rate basis.

As at 31 December 2021, save as disclosed above, the Group did not
possessed any kind of financial instruments for hedging or speculative
purposes.
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CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, certain assets of the Group were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group and mortgage
loan facilities to the purchasers of the Group's properties, and these
pledged assets of the Group included:

inventories with carrying amounts of approximately HK$6,472
million (2020: HKS$7,149 million); and

ii. 100% equity interest in a subsidiary.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021,
facilities granted to certain purchasers of the Group's properties
amounted to HKS$11,189 million (2020: HK$6,805 million). Such
guarantees will terminate upon the earlier of (i) the issuance of the

guarantees given to banks for mortgage

property ownership certificate which will generally be available within
one year after the purchasers take the possession of the relevant
properties; or (i) the repayment of mortgage loans by the purchasers.
After taking into account the net realisable value of the related
properties and the low default rate, the Directors consider that the fair
values of the financial guarantee contracts at initial recognition and
subsequently at the end of each reporting period are not significant.

EMPLOYEES

The total number of staff of the Group, including the Directors,
increased 5.1% to 1,250 (2020: 1,189) as at 31 December 2021. The
Group will continue to adopt a remuneration policy in line with local
market practice and standards. The total remuneration and benefits for
the Directors and staff of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 were approximately HK$548 million (2020: HK$402 million).
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ANNUAL REPORT ON SUSTAINABLE BOND

[ESE LE 0 &8

OVERVIEW

To further underscore its commitment to the environment and
sustainable community development, the Group published a
Sustainable Finance Framework (the “Framework”) in July 2021. Under
the Framework, the Group plans to enter into green and social
financing transactions (the “Sustainable Financing Transactions”) to fund
new and existing projects with environmental and/or social benefits
that are aligned with:

Green Bond Principles 2018 recommended by International
Capital Markets Association ("ICMA”")

Social Bond Principles 2020 recommended by ICMA

Sustainability Bond Guidelines 2018 recommended by ICMA

Green Loan Principles 2021
Association (“LMA")

recommended by Loan Market

Social Loan Principles 2021 by LMA

The proceeds from the Sustainable Financing Transactions will be
directed towards eligible green and sustainable projects in accordance
to the Framework, including green buildings, renewable energy, water
management, energy efficiency, and climate change adaptation and
others, in line with the United Nations’ sustainability goals and the
carbon neutrality target set by Chinese government. The Framework is
aligned with the captioned international principles and guidelines and
obtained with the Second Party Opinion from the leading ESG rating
agencies, Sustainalytics and S&P Global in July 2021.
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THE INAUGURAL SUSTAINABLE BOND
ISSUANCE

The inaugural sustainable bond of US$300 million was successfully
issued in July 2021 under the Framework and obtained the highest
rating of E1 of the S&P's rating regime and Green Finance Certificate
(Pre-issuance Stage) from the Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency
(HKQAA). The issuance received an overwhelming response with 6
times over-subscribed, and the final issue price was narrowed by 40
basis points from the initial guidance price. This highly successful
transaction represents the first offshore green bond issuance by China
Minmetals Corporation’s arm and the first sustainable bond by a
state-owned real estate enterprise outside of China.

DETAILS OF THE INAUGURAL SUSTAINABLE
BOND ISSUANCE

Size US$ 300 million

Tenor 5-year

Issue Date 22 July 2021

Maturity Date 22 July 2026

Coupon Rate 4.95%

Listing Hong Kong Stock Exchange
ISIN X$2359944704

The issuance won the award of “The Asset Triple A Country Awards
2021 Best Sustainability Bond (China Offshore) — Real Estate” by The
Asset and the "Outstanding Award for Green and Sustainable Bond
Issuer (Centrally-Administered SOEs Real Estate Developer) — Largest
Single Sustainability Bond" at the "Hong Kong Green and Sustainable
Finance Awards 2021" organized by the HKQAA.
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ANNUAL REPORT ON SUSTAINABLE BOND
AL A0 0 4F B

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Group will establish a register of Sustainable Financing Transactions
under the Framework with Finance teams being responsible for the
management of proceeds. As of 31 December 2021, the proceeds,
amounting to US$300 million, have been fully allocated to re-finance
three eligible projects under the Green Buildings Category as defined in
the Framework.

Types of eligible projects and breakdown of fund allocation are as

ERESHERAER

AEBEBREAERRLAFERER
aﬂﬁ mEER B EEEMEHIE - %z
——F+tZA=1t—H BRE3E %TE
Ei%( o BT CGEZR) P R TE M A B8 12 5248 5
TH=E&5&EWREBBHME -

EEREEMBERNNEELRAT :

follows:
Proceeds
Allocated
(US$’000) Percentage
Lookback ESHFHIE of Proceeds
Eligible Category  Projects Financed period £ES {EHEKEL Project Green Label
SEREBEER EREMNEAR =1 4 58 (F=x) MEZER BRBEZKEERR
Green Buildings Chengdu West Begonia 2-year 65,465 21.8% Two star Green Building
GERE EBFLTE - 75X HEE M F Design Label
—EREREENERE
WELL Gold Pre-certification
and official certification
of 1#/7# building.
WELL ZERE S RIAR
BR—REMERED
B RRE e
Green Buildings Guangzhou Regent Heights 3-year 76,531 25.5% Two star Green Building
e BN A E LS = Design Label
T ERRERETERR
Green Buildings Guangzhou Parc One 3-year 158,004 52.7% Two star Green Building
R BEMNER. SE& = Design Label
“ERmeRETERR

WELL Gold Certification

WELLEZ SR E S AR

(Expected to obtain the
certification in the
second quarter of 2023)

(FBER203FE=FE
EBRD

300,000 100%
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SELECTED CASES 15 B £

CHENGDU WEST BEGONIA K #HiE . BERE

« Rainwater recycling FE7K [ 4

- Same-floor drainage [7] & HE 7K

- Energy recovery ventilation system % ZA 32 #5 [B| 2 £
+ Smart home system £ 86K B R 4

. Radiant floor heating system & 57 11 8% X 4%

- Water-saving irrigation 807K 2 8%

[\\y

- Energy saving of envelope structure Bl #4518 K &4
+ Multi-split air-conditioning system 2% B ## 7= 38 & 43
- Front-end water purification systems il &5 % 7K R £t
« Induction aisle light &% /& =X 38 38 /&

- Sponge City /& #33, ™

. Natural lighting and ventilation B fAEE ¢ &

- Barrier-free design ZEE % 5

« Radiant walls & [ #8 57

- Leakage-proof and water-saving design B2 E07KR5
- Parking lot CO monitoring 15 8 5 — &b ik 25 B

+ Energy-saving lighting £ 8% FR B

. Inverter-type elevator & 4% 1%

GUANGZHOU PARC ONE E M A& «

« Carbon monoxide-controlled ventilation in underground
garage
HWTIEE— AT RRE

+ Energy-saving group-controlled elevator &IREAF 12 E

. Secondary water-saving appliances — #% &7k 28 &

+ Recyclable materials A] B &% #7 £}

- Sponge City /843, T

. Advanced community support B R E T =
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

1858 5 iR

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Directors and the management of the Company are committed to
and responsible for the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices. The Board has put in place a corporate governance structure
for the Company which is principally responsible for setting directions,
formulating strategies, monitoring performance and managing risks of
the Group. The respective Board committees oversee particular aspects
of the Company'’s affairs and perform their distinct roles in accordance
with their respective terms of reference.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In the opinion of the Directors, throughout the year ended
31 December 2021, the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code (version up to 31 December 2021) as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, except deviations from code
provision A.2.1 and A4.2.

Pursuant to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. While pursuant to code provision A4.2 of the
CG Code, all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be
subject to election by Shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment. Besides, every director, including those appointed for a
specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs. The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Company, however, are delegated to the management
of the Company.
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The Board comprises nine members as at the date

Report, the composition of which is set out below:

RAFHREY  EFSRNRESMAK - F5
BT

of this Annual

Sustainable
Development

Executive Remuneration ~ Nomination Committee
Name of Directors Designation Committee  Audit Committee =~ Committee Committee ARHERE
EEpE Bt HITZEEE ERESS HHZEES REZEE ZE8
Mr. He Jianbo Chairman & Executive Director C M C C
faT 1% & £ TREHTES
Mr. Liu Bo Managing Director & Executive M M
Director
Bl ERRABRNTESR
Mr. Chen Xingwu Deputy Managing Director & M M
Executive Director
RER %A EZRREBRHTES
Mr. Yang Shangping Deputy Managing Director & M
Executive Director
BrTEE EZRREBRHTES
Ms. He Xiaoli Non-executive Director
fgrt FHTES
Mr. Huang Guoping (appointed on Non-executive Director
1 February 2022)
BEVERE(R-_Z-—F FHTES
—A—-REZF)
Mr. Selwyn Mar Independent Non-executive Director C M M
BRREE BUFHTES
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy Independent Non-executive Director M M M
Mep B e & BUFHNITESR
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny Independent Non-executive Director M C M
BERELL BUFHNITESR
C: Chairman M: Member C:EFEM: KB

Biographical details of Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Senior Management's Profile” in this Annual Report. To
the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationships amongst members of

the Board.
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The Company has met the requirements of the Listing Rules to have at
least three Independent Non-executive Directors representing at least
one-third members of the Board and with at least one Independent
Non-executive Director possessing appropriate accounting and financial
management expertise and professional qualifications.

The Company received written confirmations from all Independent
Non-executive Directors confirming their independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

All Independent Non-executive Directors hold directorships in not more
than seven listed companies (including the Company) and would be
able to devote sufficient time and attention to perform their duties.

Directors (save for the Chairman and the Managing Director) appointed
by the Company to fill a casual vacancy are subject to election at the
first annual general meeting after their appointment instead of having
elected at the first general meeting as set out in code provision A4.2
of the CG Code. Besides, every Director, including those appointed for
a specific term, are subject to retirement by rotation in the manner as
set out in the said code provision save for the Chairman and the
Managing Director of the Company where they are not required to do
so pursuant to the Private Company Act 1981 of Bermuda by which the
Company was incorporated.

The Directors acknowledge that they have a duty to act in good faith
and in the best interests of the Company and commit themselves to
spend sufficient time to perform their duties. They are also aware of
their collective and individual responsibility to Shareholders. As such,
they have taken active interest in the Company’s affairs and obtain
thorough understanding of the business of the Company.

As a variation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, Mr. He Jianbo,
an executive Director of the Company, serves as the Chairman of the
Board. He is responsible for the overall strategic direction of the Group,
management of the Board as well as organising the management of
the Company for strategic planning and business operations thereby
enabling more effective execution of long-term strategies. It is believed
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured as major
decisions have been made in consultation with the Board which
comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors and two
Non-executive Directors offering their experience, expertise,
independent advice and views from different perspective.
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The Company enables the Directors, upon request, to seek advice from
independent professional advisors at the Company's expense in the
process of discharging their duties. The Company has also arranged for
appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in respect of legal
action against Directors arising from corporate activities.

During the vyear, a total of five physical Board meetings and two
general meetings were held. Notice of not less than fourteen days is
given for regular Board meetings. The attendance of Directors during
their tenure of office in 2021 is as follows:

ARAARESER  RHBIEEBERRA
HRMHBIEXZR  UHBBETEESR
B BEERBARRXN  AARTE L
BRZEERR EEZRANTRAREBM
SIBUARRRFFEIE -

ARARRFARITTAREFEEHMMR
BRAE -EFETHMERIBANE ARG
BETAHNESTHREREREE - &
EERN_T_—FhHELASRZBERNOT

Number of meetings attended/held

HE " BITEERE

Board Meeting General Meeting
Name of Directors ESHE 5T BRAE
Mr. He Jianbo fa] &1 R o A 5/5 2/2
Mr. Liu Bo £ e 5/5 172
Mr. Chen Xingwu PR 8L I 5 A 5/5 1/2
Mr. Yang Shangping BT E 4/5 1/2
Ms. He Xiaoli /Nt 4/5 22
Mr. Selwyn Mar BEELEE 5/5 2/2
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy AR 5 A 5/5 2/2
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny OB+ 5/5 2/2

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, the newly appointed Director receives a
comprehensive induction package and training covering the Company’s
constitutional documents, internal policies, guidance and procedures as
well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a
Director to ensure that he/she is thoroughly aware of his/her
responsibility under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulations.

The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to or updates
on the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other
regulatory regimes. The Company provides monthly reports to Directors
which contain updates on business development and financial
information of the Group.
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All Directors have participated in continuous professional development.
The individual training record of Directors for the year ended
31 December 2021 is set out below:

FEEEHESREATERREN - RB
E-T-—GT-A=t-RALEE 5F
FzENREMT -

Attending expert

briefings,
Briefings & seminars &
updates on conferences
business and/or reading
operations & materials of the
compliance seminars
matters HEZXEE -
EREREER mHERmE
REESEZE® & SEE
Name of Directors = REHFER g
Executive Directors: BITES
Mr. He Jianbo fA] &l R % A v/ v/
Mr. Liu Bo B v v/
Mr. Chen Xingwu PR R I 5 A v v
Mr. Yang Shangping B FEE 4 4
Non-executive Director: FHITES :
Ms. He Xiaoli ]/ NBR L v v/
Independent Non-executive Directors: B FHITEE :
Mr. Selwyn Mar BHEELEE v/ v/
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy PRAR B o A v/ v/
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny FEOMS L v/ v/

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has established a set of guidelines as its own “Rules and
Procedures for Directors and Relevant Employees of the Company in
respect of Dealings in Securities of the Company” (the “Rules for
Securities Transactions”) on terms no less exacting than those
contained in the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiries of all the Directors, they had
confirmed in writing that they had complied with the Rules for
Securities Transactions throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing financial
statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and its results and cash flows for the relevant financial period.
The Directors are also responsible for the timely publication of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021,
statements had been prepared in accordance with the statutory

the Directors confirmed that the consolidated financial

requirements and applicable accounting standards, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable, and the
consolidated financial statements had been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Directors confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the
best of their knowledge, information and belief, they are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern.

The statement made by Ernst & Young, the independent auditor of the
Company, about their reporting responsibility on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” in this Annual
Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has responsibility to establish and maintain appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems of the Group
and, through the Audit Committee, to review the effectiveness of such
systems so as to protect Shareholders’ interest and safeguard the
Group's assets. The Board has authorised the management to design,
implement and maintain its risk management and internal control
systems by clearly defined responsibility, authority and accountability.
Under the guidance of the Audit Committee, the Internal Audit
Department of the Company monitors the risk management and
internal control systems by conducting independent reviews.
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The Board acknowledges that effective risk management and internal
control are essential for long term growth and sustainability of the

Group. The risk management and internal control systems are designed

to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

A.

Risk Management Framework

The Group adopts a “top-down” and “bottom-up” approach
whereby the three defensive lines formed by business units, the
management and the Internal Audit Department join hands to
identify, assess and manage significant risks at corporate,

operational and functional aspects.

Each business unit and its management team has the duty to
manage its own risks in the course of daily operations. It requires
the identifying, measuring and monitoring of the management
measures of individual risk to ensure that it is within the risk
appetite of the Group. It also requires the implementation of risk
management plans as recommended by the Internal Audit
Department and the Audit Committee to address those
significant risks that may affect business operations.

The Audit Committee together with the Internal Audit
Department and management regularly monitor and update the
Group's risk profile and appetite. By reviewing business and
operation reports from Internal Audit Department and the
management, the Audit Committee assists the Board to oversee
the risk management and internal control systems on an
on-going bases and review its effectiveness with the Internal
Audit Department.

Directed by the Audit Committee, the Internal Audit Department
follows a risk-oriented approach to furnish annual internal audit
plan. The Internal Audit Department performs internal audit
works and furnishes report findings to the Audit Committee that
provide the Audit Committee with independent and objective
assessment on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. The principle tasks of
internal audit works of the year include audit reviews of
operations, controlling mechanism, legal compliance and
compliance of internal rules and regulations. Special attention
has been given to matters of significant risks or changes.
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Internal audit reports are presented at the Audit Committee
meetings. Major findings and recommendation are followed up
and updated to the Audit Committee on a regular basis. Minutes
of the Audit Committee meetings are then tabled at Board
meetings to report the Audit Committee’s findings on risk
management and internal control issues such as changes in the
nature and extent of significant risks since the last review, those
newly identified risks of material nature that require the attention
of the Board,
management’s response thereto.

and the recommendation or opinion on

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information in accordance with its “Policy on Disclosure of Inside
Information” to ensure that inside information remains
confidential until disclosure and the dissemination of such

information is efficiently and consistently made.
Significant Risks and Control Measures

Significant risks have been identified through the process of risk
identification and assessment. A summary of the significant risks
of the Group together with the relevant internal control
measures imposed during the year is listed below.

a. Market Risk

Market risk is the key challenge of the Group. All of the
Group's residential and commercial property development
and investment in Mainland China are subject to risks
associated with the PRC property market such as policy
change, demand-supply rebalance, change in overall
economic conditions and availability of financing which
may pose an adverse impact on the Group's financial and
operation condition.

b. Operational Risk

Operational risk is another significant risk identified by the
Group during the year. The events of default caused by
purchasers and strategic partners together with human
error and system inadequacies or failure may bring about
corresponding impact on the Group's operations where
financial loss, litigation, and reputation damage may
follow.
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems. The Audit Committee instructs
the Internal Audit Department to carry out independent
reviews to assess the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems.

The management of the business units annually review
and update their risk registers to ensure that effective
controls are in place. They also conduct self-assessment on
internal control and confirm that appropriate internal
control policies and procedures have been established and
properly complied with. In consideration of the Group’s risk
appetite (i.e. the extent of risk the Group is willing to bear
in pursuit of its strategic and business objectives), the
Audit Committee reviews the following with reference to
the assessment made by the management and the
Internal Audit Department to assess the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems:

a. the provision of timely and comprehensive
information to the Audit Committee and the Board
to enable effective assessment of the monitoring
measures within the Group such as the reliability of
financial reporting, the compliance with applicable
laws, rules and regulations and the effectiveness of
risk management;

b. reviewing internal audit reports to ascertain the
efficiency in rectifying internal control deficiencies
and status update on implementing of
recommendation provided by the Internal Audit
Department; and

C. reviewing management reports to assess the
principal business risk and the management’s
response to changes in the Group’s business and
external environment.

The Audit Committee initiates or as delegated by the
Board, directs independent investigations on material
internal control defects and reviews the findings and the
management’s feedback thereof.
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Based on the assessments made by the management and
the Internal Audit Department and taking into account the
audit works of the independent auditor, the Board and the
Audit Committee consider that no significant areas of
concern in respect of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems were identified during the year of
2021.

Based on the review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems performed
during the year, the Board considers such systems effective
and adequate.
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BOARD COMMITTEES EESXES

A. Audit Committee A. BERXZEEBES
All the members of the Audit Committee are Independent EZZEEKREBYABUIIERNTES
Non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is principally EXZEBE AR VHAEE
responsible for reviewing (i) the effectiveness of the financial b R A2 Fr DA % 3 fx ”E?IETDW*B?T ES50
reporting procedures and risk management and internal control ZBEBM S (WVEMZEMEBE - R
systems of the Group; (i) the appointment of independent HIEMEMIEL R Ri)FE R
auditor and the efficiency and quality of their work; and (iii) all Bt REUREEENZSRENRE
internal audit reports as well as management feedback to such BR
reports.
The Audit Committee held three meetings in 2021. The ERZEEGNRN_E_—FRITT=KE
attendance of the members of the Audit Committee is as FECEKBHFEERE2BRANOT
follows:

Attendance

Members of the Audit Committee EREBEHE R
Mr. Selwyn Mar — Chairman BHEELEE —XfF 3/3
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy PR B 5 A 3/3
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny BB+ 3/3

The major tasks accomplished by the Audit Committee during
the year are summarised as follows:

a. reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020, the
independent auditor’s letter to the management and the
annual results announcement, and made recommendation
to the Board for approval;
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reviewed the interim financial information of the Group for
the six months ended 30 June 2021 and the interim
results announcement, and made recommendation to the
Board for approval;

reviewed the management recommendation furnished by
the independent auditor and the response from the
management;

reviewed the audit strategy provided by the independent
auditor and made recommendation to the Board for the
independent auditor's appointment, remuneration and
terms of engagement on audit services for the year ended
31 December 2021;

reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the
independent auditor for non-audit services;

reviewed with the management the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group;

oversaw the implementation of the Group's risk
management framework and assisted the Board in
conducting independent evaluation of the effectiveness of
the Group's financial reporting procedures and risk
management and internal control systems;

ensured that the management has fulfilled its duty to
establish and maintain effective risk management and
internal control systems including adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff working in the
Group's accounting and financial reporting function;

reviewed the top tier risks of the Group and recommended

mitigating actions therefor;

furnished opinions to the management on risks associated
with significant matters of the Group;
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k. reviewed internal audit reports prepared by the Internal
Audit Department, provided guidelines for internal audit
planning and reporting, and ensured that the internal
audit function was provided with adequate resources to
discharge its responsibility;

reviewed the changes (where applicable) to the procedures
for monitoring connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions and the mechanism of
whistleblowing; and

m.  made recommendation to the Board on the appointment
of new independent auditor.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and
the Company at www.minmetalsland.com.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of the Chairman of the
Board and all the Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee is principally responsible for the review
of the remuneration mechanism and incentive scheme of the
Directors and senior management, and the establishment and
maintenance of a reasonable and competitive remuneration
package to attract and retain Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee was authorised by the Board to
determine the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and
senior management and make recommendation to the Board for
the remuneration of Non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting in 2021. The
attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee is
as follows:
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Attendance

Members of the Remuneration Committee HMEESHRE R

Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny — Chairman EoWSE LT — E£F 11

Mr. He Jianbo EEN:EHS 1/1

Mr. Selwyn Mar BEBEEE /1

Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy MR 1/1
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During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
implementation of the organisation and remuneration structure
proposal of the Company. It also reviewed and approved the
proposals for the 2020 annual bonus and the 2021 annual salary
adjustment.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange at
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company at www.minmetalsland.com.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of the Chairman of the
Board and all the Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Nomination Committee is principally responsible for formulating
policy for nomination of Directors and leading the process of
identifying and nominating candidates suitably qualified to
become Board members. It reviews the structure, size and
composition of the Board and makes recommendation to the
Board on re-appointment of Directors as well as succession plan
for the Chairman of the Board and the chief executive of the
Company. The Nomination Committee also reviews the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the equality of its performance. Selection of candidates
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, which include
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, integrity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Nomination Committee has the
primary responsibility for the implementation of such policy and
review its effectiveness on an annual basis.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting in 2021. The T;E%é BER_ZE-_—FRTT-KE
attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee is as CERBREEEIBERET
follows:

Attendance
Members of the Nomination Committee REZEER HERE
Mr. He Jianbo — Chairman T—J FPFEE — £FE 1/1
Mr. Selwyn Mar MELAE /1
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy ZE EMZT 2+ 1
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny MRAR B S A 1

During the vyear, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors, the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and
the Company at www.minmetalsland.com.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee consists of all executive Directors. The
Executive Committee is principally responsible for the daily
operations of the Company, including but not limited to,
approving transactions and/or expenses in the ordinary course of
business of the Group, loans or banking facilities to be granted
to the Group and the operations of bank accounts, etc.

Sustainable Development Committee

The Sustainable Development Committee consists of the
Chairman of the Board, the Managing Director and a Deputy
Managing Director of the Company. The Sustainable
Development Committee is principally responsible for the
Group's sustainability-related matters, including formulating
sustainability strategies, identifying and managing sustainability
risks,
sustainability reporting, etc.

enhancing sustainability performance, and conducting
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
A S8 IR

F. Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is collectively responsible for determining the
Company’s corporate governance policy and performing the
following duties:

a. to develop and review policies and practices on corporate
governance, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and compliance of legal and
regulatory requirements;

b. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct of the
Company; and

C. to review the Company’'s compliance of the CG Code as
well as the disclose made in the Company's Corporate
Governance Report.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the position on the CG
Code compliance, approved the Corporate Governance Report
contained in the Company’s 2021 Annual Report and approved
the establishment of Sustainable Development Committee.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu retired as the independent auditor of the
Group upon expiration of its term of office at the conclusion of the
annual general meeting held on 27 May 2021. Ernst & Young was
appointed as the independent auditor of the Group with effect from
the same date to fill the vacancy and such appointment was approved
by Shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 27 May 2021.
The aggregate remuneration in respect of services provided by
independent auditor of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 was approximately 5.00 million (2020: HK$9.14 million) of which
2.00 million (2020: HKS$5.11 million) represents non-audit services which
include the review of the 2021 Interim Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chung Wing Yee resigned as Company Secretary of the Company
on 7 August 2021. The Board has appointed Mr. Cheng Ka Hang,
Francis as Company Secretary of the Company and alternate to the
authorised representatives of the Company to Mr. He Jianbo and
Mr. Chen Xingwu with effect from 12 January 2022. He is an associate
member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute. Mr. Cheng has participated professional
training activities for more than 15 hours in 2021.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

A. Convening of special general meeting on
requisition and putting forward proposals at
general meetings

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
share capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company have the right to requisite the
Directors to convene a special general meeting of the Company.
The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and
must be signed by the requisitionist and deposited at the
registered office of the Company.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionist, or any of them representing more than
one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a special general meeting of the Company.

B. Enquiries from Shareholders

The Company's website provides email address, postal address,
fax number and telephone number by which enquiries may be
put to the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTMENT COMMUNITY

The Company attaches great importance to communications with
Shareholders and the investment community (which refers to the
Company’s potential investors and research analysts reporting and
analysing the Company’s status and performance).

Corporate information is communicated to Shareholders and the
investment community by way of the Company’s announcements,
corporate website, meetings with Shareholders and general investor
relations activities.

The Company believes that effective communication with investment
community is essential for promoting their understanding of the
Group's business development. The Company releases property sales
update by way of announcement and press release on a regular basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

B R R
A. Publication of announcements and corporate

website

The Company maintains its corporate website at
www.minmetalsland.com where announcements, financial
reports, press releases and update information of the Group are
available. It serves as a key channel for Shareholders and the
investment community to access reliable and timely information
about the Company. Shareholders would raise enquiries or
provide feedback via the designated section on the Company’s
website.

The following corporate information is posted on the Company's
website immediately thereafter the same has been released by
the Company to the website of the Stock Exchange:

— announcements, notices and circulars

— annual reports and interim reports

—  Bye-laws

— list of Directors and their role and function

—  terms of reference of the committees of the Board

—  procedures for nomination of Directors by Shareholders
General meetings of Shareholders

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings
or to appoint proxies to attend and vote on their behalf if they
are unable to attend the meetings. They are welcome to raise
questions and comments at general meetings where members of
the Board and independent auditor of the Company are
delighted to answer.

Shareholders are informed of the voting procedures of general
meetings by the chairman of the general meeting. The Company
also provides Shareholders with sufficient and timely information
concerning the date, location and agenda of general meetings
and other information regarding issues to be decided at general
meetings.
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The Company ensures votes cast are properly counted and
recorded. Independent scrutineers are appointed to count the
number of votes cast at general meetings. The Company
announces and publishes, on the same day of the general
meeting, the poll voting results on the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange.

C. Investor relations activities

The Company believes that, to enhance corporate governance,
regular and effective communication with investment community
is essential and in particular, for their understanding of the
Company’s business development. The Company endeavours to
maintain regular meetings and dialogues with the investment
community through participation in investor conferences, analyst
and media briefings, non-deal road shows and investors’ and
shareholders’ visits.

The Company adopted the Shareholders Communication Policy in 2021
with the aim that to enhance long-term shareholder value through
regular communication with its Shareholders, both individual and
institutional Shareholders. With the Shareholders Communication Policy,
the Company sets out the framework which promote effective
communication with Shareholders so as to enable them to engage
actively with the Company and exercise their rights as Shareholders in
an informed manner.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents (i.e. the
Bye-laws) during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

HRELE

DIRECTORS
ES

EE M A B I

Chairman

i

Mr. He Jianbo, aged 52, was appointed as an Executive Director and Managing Director of
the Company in December 2007 and is currently the Chairman of the Board. Mr. He is
responsible for the overall strategic direction of the Group and organising the management
for the strategic planning and business operations of the Company. Mr. He is a Senior
International Business Engineer in the PRC and a Chief Senior Economist in the PRC, a Vice
President of the China Real Estate Chamber of Commerce and a member of the Political
Consultative Conference of Dongcheng District, Beijing, the PRC. He graduated from the
Peking University in 1992 with a Bachelor's Degree in Economics and obtained a Master's
Degree in International Finance from Peking University and a Master's Degree in Business
Administration from Saint Mary’s University, Canada. Mr. He joined China Minmetals in 1992
and had served the positions of director of general administrative office, director of strategic
planning division and a member of the strategic planning committee of China Minmetals.
Mr. He has extensive experience in real estate development, corporate management,

strategic planning and investment.
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Mr. Liu Bo, aged 56, acts as the General Manager of the Company since
January 2019 and was appointed as an Executive Director and the Managing
Director of the Company in March 2020. Mr. Liu holds a Master's Degree in
Engineering from the Architecture and Engineering Faculty of Xi'an University of
Architecture and Technology and is a qualified professorate senior engineer in
the PRC. He is also a vice president of the construction project management
committee and the foundation and underground space construction committee
of the China Construction Industry Association. Mr. Liu joined China
Metallurgical Group Corporation (“MCC Group”) in 1988 and was the chief
economist of MCC Group and Metallurgical Corporation of China Ltd. He had
served senior management positions in various subsidiaries of MCC Group for
constructional design, and development and promotional of construction and
technology works. He has extensive experience in land development and city
complex’s EPC general contracting construction (including the EPC contracting
construction of the Singapore Universal Studio project). Mr. Liu has participated
in the development and research works in various technological research and
has obtained various patents and technological awards in the PRC. Mr. Liu was
granted a special government allowances by the State Council in 2011 in
recognition of his distinguished contribution to the development of
constructional technology in the PRC.
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Mr. Chen Xingwu, aged 52, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager of the
Company in June 2018 and an Executive Director and a Deputy Managing
Director of the Company in November 2018. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor's
Degree in Economics from the University of International Business and
Economics and is a qualified Accountant and an International Business Engineer
in the PRC. Mr. Chen joined China Minmetals in 1991 and has been serving
various departments and subsidiaries of China Minmetals group for international
trading, financing of international merger and acquisition and corporate
management. Mr. Chen has extensive experience in strategic financing and
investment, and corporate financial management.
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

Mr. Yang Shangping, aged 48, was appointed as an Executive Director and a
Deputy Managing Director of the Company in June 2017. Mr. Yang holds a
Bachelor's Degree in Civil Structural Engineering from Tongji University and a
Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Fudan University. Mr. Yang
joined the Company as the general manager of a real estate development
company of the Company in Nanjing in 2007 and is now responsible for the
strategic investment, sales and marketing and urban development divisions of
the Company. He had participated in project works for China Overseas Holdings
Ltd. and Shanghai Vanke Co., Ltd. for over 10 years. Mr. Yang has extensive
experience in project management, sales and marketing and costing

management.
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Ms. He Xiaoli, aged 54, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in February 2002 and a Deputy Managing Director of the Company in
December 2009. She was re-designated as a Non-executive Director of the
Company in November 2018. Ms. He holds a Bachelor's Degree in Economics
(major in Accounting) from North China University of Technology and a Master's
Degree in Business Administration from the University of South Australia. She is
a qualified PRC Chief Senior Accountant and a member of the Chinese Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. He was the
head of business division and the deputy minister of accounting information
division of the finance department of the previous China National Nonferrous
Metals Industry Corporation. She is currently a supervisor of Minmetals
Development Co., Limited, a non-executive director of Hunan Non-Ferrous
Metals Holding Group Ltd., the chairman of the supervisory board of Minmetals
Finance Co., Ltd. and a non-executive director of China Minmetals HK.
(Holdings) Limited. Ms. He has extensive experience in corporate financing and
investment, capital market operations and financial management of enterprises.
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Mr. Huang Guoping, aged 59, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of
the Company in February 2022. Mr. Huang holds a Bachelor's Degree in
engineering (with a major in non-ferrous metal metallurgy) from Central South
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (now known as Central South University). Mr.
Huang joined China Minmetals in 2000. He has been serving in various
subsidiaries of China Minmetals for non-ferrous metal metallurgy, trading and
corporate management businesses. Mr. Huang was a director and the chairman
of China Minmetals Rare Earth Co,, Ltd. and is currently a specialised external
director and supervisor of China Minmetals and a director of Minmetals
Development Co., Limited. Mr. Huang has extensive experience in non-ferrous

metal metallurgy and business management.
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Mr. Selwyn Mar, aged 86, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in November 2002. Mr. Mar graduated from the
London School of Economics, University of London. He is a Chartered
Accountant, a consultant of Nexia Charles Mar Fan Limited and the Managing
Director of Marfan & Associates Limited. Mr. Mar was the President of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 1991, a member of the Appeals
Panel of Securities & Futures Commission and a member of the Board of
Governors of Chinese International School. Mr. Mar has been actively involved in
commercial and industrial undertakings in Hong Kong and the PRC in the past
44 vyears. Presently, he sits on the board of two other Hong Kong listed

companies. Mr. Mar is an Honorary Fellow of the Lingnan University.
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Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy, aged 74, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in September 2015. Mr. Lam graduated from
the University of Hong Kong. He also holds a Master's Degree in Science of
Management from the Stanford Graduate School of Business. He joined the
Hong Kong Government as Administrative Officer in 1970 and had worked in
areas like housing, environmental protection, land administration, procurement,
financial services, infrastructural development and mega projects. He had served
as the CEO of the Airport Authority and the Managing Director of the Urban
Renewal Authority. Currently, he is a director of Life Education Activity
Programme and a court member and an adjunct professor of the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Lam, a Justice of Peace since 2004, was awarded the
Golden Bauhinia Star by the HKSAR Government in 2008.
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Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny, aged 69, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in April 2018. Ms. Law graduated from
the University of Hong Kong with an Honours degree in Science. She received a
Master degree in Public Administration from Harvard University and was named
a Littauer Fellow. She also has a Master degree in Education from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Prior to her retirement from the civil service in 2007,
Ms. Law was the Commissioner of the Hong Kong Independent Commission
Against Corruption. During her 30 years in the civil service, Ms. Law has worked
in many fields, including medical and health, economic services, housing, land
and planning, home affairs, social welfare, civil service, transport and education.
Ms. Law is currently a member of the Executive Council of the Government of
the HKSAR. She is an independent non-executive director of four other Hong
Kong listed companies and an external director of China Resources (Holdings)
Co., Ltd. Ms. Law was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star and the Grand Bauhinia
Medal in 2003 and 2017 respectively by the Government of HKSAR in
recognition of her distinguished service to the community. She is also a Justice
of Peace since 2008.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Ning Heqiu, aged 57, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager of the
Company in March 2020. Mr. Ning holds a Master's Degree in Engineering from
Wuhan University and is a qualified professorate senior engineer in the PRC. Mr.
Ning has been serving in the construction sector for over 30 years since he
joined 23rd Metallurgical of China Minmetals in 1986. He is now the President
of 23rd Metallurgical, a vice president of Hunan Construction Industry
Association and a deputy director of China National Association for Non-ferrous
Metals Industries Construction. He has gained recognitions for his professional
achievement in Hunan Province. Mr. Ning has extensive experience in

construction business and corporate management.
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Mr. Dai Pengyu, aged 39, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager of the
Company in March 2020. Mr. Dai holds a Bachelor's Degree from Xi'an University
of Architecture and Technology, major in business administration. Mr. Dai joined
the Company in 2007 and has been serving senior management positions in
various real estate development subsidiaries of the Company in central, eastern
and southern China. He is currently the general manager in charge of the
Company'’s regional company in southern China. Mr. Dai has extensive

experience in marketing and management of real estate development projects.
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Mr. Law Yiu Wing, Patrick

Chief Operating Officer, Hong Kong
B (RE)

Mr. Tang Ying Kit, Edward
HEFLE

Financial Controller

MBRE

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

Mr. Law Yiu Wing, Patrick, aged 58, joined the Company in September 2006.
Mr. Law is now the Company's Chief Operating Officer, Hong Kong. Mr. Law is
responsible for the management of the investment properties in Hong Kong
and is the general manager of Condo Hong Kong (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company engaged in specialised construction business in Hong Kong) and
Massive Leader (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company engaged in
Montego Bay project in Hong Kong). Mr. Law holds a Bachelor of Building
(Hons.) Degree from the University of New South Wales, Australia and a Master
of Business Administration Degree from the Australian Graduate School of
Management. He is a member of the Australian Institute of Building and CPA
Australia. Mr. Law has extensive experience in property development, strategic

planning, financial and general management gained from listed companies.
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Mr. Tang Ying Kit, Edward, aged 48, joined the Company as the Financial
Controller in April 2013. Mr. Tang is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, and a Certified ESG Analyst (CESGA®). Mr. Tang holds a
Bachelor degree in Business Administration in Finance (Honours) from the Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology. Prior to joining the Company, Mr.
Tang worked in listed company and state-owned enterprise in Hong Kong. Mr.
Tang has extensive experience in corporate finance, financial and general

management.
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Mr. Cheng Ka Hang, Francis, aged 47, was appointed as a Company Secretary
of the Company in January 2022. Mr. Cheng is an associate member of both The
Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute. He has over 23 years of experience in compliance and company
secretarial profession.
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The Board would like to submit the Annual Report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are real estate development,
specialised construction, property investment and securities investment.
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note
46 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by operating and
geographical segments is set out in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 121 of this Annual Report.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK1.0 cent
per Share and a special dividend of HK1.0 cent per Share, totalling
HK2.0 cents per Share (2020: final dividend of HK1.0 cent per Share and
a special dividend of HK1.0 cent per Share, totalling HK2.0 cents per
Share) payable in cash to Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Friday, 10 June 2022.

Subject to Shareholders’ approval at the AGM, the dividend cheques
will be distributed to the Shareholders on or about Friday, 8 July 2022.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a Dividend Policy that sets out the principles
and guidelines in relation to the distribution and payment of dividends
to the Shareholders.

The Board has the discretion to declare or propose dividends to the
Shareholders subject to the restrictions under the Companies Act of
Bermuda, the Bye-laws and applicable laws, regulations and accounting
standards. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall take into
account, among other things, the financial performance, cash flow
position, business requirements of the Company and the market
environment.
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The Board may declare the payment of an interim dividend or propose
a final dividend which will be subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at annual general meeting. Under special circumstances
such as a temporary reduction in profit or changes in business
environment, the Board may, at its discretion and after due and careful
consideration, distribute a special dividend to the Shareholders.

Dividend payout would be in the form of cash or scrip or a
combination of both.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion
on the Group’s corporate strategy, future business development,
possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” as well as the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 24 to 29 and pages 32 to 47 of this
Annual Report respectively.

The financial risk factors and management of the Group are set out in
Note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.

No important event affecting the Group has occurred since the end of
the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

An analysis of the Group's performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the “Financial Highlights” on
page 7 of this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

To promote sustainability, the Group strives to maintain a balance
between its real estate development business and the ecological
environment. The Group treasures green design and eco-friendly
construction that involves the use of materials and processes that are
resource-efficient and environmentally responsible throughout the life
cycle of property development. Details of the Group’s performance in
environment preservation are set out in the forthcoming
Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the year.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group acknowledges the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements. During the year under review, the Group had
complied with the requirements under the Companies Act of Bermuda,
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong), the
Listing Rules, the SFO (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) and the
relevant rules and regulations of places which it has operations.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group's success depends on the support of key stakeholders, such
as employees, customers and Shareholders.

Employees

Employees are important and valuable assets of the Group. The Group
rewards and recognises the contribution of staff by offering
competitive remuneration package and standardised performance
appraisal system to provide incentives. The Group has thorough career
development program to promote career development and
progression by appropriate training and providing opportunities within
the Group for career advancement.

Customers

The Group's principal customers are buyers of its real estate
development projects. The Group has established property
management subsidiaries in Mainland China and Hong Kong to ensure
professional and caring property management services to buyers.

Shareholders

The Group strives to enhance corporate value to Shareholders. It is
poised to foster business development for achieving the sustainability
of business and earnings growth and rewarding Shareholders by stable

dividend payouts taking into account capital adequacy levels, liquidity
positions and business expansion needs of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 27 and Note 47 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

PROPERTIES

Particulars of the Group’s major properties held for investment and
properties under development are set out on pages 12 to 21 of this
Annual Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2021,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda,
amounted to HK$940,263,000 (2020: HK$890,273,000).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 9 of this Annual
Report.

SHARE OPTION

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 7 June 2013 to
recognise and acknowledge eligible persons for their contribution or

potential contribution to the Group.

No share options have yet been granted by the Company pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme.
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The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out as follows:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

Participants

Any directors or any employees of any company of the Group
and any advisers of, consultants of, contractors to any company
of the Group or any person who has any relationship (whether
business or otherwise) with any company of the Group or any
person whom the Directors consider, in their sole discretion, has
contributed or will contribute or can contribute to the Group.

Total number of Shares available for issue

The total number of Shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme is 333,785,270, representing approximately 9.97%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
Annual Report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

No share options under the Share Option Scheme may be
granted to any eligible person, which, if exercised in full, would
result in the total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon the exercise of the share options already granted or to be
granted to such eligible person under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of such new
grant exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of such new grant. Any grant of further share
options above this limit shall be subject to the requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The period within which the Shares must be taken up under
a share option

The Directors may in their absolute discretion determine the
period during which a share option may be exercised and notify
each grantee, save that such period shall not be later than 10
years from the date on which the Directors make an offer of the
share option subject to the provisions for early termination as
stipulated in the Share Option Scheme.
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(5)

(6)

(7)

Time of acceptance and the amount payable on acceptance
of the share option

The offer of a share option made in accordance with the Share
Option Scheme must be accepted within 28 business days from
the date on which the offer is made and the amount payable on
acceptance of the share option is HK$10.

The basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price shall be determined by the Board at the
time of grant of the relevant share option and shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price per Share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the relevant share option; (i) the amount equivalent to the
average closing price per Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the relevant share option; or (iii)
the nominal value of a Share.

The remaining life

The Share Option Scheme is valid until 6 June 2023,

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this Annual Report

are:

Executive Directors

Mr. He Jianbo
Mr. Liu Bo
Mr. Chen Xingwu

Mr. Yang Shangping

Non-executive Directors

Ms. He Xiaoli
Mr. Huang Guoping (appointed on 1 February 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Selwyn Mar
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny
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Mr. Chen Xingwu, Mr. Huang Guoping and Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy
will retire from the office of Director at the AGM in accordance with
Bye-law 102 and Bye-law 111(A) of the Bye-laws and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has an
unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Company
and any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANT
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

There is no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the business of the Group, to which the Company and any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which the Directors or an entity
connected with him is or was materially interested, either directly or
indirectly, which was entered into during the year or subsisted at any
time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract for management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules,
information of Directors as at the date of this Annual Report are as

the changes in
follows:
1. Ms. He Xiaoli was appointed as a non-executive director of Hunan

Nonferrous Metals Holding Group Co., Ltd.
subsidiary of China Minmetals) with effect from January 2021.

(@ wholly-owned

2. Mr. Selwyn Mar resigned as an independent non-executive
director of PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited (a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) with effect from

July 2021,

3. Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy ceased to be a member of the Lantau
Development Advising Committee with effect from February
2022.

4. Changes in Director's emoluments during the year are set out in

Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The interests of Directors in competing businesses that are required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules as informed by
the relevant Directors are as follows:

Mr. He Jianbo, being the Chairman of the Board and an Executive
Director of the Company, is also a director of Minmetals Land Holdings,
Liaoning Industrial Park and Minmetals Real Estate.

Mr. Liu Bo, being an Executive Director and the Managing Director of
the Company, is also a director of Minmetals Land Holdings.

Mr. Chen Xingwu, being an Executive Director and a Deputy Managing
Director of the Company, is also a director of Minmetals Land Holdings
and Minmetals Real Estate.

Mr. Yang Shangping, being an Executive Director and a Deputy

Managing Director of the Company, is also a director of Minmetals
Land Holdings and Liaoning Industrial Park.
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All' of Minmetals Land Holdings, Liaoning Industrial Park and Minmetals
Real Estate are companies established under the laws of the PRC.
Minmetals Land Holdings is engaged in real estate development,
construction contracting and sub-contracting, property management,
surveying and designing of construction projects, project investment,
provision of technical services, investment consultancy and corporate
management consultancy. Liaoning Industrial Park is engaged in the
development of Minmetals (Yingkou) Industrial Park. Minmetals Real
Estate is engaged in real estate development and operation,
construction, property management, real estate agency, real estate
advertising and exhibition and other real estate related business.

Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny, being an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, is also a director of China Resources
(Holdings) Co., Ltd,
Limited which engages in real estate development operation in the
PRC.

the holding company of China Resources Land

In the event that the Board decides that there are issues of conflict
between the Group and the aforementioned companies, Directors with
conflicting interest will abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Annual Report, none of
the Directors or their respective associates (as if each of them were
treated as a controlling shareholder under Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules) had any competing interests in a business which competes or is
likely to compete with the business of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021,
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which (i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or

the interests and short position of the

deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or (iii) were required, pursuant to the Model
Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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Name of Directors Nature of interest Shares held HERITRMG

BEEHR EmME FrEEZ2RHAEE BEZBANB DL

Mr. He Jianbo Personal 2,040,000 0.06%
A7 1) 08 58 £ {EPN

Mr. Yang Shangping Personal 1,846,667 0.06%
5L & A

Ms. He Xiaoli Personal 783,333 0.02%
A/ NBEZ L {EPN

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of K FXFrEEN R_ZE-—F+ -4

the Company or any of their associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) =+—H ' #MIEEBL AR A ZEBITHA

had any personal, family, corporate or other interests or short position
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as at
31 December 2021.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company nor their spouses or children under 18 years of age, was
granted or had exercised any right to subscribe for any equity or debt
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of the SFO) during the year ended 31 December 2021.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option” and “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above, the Company had no other outstanding
options, convertible securities, warrants or other similar rights as at
31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, there was no repurchase or exercise of
options and convertible securities during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws or the
laws of Bermuda.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

As at 31 December 2021, according to the register of interests keptby R_Z-_—F+_-_A=+—H RELAQ T

the Company under section 336 of the SFO, the following entities had ZEASRBHEKRNE =G =+ NEZ2RERF

interests and short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which B 2 Bz & facsd  THTER AR AR

fall to be disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV 13 M ABEEI () R E A IRB B H L E 65

of the SFO: TERBE -_REB=DFARNAKRRFRKEZE
= MORA

Approximate percentage
of total issued Shares

Interest in Shares HEBRTRA
IR #E BB

Long position  Short position  Long position  Short position
Name of Shareholders RREHE wa KB Ha KB
China Minmetals PEAE 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
CMCL TR D 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
CMNH HREEGER 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
CMN IBEEGRN 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
Album Enterprises BHME 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
Minmetals HK BENE 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
June Glory June Glory 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —

Note: June Glory is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Minmetals HK, which in turn is owned as  Ffi&E : June Glory B RIEE Bz 2 &M B AR - AEAER

to approximately 39.04%, 38.95% and 22.01% by CMCL, Album Enterprises and Top HABARY B RTop Create Resources
Create Resources Limited respectively. Album Enterprises and Top Create Resources Limited % 5!l # & £ #939.04% - 38.95% &% 22.01%A%
Limited are wholly owned by CMN, which in turn is owned as to approximately # o B> K Top Create Resources Limited F FLAE
99.999% and 0.001% by CMNH and CMCL respectively. CMNH is a wholly-owned seRkhe2EsA  IRBERMAIBAEERE
subsidiary of CMCL. CMCL is owned as to approximately 88.4% by China Minmetals. & & AR 17 5 B A H £799.999% £ 0.001% AR # ©

Accordingly, each of China Minmetals, CMCL, CMNH, CMN, Album Enterprises and TREEEERATBRO ZZEWB AR : M E
Minmetals HK was deemed as interested in the 2,071,095,506 Shares held by June AEEE AR #88 4% HE « It - PRI -
Glory. TERD ARACER ABRAEGRG - EHNE

XRBAEBRESBHEIR AR une GloyHFE 2
2,071,095,506 A& A& 19 HE A #E 25 ©
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the vyear, the percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers combined was approximately 15% (2020:
18%) of the total purchases of the Group. Purchases from the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 9% (2020: 10%) of the Group's
total purchases. None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) and any Shareholders (which to the best
knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the Company's
issued share capital) had any interest in the Group's five largest
suppliers during the year.

During the year, the percentage of the revenue from sales of goods or
rendering of services attributable to the Group'’s five largest customers
combined was less than 30% (2020: less than 30%) of the total revenue
of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The connected transaction conducted by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:

1. On 27 May 2021, a joint venture, which was formed by Shengshi
Guangye (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company),
CMP Development (a connected person at the subsidiary level of
the Company) and Beijing Urban Construction (an independent
third party of the Company) (collectively the “JV Partners”), has
won the bid for acquiring the land use right of a piece of land in
Wangsiyingxiang, Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC (the “Land")
from Beijing Municipal Commission of Planning and Natural
Resources through a listing for sale process at the consideration
of RMB5,450,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$6,448,000,000).

The JV Partners has established a project company held by
Shengshi Guangye, CMP Development and Beijing Urban
Construction as to 40%, 30% and 30%, respectively for the
acquisition and development of the Land, and accounted for as
an associate in the accounts of the Group.

China Merchants Land holds 49% equity interest in each of
Guangzhou Kuangrong and Guangzhou Kuangyu. Each of
Guangzhou Kuangrong and Guangzhou Kuangyu is a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group. China Merchants Land and CMP
Development are fellow subsidiaries indirectly non-wholly owned
by China Merchants Group and accordingly, CMP Development is
a connected person at the subsidiary level of the Company and
the acquisition of the Land through the joint venture constitutes
a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The continuing connected transactions conducted by the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:

A conditional specialised construction framework agreement
dated 20 April 2018 was entered into between the Company and
China Minmetals whereby the Group may, subject to successful
tender, seek appointment by China Minmetals Group as
specialised construction contractor(s) for the China Minmetals
Group’s real estate development projects and construction
projects in Mainland China and Hong Kong for a term of three
years from 20 April 2018 to 19 April 2021 (“Specialised
Construction Framework Agreement”). The total contract sums of
the specialised construction contracts which may be awarded by
China Minmetals Group to the Group will not exceed the annual
caps below:

RERERS

REE-_ZT-_—F+_A=+—HILFE"
REBPETZHEBEISHBUOT ¢

R-EBE-NFMWA-+H KAFEEFS
Bl AR LB G EXREELRHZE
Bl AEBR-_Z—N\FNA=-+H
BEZZ-—FWMNATNAILE=FH
B A (FERNFIRE) BREARES
BB AAIZERERNRREAMLES
JEHMEERRIBERBEEIREBECE
FRETREAORN([ZEREERD
#F o HEHABREEXNE AR TR
EECEERZETRAREE  BT8
BIATFE LR :

For the period from

T

20 April 2018 to 1 January 2019 to

1 January 2020 to

1 January 2021 to

31 December 2018 31 December 2019 31 December 2020 19 April 2021
—E-N\E —E-NF —B-EF —EZ—fF
MA=-+HZE —HA—B=Z& —A—HZ —A—BZ
—E-N\F —E-hE —E-FF =EB=—F
+=BA=+-—H +=A=+-—H +=—HA=+-—H mMA+ A
RMB935,230,000 RMB794,090,000 RMB846,770,000 RMB503,870,000
935,230,0007C A R #& 794,090,0007C A R #& 846,770,0007C A R & 503,870,0007C A R #&

The Specialised Construction Framework Agreement and the
annual caps were approved by the independent Shareholders at
the special general meeting of the Company held on 31 May
2018.

There was no contract awarded by China Minmetals Group to the
Group for the period from 1 January 2021 to 19 April 2021
(2020: RMB97,879,607).

The Specialised Construction Framework Agreement expired on
19 April 2021.
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A financial services framework agreement dated 20 April
2018 was entered into between the Company and
Minmetals Finance (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
China Minmetals) whereby Minmetals Finance would
provide current and fixed deposit services, loan services
and settlement services to the Company and its
subsidiaries in Mainland China for a term of three years
from 20 April 2018 to 19 April 2021 (2018 Agreement”).
Pursuant to the 2018 Agreement, the annual cap on the
maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits (including
accrued interests) to be placed by the Company and its
subsidiaries in Mainland China for each of the three years
from 20 April 2018 to 19 April 2021 was RMB2,000,000,000.
The provision of the deposit services by Minmetals Finance
to the Company and its subsidiaries in Mainland China and
the aforesaid annual cap were approved by the
independent Shareholders at the special general meeting
of the Company held on 31 May 2018.

A supplemental agreement to the 2018 Agreement was
entered into between the Company and Minmetals
Finance on 28 March 2019 (“2019 Supplemental
Agreement”) pursuant to which (i) the annual cap for
deposit transactions contemplated under the 2018
Agreement was revised to RMB3,000,000,000 from 10 May
2019 (being the date on which the revision of annual caps
was approved by the independent Shareholders) to
19 April 2021, and (i) upon request by the Company,
Minmetals Finance shall grant unsecured loan for an
amount of up to RMB3,000,000,000 to the Company on
comparable market terms.

The revised annual cap for the deposit services under the
2019 Supplemental Agreement was approved by the
independent Shareholders at the special general meeting
of the Company held on 10 May 2019.

The maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits
(including accrued interests) placed by the Company and
its subsidiaries in Mainland China with Minmetals Finance
for the period from 1 January 2021 to 19 April 2021 was
RMB2,993,894,046 (2020: RMB2,992,145,792).

The 2018 Agreement (as supplemented by the 2019
Supplemental Agreement) expired on 19 April 2021.
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(ii)

A financial services framework agreement dated 2 February
2021 was entered into between the Company and
Minmetals Finance whereby Minmetals Finance would
provide current and fixed deposit services, loan services
and settlement services to the Company and its
subsidiaries in Mainland China for a term of three years
from 20 April 2021 to 19 April 2024 (2021 Agreement”).
Pursuant to the 2021 Agreement, the annual cap on the
maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits (including
accrued interests) to be placed by the Company and its
subsidiaries in Mainland China for each of the three years
from 20 April 2021 to 19 April 2024 was RMB3,000,000,000.
The provision of the deposit services by Minmetals Finance
to the Company and its subsidiaries in Mainland China and
the aforesaid annual cap were approved by the
independent Shareholders at the special general meeting
of the Company held on 19 March 2021.

The maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits
(including accrued interests) placed by the Company and
its subsidiaries in Mainland China with Minmetals Finance
for the period from 20 April 2021 to 31 December 2021
was RMB2,972,930,374 (2020: N/A).

3. A property management service contract dated 25 January 2019
was entered into between Jiahe Risheng (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) and Minmetals Properties Hunan (a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, which is owned

as to

51% and 49% by the Company and 23rd Metallurgical

respectively) whereby Minmetals Properties Hunan would provide
the following property management services to LOHAS
International Community for a term of three years from
1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021 (“Service Contract 1"):

()

(i

(iii)

T —F3%

property management services for unsold residential units;
preparation works for residential units to be delivered to
buyers and follow up on repairment works of delivered

residential units during rectification period; and

provide services to and/or arrange for relationship activities
for property owners.
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The annual cap for the service fees payable by Jiahe Risheng to
Minmetals Properties Hunan in respect of Service Contract | for
the three years ended 31 December 2021 were RMB2,400,000,
RMB872,000 and RMB384,000 respectively. As all the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the service fees payable by Jiahe
Risheng under Service Contract | were less than 5%, Service
Contract | was subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of service fee payable by Jiahe Risheng to
Minmetals Properties Hunan for the year ended 31 December
2021 was RMB231,997 (2020: RMB101,345).

The Service Contract | expired on 31 December 2021.

A property management service contract dated 25 January 2019
was entered into between Zhongrun Chengzhen (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and Minmetals
Properties Hunan whereby Minmetals Properties Hunan would
provide the following property management services to Scotland
Town for a term of three years from 1 January 2019 to
31 December 2021 (“Service Contract II"):

(i) property management services for unsold residential units;
and

(i) follow up on repairment works of delivered residential units
during rectification period.

The annual cap for the service fees payable by Zhongrun
Chengzhen to Minmetals Properties Hunan in respect of Service
Contract Il for the three years ended 31 December 2021 were
RMB1,020,000, RMB370,000 and RMB225,000 respectively. As all
the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the service fees
payable by Zhongrun Chengzhen under Service Contract Il were
less than 5%, Service Contract Il was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
circular, independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.
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The aggregate sum of service fee payable by Zhongrun
Chengzhen to Minmetals Properties Hunan for the year ended
31 December 2021 was RMB24,018 (2020: RMB22,751).

The Service Contract Il expired on 31 December 2021.

A property management service contract dated 25 January 2019
was entered into between Hunan Kuangdai (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) and Minmetals Properties Hunan
whereby Minmetals Properties Hunan would provide the
following property management services to Qin Royale for a term
of three years from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021
(“Service Contract II"):

(i) property management services for unsold residential units,
sales office, show flats and commercial units;

(i) preparation works for residential units to be delivered to
buyers; and

(i) provide services to and/or arrange for relationship activities
for property owners.

The annual cap for the service fees payable by Hunan Kuangdai
to Minmetals Properties Hunan in respect of Service Contract Il
for the three years ended 31 December 2021 were
RMB11,287,267, RMB9,067,485 and RMB8,921,645 respectively. As
all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the service fees
payable by Hunan Kuangdai under Service Contract Ill were less
than 5%, Service Contract Il was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
circular, independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of service fee payable by Hunan Kuangdai to
Minmetals Properties Hunan for the year ended 31 December
2021 was RMB1,381,992 (2020: RMB889,384).

The Service Contract Ill expired on 31 December 2021.
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A property management service contract dated 25 January 2019
was entered into between Minmetals Land Wuhan (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and Minmetals
Properties Hunan whereby Minmetals Properties Hunan would
provide the following property management services to
Enchanté Crest for a term of three years from 1 January 2019 to
31 December 2021 (“Service Contract IV"):

(i) property management services for unsold residential units,
sales office and show flats;

(i) preparation works for residential units to be delivered to
buyers; and

(i) provide services to and/or arrange for relationship activities
for property owners.

The annual cap for the service fees payable by Minmetals Land
Wuhan to Minmetals Properties Hunan in respect of Service
Contract IV for the three years ended 31 December 2021 were
RMB3,790,000, RMB4,559,030 and RMB2,557,246 respectively. As all
the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the service fees
payable by Minmetals Land Wuhan under Service Contract IV
were less than 5%, Service Contract IV was subject to annual
review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempted from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of service fee payable by Minmetals Land

Wuhan to Minmetals Properties Hunan for the year ended
31 December 2021 was RMB1,874,736 (2020: RMB449,503).

The Service Contract IV expired on 31 December 2021.
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A property management service contract dated 25 January 2019
was entered into between Wuhan Runling (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) and Minmetals Properties Hunan
whereby Minmetals Properties Hunan would provide the
following property management services to Wuhan Scenery Cove
for a term of three years from 1 January 2019 to 31 December
2021 (“Service Contract V):

(i) property management services for unsold residential units,
sales office and show flats;

(i) preparation works for residential units to be delivered to
buyers; and

(iiiy  provide services to and/or arrange for relationship activities
for property owners.

The annual cap for the service fees payable by Wuhan Runling to
Minmetals Properties Hunan in respect of Service Contract V for
the three years ended 31 December 2021 were RMB3,060,000,
RMB3,252,930 and RMB5,719,929 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the service fees
payable by Wuhan Runling under Service Contract V were less
than 5%, Service Contract V was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
circular, independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of service fee paid by Wuhan Runling to
Minmetals Properties Hunan for the year ended 31 December
2021 was RMB1,437,940 (2020: RMB1,785,146).

The Service Contract V expired on 31 December 2021.
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A conditional construction contracting agreement dated 17 April
2020 was entered into between the Company and China
Minmetals whereby the Group may from time to time invite
China Minmetals Group to tender and award construction
contracts, subject to successful tender, in respect of the existing
and future real estate development projects of the Group in
Mainland China and Hong Kong for a term of three years from
19 April 2020 to 18 April 2023 (“Construction Framework
Agreement”).

The Construction Framework Agreement and the annual caps
were approved by the independent Shareholders at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 28 May 2020 whereby
the total contract sums which may be awarded by the Group to
China Minmetals Group shall not exceed the annual caps below:
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The aggregate contract sum awarded by the Group to China
Minmetals Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 was
RMB1,701,055,622 (2020: RMB1,991,233,482).
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A construction costing consultation framework agreement dated
28 April 2020 was entered into between the Company and CERI
(a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China Minmetals) whereby the
Company may engage CERI to provide audit review over the
budgets or final accounts of the Company’s real estate
development projects, and CERI may accept such engagement
during the term of three years from 28 April 2020 to 27 April
2023 (“Consultation Framework Agreement”).

The annual cap for the service fees payable by the Company to
CERI in respect of the Consultation Framework Agreement for the
period from 28 April 2020 to 31 December 2020, for each of the
two years ending 31 December 2021 and 2022 and for the
period from 1 January 2023 to 27 April 2023 were RMB4,500,000,
RMB9,750,000, RMB12,750,000 and RMB3,000,000 respectively. As
all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the service fees
payable by the Company under the Consultation Framework
Agreement were less than 5%, the Consultation Framework
Agreement was subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of service fee paid by the Company to CERI
for the year ended 31 December 2021 was RMB1,740,424 (2020:
RMB755,223).
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10.

A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2020 was entered into
between Brightway Asset (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) as the landlord (“Tenancy Agreement
I"), details of which are set out below:

Premises 9th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham
Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong of
a GFA of approximately 5,793 square feet

Period two years from 1 June 2020 to 31 May 2022 (both
dates inclusive)

Rental HK$208,548 per calendar month (exclusive of

government rates and management fees)

Management fee HK$30,702.90 per calendar month

The annual caps for the rent and management fee payable by
Brightway Asset in respect of Tenancy Agreement | for the
period from 1 June 2020 to 31 December 2020, for the year
ended 31 December 2021 and for the period from 1 January
2022 to 31 May 2022 were HKS$1,674,757, HKS2,871,011 and
HKS$1,196,255 respectively. As all the applicable percentage ratios
in respect of the aggregate sum of the annual rent and
management fee receivable by Texion under Tenancy Agreement
I ' were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement | was subject to annual
reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempted from circular,

review,
independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rental and management fee paid by
Brightway Asset to Texion for the year ended 31 December 2021
was HK$2,662,463 (2020: HKS$1,466,208).
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11.

A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2020 was entered into
between Minmetals Cheerglory (a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as the landlord
(“Tenancy Agreement II"), details of which are set out below:

Premises 11th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham
Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong of
a GFA of approximately 5,793 square feet

Period two years from 1 June 2020 to 31 May 2022 (both
dates inclusive)

Rental HK$208,548 per calendar month (exclusive of

government rates and management fees)

Management fee HK$30,702.90 per calendar month

The annual caps for the rent and management fee payable by
Minmetals Cheerglory in respect of Tenancy Agreement Il for the
period from 1 June 2020 to 31 December 2020, for the year
ended 31 December 2021 and for the period from 1 January
2022 to 31 May 2022 were HKS$1,674,757, HKS2,871,011 and
HKS$1,196,255 respectively. As all the applicable percentage ratios
in respect of the aggregate sum of the annual rent and
management fee receivable by Texion under Tenancy Agreement
Il were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement Il was subject to
annual review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempted from circular, independent financial advice and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rental and management fee paid by
Minmetals Cheerglory to Texion for the year ended 31 December
2021 was HK$2,662,463 (2020: HKS$1,466,208).
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12.

A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2020 was entered into
between Minmetals HK (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China
Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as the landlord (“Tenancy
Agreement III"), details of which are set out below:

Premises 19th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham
Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong of
a GFA of approximately 5,793 square feet

Period two years from 1 June 2020 to 31 May 2022 (both
dates inclusive)

Rental HK$208,548 per calendar month (exclusive of

government rates and management fees)

Management fee HK$30,702.90 per calendar month

The annual caps for the rent and management fee payable by
Minmetals HK in respect of Tenancy Agreement Il for the period
from 1 June 2020 to 31 December 2020, for the year ended
31 December 2021 and for the period from 1 January 2022 to
31 May 2022 were HK$1,674,757, HK$2,871,011 and HK$1,196,255
respectively. As all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of
the aggregate sum of the annual rent and management fee
receivable by Texion under Tenancy Agreement Il were less than
5%, Tenancy Agreement Il was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
circular,

independent financial advice and independent

Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rental and management fee paid by
Minmetals HK to Texion for the year ended 31 December 2021
was HK$2,662,463 (2020: HKS$1,466,208).
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13.

A tenancy agreement dated 30 June 2020 was entered into
between Minmetals Cheerglory as the tenant and Texion as the
landlord (“Tenancy Agreement V"), details of which are set out

below:

Premises Unit 1201 of 12th Floor, China Minmetals Tower,
79 Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong of a GFA of approximately 1,629
square feet

Period 3 years from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2023 (both
dates inclusive)

Rental HK$58,644 per calendar month (exclusive of

government rates and management fees)

Management fee HK$8,633.70 per calendar month

The annual caps for the rent and management fee payable by
Minmetals Cheerglory in respect of Tenancy Agreement IV for the
period from 1 July 2020 to 31 December 2020, for each of the
two years ending 31 December 2021 and 2022 and for the
period from 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023 were HK$403,667,
HK$807,333, HK$807,333 and HK$403,667 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate sum of
the annual rent and management fee receivable by Texion under
Tenancy Agreement IV were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement IV
was subject to annual review, reporting and announcement
requirements, but exempted from circular, independent financial
advice and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rental and management fee paid by
Minmetals Cheerglory to Texion for the year ended
31 December 2021 was HK$748,688 (2020: HK$403,666).
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14.

A tenancy agreement dated 30 June 2020 was entered into
between MMG (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China
Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as the landlord (“Tenancy
Agreement V"), details of which are set out below:

Premises Unit 1208 of 12th Floor, China Minmetals Tower,
79 Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong of a GFA of approximately 12840
square feet

Period 3 years from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2023 (both
dates inclusive)

Rental HK$66,240 per calendar month (exclusive of

government rates and management fees)

Management fee HK$9,752.00 per calendar month

The annual caps for the rent and management fee payable by
MMG in respect of Tenancy Agreement V for the period from
1 July 2020 to 31 December 2020, for each of the two years
ending 31 December 2021 and 2022 and for the period from
1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023 were HK$455,952, HK$911,904,
HKS$911,004 and HK$455,952 respectively. As all the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate sum of the annual
rent and management fee receivable by Texion under Tenancy
Agreement V were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement V was
subject to annual review, reporting and announcement
requirements, but exempted from circular, independent financial
advice and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements

under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rental and management fee paid by
MMG to Texion for the year ended 31 December 2021 was
HK$845,664 (2020: HK$455,952).
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A loan framework agreement dated 13 July 2020 was entered into
between Guangzhou Kuangrong (a 51%-owned subsidiary of the
Company), Shengshi Guangye (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and the holder of 51% equity interest in Guangzhou
Kuangrong) and Guangzhou Merchants (a company holding 49%
equity interest in Guangzhou Kuangrong) whereby Guangzhou
Kuangrong may during the term from 13 July 2020 to 12 July
2023 provide loans by way of entrustment loans or directly to
Shengshi Guangzhou (or its designated fellow subsidiaries in
Mainland China) and Guangzhou Merchants based on the same
terms and conditions and in proportion to their respective
shareholding in Guangzhou Kuangrong on an unsecured interest
free basis ("Guangzhou Kuangrong Framework Agreement”).

The caps amount of the loans to be provided by Guangzhou
Kuangrong to Shengshi Guangye (or its designated fellow
subsidiaries in Mainland China) and Guangzhou Merchants for the
period from 13 July 2020 to 12 July 2023 were RMB688,500,000
and RMB661,500,000 respectively.

Guangzhou Merchants is a substantial shareholder of Guangzhou
Kuangrong and is therefore a connected person at the subsidiary
level of the Company. As the Independent Non-executive
Directors have confirmed that the terms of the Guangzhou
Kuangrong Framework Agreement are fair and reasonable, on
normal commercial terms and in the interest of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole, the Guangzhou Kuangrong
Framework Agreement was subject to annual review, reporting
and announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and Shareholders’
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

approval

The loans provided by Guangzhou Kuangrong to Guangzhou
Merchants for the year ended 31 December 2021
RMB588,000,000 (2020: Nil).

was
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16. A loan framework agreement dated 26 April 2021 entered into
between Beijing Wanhu (a 51%-owned subsidiary of the
Company), MLIML (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and the holder of 51% equity interest in Beijing Wanhu) and
Beijing Vanke (a company holding 49% equity interest in Beijing
Wanhu) pursuant to which Beijing Wanhu may during the term
commencing from 26 April 2021 to 25 April 2023 provide loans
to MLIML (or its designated wholly-owned subsidiaries in
Mainland China) and Beijing Vanke based on the same terms and
conditions and in proportion to their respective shareholdings in
Beijing Wanhu on an unsecured interest-free basis (“Beijing
Wanhu Framework Agreement”).

The caps amount of the loans to be provided by Beijing Wanhu
to MLIML (or its designated wholly-owned subsidiaries in
Mainland China) and Beijing Vanke for the period from 26 April
2021 to 25 April 2023 were RMB2,142,000,000 and
RMB2,058,000,000 respectively.

Beijing Vanke is a substantial shareholder of Beijing Wanhu and is
therefore a connected person at the subsidiary level of the
Company. As the Independent Non-executive Directors have
confirmed that the terms of the Beijing Wanhu Framework
Agreement are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial terms
and in the interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole, the Beijing Wanhu Framework Agreement is subject to
annual review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempted from circular, independent financial advice and
Shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of
the Listing Rules.

The loans provided by Beijing Wanhu to Beijing Vanke for the
period from 26 April 2021 to 31 December 2021 was
RMB2,007,480,000 (2020: N/A).

The related party transactions except those with joint ventures,
associates and persons connected with insignificant subsidiaries as
disclosed in note 41(a) to the consolidated financial statements also fall
under the definition of connected transaction or continuing connected
transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules, and the Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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ANNUAL REVIEW OF CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A55 of the Listing Rules, the above continuing
connected transactions (“Continuing Connected Transactions”) have
been reviewed by the Independent Non-executive Directors who have
confirmed that the Continuing Connected Transactions were carried
out:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)  either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Company
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent
third parties; and

(c)  in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s independent auditor, Ernst & Young, was engaged to
report on the Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
"Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the Continuing Connected
Transactions disclosed by the Group on pages 91 to 106 of this Annual
Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of
the auditor's letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.
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INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

The transactions set out in paragraphs 1, 2 and 8 of the section
"Continuing Connected Transactions” above are considered as contracts
of significance under paragraph 16 of Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO
RULES 13.18 AND 13.21 OF THE LISTING
RULES

1. Condo Hong Kong (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
as the borrower and the Company as the guarantor, accepted
the offer from a bank (the "Bank’) for the grant of general
banking facility in an aggregate amount of HK$100,000,000
("Facility 1") on 9 April 2015. Facility | has no fixed term and is
subject to periodic review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility I, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest Shareholder of the Company maintaining at
least 31% of the beneficiary interest of and has management
control over the Company. Upon a breach of any of the
aforesaid conditions, the Bank may suspend, withdraw or make
demand for repayment of the whole or any part of Facility |
offered to Condo Hong Kong.

2. Massive Leader (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as
the borrower, the Company as the guarantor and certain banks
as the lenders (the “Lenders”) entered into a term loan facility
agreement for a 5.5-year secured term loan facility (“Facility 11") in
the principal amount of HK$5,500,000,000 on 20 March 2017
(“Facility Agreement II"). On 24 December 2021, the parties
entered into a supplement to Facility Agreement Il (the
“Supplement to Facility Agreement”, together with the Facility
Agreement I, the “Facility Agreements”) to extend the final
maturity date of the Facility Il to 30 September 2023 or 6
months after the date of issuance of the Certificate of
Compliance (as defined in the Facility Agreements), whichever is
the earlier.
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Pursuant to Facility Agreements, China Minmetals, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, shall own beneficially
(directly or indirectly) not less than 31% of the entire issued
share capital in the Company as well as remain the single largest
Shareholder of the Company and has management control over
the Company. A breach of any of the aforesaid conditions would
constitute an event of default and the Lenders may (i) cancel all
or part of the commitments under Facility Agreements; and/or (ii)
declare that all or part of the loans, together with accrued
interest, and all other amounts accrued under Facility Il be
immediately due and payable; and/or (iii) declare that all or part
of the loans be payable on demand; and/or (iv) exercise or direct
the security agent to exercise any or all of its rights, remedies,
powers or discretions under the Finance Documents (as defined
in Facility Agreements) and in respect of the Transaction Security
(as defined in Facility Agreements).

Condo Hong Kong as the borrower and the Company as the
guarantor, accepted the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for the
grant of general banking facility in an aggregate amount of
HK$150,000,000 (“Facility 111"y on 26 October 2017. Facility Il is
subject to annual review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility lll, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall maintain
remain the single largest shareholder of the Company
maintaining (directly or indirectly) not less than 31%
shareholding interest of and has management control over the
Company. Upon a breach of the aforesaid condition, all amounts
due under Facility lll shall be immediately due and payable and
the Bank shall not be required to make any further advances
under Facility Il

OFL (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as the borrower,
the Company and MLI (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) as the guarantors and certain banks as the lenders
(the “Lenders”) entered into a facility agreement for a 1-year term
loan facility, extendable for a further three years at the option of
OFL ("Facility IV") in the principal amount of HK$3,500,000,000 on
19 October 2018 (“Facility Agreement V).
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Pursuant to Facility Agreement IV, China Minmetals, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, shall own beneficially
(directly or indirectly) not less than 51% of the issued Shares of
the Company and has control over the management of the
Company. A breach of any of the aforesaid conditions would
constitute an event of default and the Lenders may (i) cancel all
commitments under Facility Agreement 1V; and/or (i) demand
that all or part of the loans together with accrued interest and all
other amounts accrued under Facility IV be immediately due and
payable; and/or (iii) demand that all or part of the loans be
payable on demand.

Condo Hong Kong as the borrower and the Company as the
guarantor, accepted the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for the
renewal of general banking facility in an aggregate amount of
HK$70,000,000 (“Facility V) on 1 March 2019. Facility V is subject
to annual review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility V, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest Shareholder of the Company maintaining
(directly or indirectly) not less than 31% shareholding interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, all amounts due under Facility
V shall be immediately due and payable and the Bank shall not
be required to make any further advances under Facility V to
Condo Hong Kong.

OFL as the borrower, the Company and MLI as the guarantors and
certain banks as lenders (the “Lenders”) entered into a term loan
facility agreement for a 4-year term loan facility (“Facility VI") in
the principal amount of HK$6,000,000,000 on 20 January 2020
("Facility Agreement VI").

Pursuant to Facility Agreement VI, China Minmetals, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, shall beneficially owned
(directly or indirectly) at least 51% equity interests of and has
management control over the Company. A breach of any of the
aforesaid conditions would constitute an event of default and the
Lenders may (i) cancel all commitments under Facility
Agreement VI; and/or (ii) demand that all or part of the loans
together with accrued interest and all other amounts accrued
under Facility VI be immediately due and payable; and/or (iii)
demand that all or part of the loans be payable on demand.
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OFL as the borrower and the Company as the guarantor accepted
the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for the grant of a treasury
credit facility in an aggregate amount of HK$140,000,000 on
19 June 2020 (“Facility VII") with no fixed term.

As one of the conditions of Facility VI, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) at least 31% interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, Facility VIl is repayable in full
amount on demand by the Bank.

OFL as the borrower and the Company as the guarantor accepted
the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for a revolving loan facility in
an aggregate amount of HK$1,500,000,000 on 21 July 2021 (the
“Facility VIII"). The Facility VIII has no fixed term and is subject to
periodic review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility VIll, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) at least 31% interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, Facility VIl is repayable in full
amount on demand by the Bank.

OFL as the borrower and the Company as the guarantor accepted
the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for a revolving loan facility in
an aggregate amount of HK$1,800,000,000 on 20 August 2021
(the “Facility IX"). The Facility IX has no fixed term and is subject
to periodic review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility IX, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) at least 31% interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, Facility IX is repayable in full
amount on demand by the Bank.
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10.  OFL as the borrower, and the Company together with MLI as the
guarantors accepted the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for a
364-days revolving loan facility in an aggregate amount of
HK$780,000,000 on 29 October 2021 (“Facility X").

As one of the conditions of Facility X, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall
beneficially owned (directly or indirectly) at least 31% interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, Facility X is repayable in full
amount on demand by the Bank.

Save as disclosed above, the Company does not have other disclosure
obligations under Rules 13.18 and 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the notices submitted to the Company pursuant to the SFO,
the Directors are of the view that sufficient public float exists for the
issued Shares as at the date of this Annual Report.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed with the
independent auditor the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2021 and has also discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control, and financial reporting matters
including the review of the accounting practices and principles
adopted by the Group.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements as contained in this Annual
Report have been audited by Ernst & Young.

By order of the Board
He Jianbo
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Jo S A% i 4

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY::

To the shareholders of Minmetals Land Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Minmetals
Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 121 to 303, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

REEZER

FAREBEZEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNERNMEEARERSRETRE

Valuation of investment properties

REMEME

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's investment properties
were measured at fair value amounted to HKS$2,665 million.
Decrease of HKS$153 million in fair value of investment
properties was recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year then ended.

RZZBZ—F+-A=+—H8 BEEBERQAREFNEZR
B ¥ ¥ R2,6650000008 T - REMEARBRD
153,000,000 TERBEZAILFEZAREBRRER -

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key
audit matter because the valuation process is based on an
estimation of future results, a set of assumptions and a
determination of key inputs, which are judgmental. Any
changes to these inputs may have a significant impact on the
fair value. Management determined the fair value of the
Group's investment properties as at 31 December 2021 with
the assistance of an independent external valuer.
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Details of the investment properties and the related key
estimation uncertainty are set out in Notes 15 and 3,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.
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Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation of
investment properties mainly included:

B EREHREMERERTZEFIEREAT
BEREF

1. Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the external valuer engaged by
management;
HAFEEREMETEMNINBEEM 2 ER - B
HREBIE -

2. Obtaining a copy of valuation report prepared by the
external valuer and discussing with the external
valuer to obtain an understanding of the basis of
determination of valuation; and
HAEIGHINBEEM R BN GEERS - L EIN
B ELBBIA T R ERTKE

3. Assessing, with the assistance from our internal
valuation specialists, the methodologies and
judgements used in valuing the investment
properties and obtaining the market evidence that
the external valuer used to support the key inputs.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

HREREE

FAREBEZEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNERNMHEARERSRETRE

Revenue from sales of properties

HEMRBA

Revenue from sales of a property is recognised when the
completed property is transferred to the customer, being at
the point that the customer obtains the control of the
completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and collection of the consideration is probable.
HEVERATRRIVEEREEPK (AIEPRER
TYRIEGIRE N B R B AR WS KB B AT gEER
B2 ER -

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recognised
revenue from sales of properties of approximately HK$12,095
million.

BEZ-_FT_A=1T—HILFE  E5E®RHEE
1) 2 A #912,095,000,0007 TT

We identified the revenue from sales of properties as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the amount and
volume of sales transactions recognised during the year and
there is judgement involved in determining the appropriate
point at which to recognise revenue from sales of properties.
HRFARRBNHEEXZCRNBENEEY - HAKY
FHEWARTERSBRENSFE  LAGEEEHIYEE
B WA EE B B K H -

Details of revenue from sales of properties are set out in Note
5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRHEMFBAFBENRE M BERKRMEES
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Our procedures in relation to revenue from sales of
properties mainly included:

BPREEMERABTZRFEERRE

1. Testing key internal controls over revenue recognition
on a sample basis; and
FEMEONH B ARREEN EER S
il

2. Selecting property sales transactions on a sample basis
and:

BBMEKENFRHEERS - XA
(1)  reading the signed sale and purchase
agreements to obtain an understanding of the
relevant terms of the timing of property
delivery and title transfer;

BEERBEE S U TBYEIMNKME
N EEE R MERE R

obtaining evidence regarding the property
delivery and title transfer;

RGMER R EREROEE

reviewing the relevant supporting documents
in relation to the property delivery to buyers
prior to the year end, on a sample basis, to
assess whether the revenue has been
recognised in an appropriate period; and
MEEHFRATME R R A8 Z A
X URHEBMARTEEEE BREER
il

reconciling the monetary amounts of recorded
transactions and related payments to those in
the signed sale and purchase agreements.
HELHXFINEE R RBANRED R
EEEMAYE -
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
T8 3 A% B

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981,
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
T8 3 A% B

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Kwok Yin.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AR IR

Year ended 31 December 2021 HE-ZT-_—+_A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—E-—F = ShanlcoF -
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
Bt % FHET T T
REVENUE WA 5 12,885,638 7,661,646
Cost of sales SHE AR (10,500,165) (6,431,192)
Gross profit ER 2,385,473 1,230,454
Other income H A 6 91,590 495,945
Fair value changes on investment REMEAREEZS
properties 15 (153,467) (50,586)
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHER (468,420) (255,866)
Administrative and other expenses THREMAS (647,887) (752,540)
Impairment losses recognised under EHEEBEBRENIET
expected credit loss model, net A E B F R 10 (13,640) (14,534)
Finance income 3 ON 8 249,115 222,799
Finance costs B TS B AR 8 (163,076) (69,471)
Share of results of associates PaN Y AN 17 (264,007) 4,469
Share of results of joint ventures DEEE QRIS 18 48,253 (2,260)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B B A& A 1,063,934 808,410
Income tax expense Fris®if X 11 (432,127) (371,070)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AEEEA 7 631,807 437,340
Profit for the year attributable to: AEENFBER :
Equity holders of the Company RARREFEA 89,209 112,370
Holders of perpetual capital KABRITEREAEA
instruments 164,996 220,578
Non-controlling interests FEVERR AR R fE = 46(b) 377,602 104,392
631,807 437,340
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE AR ERFH AES
TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE wBRZEBRET
COMPANY, 724l
IN HK CENTS
Basic R 13 2.67 3.36
Diluted e 13 2.67 3.36
—E - —F% 121 hiEESRAT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

A 15 28 MK At 4 Th WA 2 R

Year ended 31 December 2021 HE-ZT-_—F+_A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Ff 5 FER FHET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEER 631,807 437,340
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME HsZEBA
Other comprehensive income/(expense) & BRI A s EF 048
that may be reclassified to profit or loss =Bz Hitb 2 M
in subsequent periods: WA/ (Z )
Currency translation differences MW ER 820,438 1,525,577
Fair value gain/(loss) on hedging IR B E P R
instruments in cash flow hedges THZARE
Wz (E1E) 36,407 (53,904)
Share of other comprehensive income DG E R R H A
of associates ELION 17 97,917 185,207
Share of other comprehensive income DMEEE R A HA
of joint ventures 2HEIKA 18 6,688 6,212
961,450 1,663,092
Other comprehensive income/(expense) ZEHE T EZFH DA
that will not be reclassified to profit or ~ B8z HM 2 M
loss in subsequent periods: WA (ZH)
Gain on revaluation of owner-occupied ~ ¥ET{HAYEERE
properties upon transfer to REWFERZEMR
investment properties & 39,424 =
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair 3% i@ H {th 2 [ Ue 25
value through other comprehensive BRAREFEZ
income W EEEMMES
ZRAREEBR 19 (267,345) (576,174)
(227,921) (576,174)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR EFEEHM2EWA -
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 2 HIBR B 1E 733,529 1,086,918
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR AFEZHEU A
THE YEAR 1,365,336 1,524,258
Total comprehensive income for the ZAEE2EIK AL
year attributable to: BER
Equity holders of the Company RATREFEA 487,604 659,981
Holders of perpetual capital KABERTEFEEA
instruments 234,811 364,480
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR AR R 2 642,921 499,797
1,365,336 1,524,258
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A 0 T 5 IR L A

31 December 2021 =Z=—%+=-A=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
BT FHET FHETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB M 14 487,803 259,280
Investment properties wEYHE 15 2,664,793 2,507,388
Interests in associates NN ol s 17 3,306,006 3,472,096
Interests in joint ventures REERE 2B 18 227,863 196,074
Financial assets at fair value through FREMEE R SR
other comprehensive income AREFEZYBEE 19 555,433 822,778
Other receivables E b fE YRR 9,813 —
Deferred tax assets BETTBE E 30 871,999 442,890
Total non-current assets ERENEEBE 8,123,710 7,700,506
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories A 20 43,113,619 34,293,789
Prepayments, trade and TERNHE - -5 REAM
other receivables JE R IE 21 12,522,896 17,052,118
Prepaid income tax AT FTIS 876,091 613,836
Contract assets BHEE 22 286,253 203,146
Contract costs A KR A 23 217,454 91,741
Cash and bank deposits, restricted ZBRHI3E & RIRTTF K 24 1,077,095 194,085
Cash and bank deposits, unrestricted TZBRHIRE MIRITIF K 25 10,956,126 8,238,516
Total current assets mMEBEERTE 69,049,534 60,687,231
Total assets EEMAR 77,173,244 68,387,737
EQUITY EzE
Share capital fi& 7 26 334,691 334,691
Reserves ] 27 9,685,770 9,264,260
Equity attributable to equity holders Z2 7 R#EEHE AL
of the Company 2 10,020,461 9,598,951
Perpetual capital instruments KAEARTR 28 2,448,182 3,947,539
Non-controlling interests FEERBRER 46(b) 10,649,268 8,863,517
Total equity B 23,117,911 22,410,007
—E - —F% 123 hiEESRAT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A 1 B 5 AR YA

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
B 5 FHT FHT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kERBEE
Borrowings B 29 14,469,201 15,015,877
Other payables H B 5 5RI8 31 — 438,287
Deferred tax liabilities EIERIEEE 30 370,398 366,366
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 16,390 47674
Other financial liabilities BB 75 E & 33 4,571 59,846
Total non-current liabilities ERE B EERE 14,860,560 15,928,050
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Borrowings B 29 6,547,465 4,555,246
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk E b FE T 5K IE 31 15,339,599 11,071,038
Contract liabilities EHEE 32 15,848,803 12,787,885
Deferred revenue PRI A 34 316,528 307,815
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 35,115 30,069
Taxation payable FEBEIE 1,088,395 1,297,627
Other financial liabilities HEMpiEasE 33 18,868 =
Total current liabilities mE)BELR 39,194,773 30,049,680
Total liabilities BEH%E 54,055,333 45,977,730
Total equity and liabilities ERREEHE 77,173,244 68,387,737
Net current assets RBEEFEE 29,854,761 30,637,551
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERRBER 37,978,471 38,338,057
He Jianbo 1A &l &% Chen Xingwu PR # &
Director E & Director %
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

AR SR

Year ended 31 December 2021 HE-ZT-_—+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to
equity holders of the Company
ARRRERE AR
Perpetual Non-
Share capital controlling
capital Reserves Total instruments interests Total equity
KA EERRE
FRA ] Fot BAIE En EnaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET TET THET TR FHET
(note 26) (note 27) (note 28) (note 46(b))
(FizE26) (HizE27) (FitzE28) (GEZEO)
At 1 January 2020 RZZ-ZFF—-f—H 334,691 8,859,154 9,193,845 3,803,647 3,269,226 16,266,718
Profit for the year FRER = 112370 112370 220,578 104392 437,340
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMZEAKA — 547611 547611 143902 395,405 1,086,918
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax ~ AEEBRH % 2 ERALE — 659,981 659,981 364480 499797 1524258
Contributions from non-controlling shareholders WBARZFFERRRE 2 EE
of subsidiaries = = = = 3,552,113 3,552,113
Gain on partial disposals of equity interests in HERKBARBHERZ
subsidiaries Wz — 12878 12,878 — (12,878)
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 37) o EF B A R (BiE37) = = = = (163,347) (163,347)
Non-controlling interests arising from business EBRAHELEZFERRR
combinations (note 36) HEAGEED) = = = = 1721623 1721623
Distributions paid to holders of perpetual capital MKAERTERE AL
instruments ZRE = — - (220,588) = (220,588)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the Company RARRBREL M Z]E
(note 12) (HE12) - (267,753) (267,753) - - (267,753)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling shareholder m—FMBARZ—%
of a subsidiary FERBRR S 2 RS = = = — (1,754) (1,754)
Capital reduction paid to a non-controlling m—XMEAR—BIEE
shareholder of a subsidiary REX 2 EREIE — — — — (1,263) (1,263)
— (254,875) (254,875) (220,588) 5,094,494 4,619,031
At 31 December 2020 RZZZZTF+=A=1+—H 334,691 9,264,260 9,598,951 3,947,539 83863517 22,410,007
Profit for the year FRHF - 89,209 89,209 164,996 377,602 631,807
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEERA — 398,395 398,395 69,815 265,319 733,529
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax ~ AFEERB %2 ERA AR - 487,604 487,604 234,811 642,921 1,365,336
Contributions from non-controlling shareholders REARAZFERRR 2 EE
of subsidiaries - - - - 1,210,590 1,210,590
Gain on partial disposal of equity interests in HER—RI B D ABHER
a subsidiary Pl g — 844 844 (844)
Redemption of perpetual capital instruments BRXAEARTA - - - (1,560,075) - (1,560,075)
Distributions paid to holders of perpetual capital AKABRTERERASN
instruments B - - - (174,093) - (174,093)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the Company MARARELHZRE
(note 12) (KraE12) - (66,938) (66,938) — - (66,938)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling shareholder A-RHBRARZ—%
of a subsidiary FERRRL 2 RE - - - - (66,916) (66,916)
- (66,094) (66,094) (1,734,168) 1,142,830 (657,432)
At 31 December 2021 ——%+-A=1+-8 334,691 9,685,770 10,020,461 2,448,182 10,649,268 23,117,911
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

i Bl il &

Year ended 31 December 2021 HE-ZT-_—F+_A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
Ff 5 FET FHETT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING TRSEHES TR
ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from/(used in) R ATESE (FTF)
operations B 38(a) 4,917,862 (1,235,017)
Income tax paid BEATER (1,327,455) (506,536)
Income tax refund Fri5fiR [ — 168,186
Interest paid EIFE (822,614) (738,907)
Net cash flows from/(used in) KEEBATE(FTA)
operating activities REeF8E 2,767,793 (2,312,274)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHHRETRE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE  BEKEE
equipment (7,497) (43,833)
Proceeds on disposals of property, LEME  BRERZE
plant and equipment PS8 283 949
Additions of investment properties NBEREYME (257,873) (52,072)
Net cash inflow on acquisitions of W — KRB AT &
a subsidiary and assets BERSRAFE 36 — 1,311,731
Net cash outflow on disposals of HEMNRB AR R
subsidiaries ik 37 — (487,334)
Acquisition of an associate Wi — KB R A — (833,408)
Advances to associates B THERT (42,651) (919,751)
Repayment from an associate BB —REE QA 106,939 724,811
Investment in a joint venture R—REERAIZIKE — (2139)
Repayment from/(advances to) joint BRe//(BET)AE
ventures NG 1,721,495 (82,496)
(Advances to)/repayments from (BET)/ BREWE
non-controlling shareholders of ANaElZ IR AR ER
subsidiaries (2,357,446) 436,668
Interest received B HE 249,115 177,547
Net cash flows (used in)/from REZE (FTA) e
investing activities BEFEHE (587,635) 230,673
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2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Ff 5 FET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRERE
ACTIVITIES
New borrowings g e K 4,645,188 10,056,997
Repayments of borrowings 1%? 2 & (3,286,617) (8,036,587)
(Repayments to)/advances from fellow BRT)/ B2EE8RK
subsidiaries Bﬁ% NG 38(b) (498,108) 82,710
Advance from a joint venture REENAIZBE 38(b) 41,666 —
Advances from associates i % NAZBE 38(b) 112,850 1,282,690
Advances from non-controlling IR R 2 BE
shareholders of subsidiaries 38(b) 209,781 1,355,306
Dividends paid to shareholders of AT T AR BIR 2 %8
the Company (66,938) (267,753)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling ENT—KWEBLEZ
shareholder of a subsidiary — B IEERRER 2 R (66,916) (1,754)
Capital reduction paid to a M—REBAA—%
non-controlling shareholder of FEERBER R 2
a subsidiary B ZHI R — (1,263)
Redemption of perpetual capital EBKABEARTA
instruments (1,560,075) —
Distributions paid to holders of perpetual RIS Fk AEART A
capital instruments BAEAZRE (174,093) (220,588)
Repayments of lease liabilities EBEHEARE (29,876) (18,559)
Contributions from non-controlling IR 2 FE
shareholders of subsidiaries 1,210,590 2,238,820
Net cash flows from financing MEFEERSFHE
activities 537,452 6,470,019
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERBESEYIEM
EQUIVALENTS ek 2,717,610 4388418
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning E#MZH L MREE
of the year B 8,238,516 3,850,098
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRZ2BEERAEE
END OF THE YEAR B4 25 10,956,126 8,238,516
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2021

2.1

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED®

—E-—%+-_A=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Minmetals Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
real estate development, specialised construction, property
investment and securities investment. The People’s Republic of
China is the major market for the Group's businesses.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The Company is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its immediate holding
company is June Glory International Limited (incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands) and its ultimate holding company is China
Minmetals Corporation (“China Minmetals") (incorporated in
Mainland China).

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information section to the annual report.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong. In addition, these financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties, derivative financial instruments and equity
investments which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HKS" or
"HK dollar(s)") which is also the functional currency of the
Company, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the equity holders of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (i) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the
fair value of any investment retained and (i) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained earnings, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first
time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, — Phase 2
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

Amendment to Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
HKFRS 16 beyond 30 June 2021 (early
adopted)
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (coNTINUED)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are described
below:

(@

T —F3%

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the previous
amendments which affect financial reporting when an
existing interest rate benchmark is replaced with an
alternative risk-free rate (“RFR"). The amendments provide a
practical expedient to allow the effective interest rate to
be updated without adjusting the carrying amount of
financial assets and liabilities when accounting for changes
in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of
financial assets and liabilities, if the change is a direct
consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform and
the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is
economically equivalent to the previous basis immediately
preceding the change. In addition, the amendments
permit changes required by the interest rate benchmark
reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge
documentation without the hedging relationship being
discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise on
transition are dealt with through the normal requirements
of HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise hedge
ineffectiveness. The amendments also provide a temporary
relief to entities from having to meet the separately
identifiable requirement when an RFR is designated as a
risk component. The relief allows an entity, upon
designation of the hedge, to assume that the separately
identifiable requirement is met, provided the entity
reasonably expects the RFR risk component to become
separately identifiable within the next 24 months.
Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to disclose
additional
statements to understand the effect of interest rate

information to enable users of financial

benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments and
risk management strategy.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021

o —F+-A=1+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (conNTINUED)

(@)

(Continued)

During the year, the Group had certain interest-bearing
bank borrowings denominated in Hong Kong dollars based
on the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR"). The
Group had interest rate swaps whereby the Group pays
interest at a fixed rate and receives interest at a variable
rate based on HIBOR on the notional amounts. The Group
had applied a cash flow hedge to manage the cash flow
interest rate risk of certain bank borrowings, denominated
in Hong Kong dollars based on HIBOR, by using the
interest rate swaps. The Group expects that HIBOR will
continue to exist and the interest rate benchmark reform
has not had an impact on the Group’s HIBOR-based
borrowings, interest rate swaps and the cash flow hedge.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021 extends the
availability of the practical expedient for lessees to elect
not to apply lease modification accounting for rent
concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
Covid-19 pandemic by 12 months. Accordingly, the
practical expedient applies to rent concessions for which
any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022, provided the
other conditions for applying the practical expedient are
met. The amendment is effective retrospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained earnings at the beginning of the current
accounting period. Earlier application is permitted.

The Group has early applied the amendment on 1 January
2021. The application of the amendment had no impact to
the opening retained earnings at 1 January 2021 or profit
or loss for the current year.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED® 132

22 BT HEREREESH @)

(@)

(&)

RAREE AEEBEETAET
FHEME BRITER  RAEE
RITAEFEM K ((FBRITRA
ERENE]) -AEBEMN X
HEH - B AR EZE T =
NEARBEZESENBTBRT
[l R I BN - 42 7] 8 A R ULER
ME -AKBERBTREREY
HETA  BEERNERESRE
BETBTTRHER AT BRT
RIE T EF R EZRITERA
ReRENRER - NEEEBR
BERTARFEN X BEET
EANEEERETFEHAE
BEREFBRITREREMEH
fER - MmN SRS E

B 488
HERE -

R —FOABEGHEBHE
MR F 1657 2 E5] - &AM
NEBTHIERSEZSE
EXHSRAERBHEEBII 25
BRIE 7 BT A E A 4 E AR R
ERTI2EA - At ZEE M
5% 0] FE B PA () R & 1 3R A9 IR A
BEEREN_ZT - _F,A
Z+tBS AR N RIS
o MARAERAZETNEZ
H gt  ZIEsIR_FE=—F
/98— Bk %R mneFE M
A BFEBPER BXERS
ZIEFTT 2 AN R ELER A
NE et ERARBEERER
FZ OB AR - ZIER] A2
HFIRATERA o

AEBEER -_ZE-_—F—F—
BIRATERAZIEET - ZIERT R FE
AY—-—ZT—-—F—F— 80N
REBBEF AT E B 8
@,

ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

AEBEL KRR ZEVBHRRPREFRSY

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

AT B MM ERERE T RAEIEFTE

RN BREEA -

Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual EAMIGRERER]  HIELHR
HKFRS 3 Framework’ B35k 2 ERT b Ul
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between BEANGRERER RKEFZHEHE
HKFRS 10 and an Investor and its Associate or Joint F105: & RNAlFE EP
HKAS 28 (2011) Venture’ ER g ER FZEHEE
285 ZHEFT M E 87 &
—T——4)
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts? BEVBMELER REEA
1758
Amendments to Insurance Contracts®* BEYBWMELERN REEAS
HKFRS 17 F175R 2 AEFT
Amendment to Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and BEVBMELER BEYBEHREE
HKFRS 17 HKFRS 9 — Comparative E175 2B RIE 175 &
Information? B R
BRI ZE 9%
BAXHA —
HEREL?
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as Current or BEFTER SHEEERTE
HKAS 1 Non-current®* F15 2 18F] BB
Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting Policies? BB ER BT IR 1% R
HKAS 1 and HKFRS F15 REBTK
Practice Statement 2 WELNEBRE
F25 2 1EF]
Amendments to Definition of Accounting Estimates? BB ER i EE Z ERE
HKAS 8 85k 2 EFT
Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets and BEFTER BB — X G EFE
HKAS 12 Liabilities arising from a Single F125% 2 18FT HWEEREE
Transaction? 1 B Y 3 AL B

Amendments to

Property, Plant and Equipment:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 EEMEBEEAERNE B

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS(CONTINUED)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

& As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong Interpretation
5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of
a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in
October 2020 to align the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion

8 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020,
HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits
insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in June 2018 without
significantly changing its requirements. The amendments also
add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what
constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for
liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the
scope of HKAS 37 or HK(FRIO)-Int 21 if they were incurred
separately rather than assumed in a business combination, an
entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRICO)-Int
21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets do
not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January
2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to business
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the
date of first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (cONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do
not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as
current or non-current. The amendments specify that if an
entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the
entity complying with specified conditions, the entity has a right
to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting
period if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability.
The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a
settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be
applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 EEMEBEEAERNE B

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it
can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how
to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty.
The amendments also clarify how entities use measurement
techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or
after the start of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception so that it no longer applies to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall
be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings or other component of equity as appropriate at that
date. In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively
to transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from
the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such items, and
the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
and shall be applied retrospectively only to items of property,
plant and equipment made available for use on or after the
beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial
statements in which the entity first applies the amendments.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 23 EEMEBEEAERNE B

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of
fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to
the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract include both
the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour
and materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate directly
to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do not relate
directly to a contract unless they are explicitly chargeable to the
counterparty under the contract. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and
shall be applied to contracts for which an entity has not yet
fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment
to the opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group
are as follows:

—E - —F%

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a
new or modified financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees
include only those paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either
the borrower or lender on the other's behalf. An entity
applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are
modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the
amendment. The amendment is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendment is not expected
to have a significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments from
the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in lllustrative
Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes
potential confusion regarding the treatment of lease
incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFTBERHEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test, on
a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all of
the fair values of the gross assets acquired are concentrated in a
single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the
effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met,
the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a
business and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price to the individual identifiable assets
and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date
of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an
asset and a liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

—E - —F%

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date;

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair values.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in
a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period
adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on
how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to
fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group
obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as
appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior
to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had disposed directly of the previously held equity
interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
N/T IZI j%%&i@ MT

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or fair value less costs of
disposal in HKAS 36 /Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that
at initial recognition, the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as below:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a
joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or a
joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest
in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture.
In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be
required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the
relevant associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of
the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in
the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to
the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors of the
Company that make strategic decisions.

Foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional
currency”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of respective entities of the Group using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

—  Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future productive
use, which are included in the cost of those assets when
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on
those foreign currency borrowings; and

—  Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group’s interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the end of
the reporting period;

— income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss
are translated at average exchange rates (unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint venture or
an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the equity holders of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposal
of associates or joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets and
liabilities arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

—  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

—  the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to
a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress

towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depicts the Group’'s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with
a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction
price for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the
transfer of the associated goods or services in which the Group
adjusts for the promised amount of consideration for a
significant financing component, the Group applies a discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to
a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange
for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e.
the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified
good or service provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an
agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would
not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as an asset
if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is
subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis
that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods
or services to which the assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one
year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application or arising
from business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-
lease components.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial statements
would not differ materially from individual leases within the
portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It
also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; and

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the
end of the useful life. The right-of-use assets are buildings which
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease terms of 3
to 5 years.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory in “property, plant
and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were
owned. Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property and inventory are presented within
“‘investment properties” and “inventories” respectively.

—E-—F% 135

24 FESTHTBEBRE @)

HE (80
EEEEBEABEA (&)
EREEE
EREEEKRNER

HEABENBEAESE

RFE BB ENEAAE
[ BERSHEAEERS
&

AREBRBNEMIBERKAR

BOBRKREMERBEA A BEREG
BEIN  EREEERKAREMRT
FrEMRBERENE - Wt ER BT
EHEABELRAR-

AEEANHEE RS E i E SR
HEEERERNERREEQERSF
HHABESERNE ERAREERE
FoR3ESFNHPANRERENE -

AEEBIHAREVERFEEEN
ERAEEEZIRIME  BE IR
Bl WHEHNBEESER HI=2
SJIE LR —IEBA - FEREMER
FEEENEREEEDRIFIATKRE
MEIRIFE] -

ARBERRDA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
when the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that
stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
and lease incentives from lessor by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected
to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the
change is a lease modification if all of the following conditions
are met:

the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as,
or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change;

any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in
lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it
would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the
changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised
in the profit or loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group's ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate consideration
in a contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the basis of
their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the
head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The
sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with
reference to the underlying asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESTHEEBE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess
whether sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by the
Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that satisfies the requirements as a sale, the Group
as a seller-lessee measures the right-of-use asset arising from the
leaseback at the proportion of the previous carrying amount of
the asset retained and recognises any gain or loss that relates to
the rights transferred to the buyer-lessor only.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or
otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred
revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
included in the “other income”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repair and maintenance costs are
expensed in the profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to allocate
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings 2%-5%
Leasehold improvements Over the remaining

period of the lease

Machinery 5%-25%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15%-25%
Motor vehicles 20%-30%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Gain and loss on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including properties under construction
for such purposes).

Investment properties also include leased properties which are
being recognised as right-of-use assets upon application of
HKFRS 16 and subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating
lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has been changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation,
any differences between the carrying amount and the fair value
of that item (including the relevant leasehold land classified as
right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property,
the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
retained earnings.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. A
leased property which is recognised as a right-of-use asset is
derecognised if the Group as intermediate lessor classifies the
sublease as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties (Continued)

Transfer from inventories to investment properties carried
at fair value

The Group transfers a property from inventories to investment
properties when there is a change in use to hold the property to
earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in
the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by the
inception of an operating lease to another party. Any difference
between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and
its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and contract costs

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and contract costs with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and contract costs (Continued)
In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets
are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets
capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15, the Group assesses
and recognises any impairment loss on other assets related to
the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable standards.
Then, impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract
costs is recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds
the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects
to receive in exchange for related goods or services less the
costs which relate directly to providing those goods or services
that have not been recognised as expenses. The assets
capitalised as contract costs are then included in the carrying
amount of the cash-generating unit to which they belong for the
purpose of evaluating impairment of that cash-generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and contract costs (Continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) other than goodwill is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED® 166

¥ BERRE FRHEEE
EEH KA B E (&)

WEE (KBS EELB) 2 EaTkE
SHEREERE AABEE (3B
SEABN) ZEEESRESHTR
E4$%  AREEAE —RNEESR
ERSEABNNCLEEERTH L
L rAEBeE—MARNESE
KENEEE(RECSREEZERS
EEEMNNCYEESADBOCEEEN
AR ) ARG E A B AL A I E
S8 HIRAAEEER  BESRRE
ESIELUR R (B F) MEEE(E - &
BREBEEBEMNASELSEL—EHS
EEEA EEERLHISRELME
E-—HEEZERETSREEAA
ERHEERN (HAEE) HERAEE
(A EE)BEZRSEUT - BAE
SREEEZ BEFESEERLHH
REZEMNEHEES—BReEL
BT o FHEBEEERIBSDESR -

HRERBEELRER - A& EREE (3
ReELBNR—HRSELEM)IE
EHAWEIHEKERIHE - e
REENFSNEEFLAREREE (K
ReErENR—HEHRSELBEM) M
BEERET ZREE - RERBEREE
BB 0 1B 2 P RERR

ANNUAL REPORT 2021



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Inventories represent properties under development and
completed properties held for sale.

Properties under development which are intended to be sold
upon completion of development and properties for sale are
classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element
which is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets upon the application of
HKFRS 16, properties under development/properties for sale are
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on a specific identification basis including allocation
of the related development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for the properties less
estimated cost to completion and costs necessary to make the
sales.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to
properties for sale upon completion.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss, except that at initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or fair
value through other comprehensive income as measured at fair
value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHHRBE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued) B i T A (@)

Financial assets (Continued) HBEE (&

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets VMBEENSBRBREFT=(8)

(Continued)

() Amortised cost and interest income (i) B 75 5 7K ] Tl 8 A
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest HEeREHEFAENVBEEE
method for financial assets measured subsequently at RAERFEE T AR A B W
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying 7\ 7F'J BWATIE — B BEE
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of BEERBERANE TG
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have 1 \Eﬁfﬁﬂiiﬁﬁ BB Y B 75
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets BERN HEZLBREABE
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest WP BEEMS B T —WmEH
income is recognised by applying the effective interest #8 - A B WA T B 7S A 8
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the BANE R BB FE T LARER o fin
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit- HIRERARECMBEIANER
impaired financial instrument improves so that the Rk FHBEETHLIR
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income ERARE RETEETHILE
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the ERRER - 83 E B RER
gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the BRATIEMBEEREABRE
beginning of the reporting period following the FREEAE T LARER

determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(i) Equity instruments designated as at fair value through other (i) 5EBBBEMEEWK 1527
comprehensive income EEEZ] TA
Investments in equity instruments at fair value through EERABBEMEEKRIERAR
other comprehensive income are subsequently measured BiftEsEmTANKERER
at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in NABEHE HARBEEHESE
fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and YW B 2 B 48 I HL At 4R & Ui 2 T
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are RERREEHFEHRE ﬁﬁ
not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative T’Eﬁ B - Rt BERBE TS
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on DEE ﬁ%ﬂx$?x§2?§ﬁn
disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred Iﬂgﬁﬁi%% &R o

to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments B 7R 5 B R UCE AR B A R A
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to B ZEEa LTARENRER
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends Bah R BRIERSPEBRR
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the BWEH D EEKAE - REFTA
investment. Dividends are included in the “other income” B [ HMRAIHIEEF -

line item in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including cash and
bank deposits and trade and other receivables), and other items
(lease receivables, contract assets and financial guarantee
contracts) which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment is done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables,
contract assets and lease receivables. The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually for debtors with significant increase in
credit risk or related parties and collectively for the rest using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cCONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(1)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’'s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's ability
to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its
debt obligations.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

—E - —F%

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i)
it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since
initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

173

24 FESTHTBEBRE @)

B i T A (@)
B B E (4F)
S AERMBERESMIERE LS
50 BB TR A G EMIER (B)

(1)

(== 155 [7] (A BE5 4E 1pg + /455 )
1EEEAZEN(E)

BEML - H-BEHTARRK
SHHREREERREE A
AEERZZEBETANEER
B B ¥ 4R HE 38 LA 2R 3f 4 FR & 12
e M—BEHTA)RORBER
K iERATRRFEDENELD
RenEREMNEESN  Ri)R&Mm
R R EBAR O E AR B E) Al
BEERVEREEBERABNELD
RenERENES  BIZEE
BTAAREREERRERE -

M BEREOMS - NEEX
AR HH AR RS2 AT KT Y
HHIRAR AR 15 T A 2 ¥ia fEwR
B HIY A 1F B R R (A RUME - AT
EHMBERFRANZEERRESR
B V1A RER AR B B £ T
AEBEERERBEEHRFER
BARZAKEDNIBR -

A5 B B A DA B A IR
W R 00 9 P 2 S
BEHTRE(MEY) RRREE
B S B A M R R
2490 -

ARBERRDA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(ir) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(©) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

v)

—E - —F%

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on
trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition. For a lease receivable,
the cash flows used for determining the ECL is consistent
with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable
in accordance with HKFRS 16.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks that
are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent
that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the
discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

mpairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

v)

—E - —F%

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by recognising the
corresponding adjustment through a loss allowance
account, with the exception of financial guarantee
contracts where the Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss by adjusting their carrying amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at fair
value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
retained earnings.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash
flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the
Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any
fees received, and discounted using the original effective interest
rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial asset,
after reducing gross carrying amount that has been written off.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial assets will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
assets’ original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial assets and are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial asset is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual capital instruments, which include no contractual
obligations for the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets
or the Group has the sole discretion to defer payment of
distribution and redemption of principal amount indefinitely are
classified as equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including borrowings and trade and other
payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at
their fair values. It is subsequently measured at the higher of:

the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9; and

the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Derecognition/substantial modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assess whether the revised terms result in a
substantial modification from original terms taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances including qualitative factors.
If qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers
that the terms are substantially different if the discounted
present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including
any fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted using the
original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different
from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of
the original financial liability. Accordingly, such modification of
terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the
extinguishment. The exchange or modification is considered as
non-substantial modification when such difference is less than 10
per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities” original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term.
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a
hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments
for cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedging relationship, the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument
and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives
and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing
basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is
highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

For the purpose of determining whether a forecast transaction
(or a component thereof) is highly probable, the Group assumes
that the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged cash
flows (contractually or non-contractually specified) are based is
not altered as a result of interest rate benchmark reform.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Hedge accounting (Continued)

Assessment of hedging relationship and effectiveness

For hedge effectiveness assessment, the Group considers
whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting
changes in cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the
hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of
the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

there is an economic relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument;

the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value
changes that result from that economic relationship; and

the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as
that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that
the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the
hedging instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge
that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness
requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the
same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging
relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the
qualifying criteria again.

In assessing the economic relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument, the Group assumes that the interest
rate benchmark on which the hedged cash flows and/or the
hedged risk (contractually or non-contractually specified) are
based, or the interest rate benchmark on which the cash flows of
the hedging instrument are based, is not altered as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Hedge accounting (Continued)

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of cash flow hedging reserve. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

For the purpose of reclassifying the amount of gains and losses
accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve in order to
determine whether the hedged future cash flows are expected to
occur, the Group assumes the interest rate benchmark on which
the hedged cash flows (contractually or non-contractually
specified) are based is not altered as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in cash flow hedging reserve are reclassified to
profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit
or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item.

Discontinuation of hedge accounting

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively only
when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet
the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This
includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or is
sold, terminated or exercised. Discontinuing hedge accounting
can either affect a hedging relationship in its entirety or only a
part of it (in which case hedge accounting continues for the
remainder of the hedging relationship).

For cash flow hedge, any gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time
remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast
transactions is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or
loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
Group's consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Current and deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting periods and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting periods, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than
through sale, except for freehold land, which is always presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESFBEREEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Current and deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on
a net basis.

Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or paternity
leaves are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

Group companies participate in various defined contribution
pension schemes. The schemes are generally funded through
payments to insurance companies or trustee-administered funds.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions and are reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

T —FR

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated before the normal retirement date, or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when it recognises any related restructuring costs.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period are discounted to present value.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be
a present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic
resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the Group's financial statements unless the possibility of
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.
When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

and their accompanying disclosures,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
N/T IZI j%%&i@ MT

31 December 2021

3.

o —F+-A=1+—H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Critical accounting judgement

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties located in Hong Kong are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over
time. Therefore, in measuring the Group's deferred taxation on
investment properties located in Hong Kong, the Directors have
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties located in Hong Kong are recovered
entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has
not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of
investment properties located in Hong Kong as the Group is not
subject to any income taxes on the fair value changes of the
investment properties on disposal.

With regards to the Group's investment properties located in
Mainland China, the Directors considered that they are held
under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in these
investment properties over time. Therefore, the Directors have
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties located in Mainland China are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group
recognised deferred taxes on changes in fair value of the Group's
investment properties located in Mainland China on the basis
that the entire carrying amounts of these properties are
recovered through use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Key estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing uncertainty to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities are discussed below:

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuer. The
determination of the fair value involves certain assumptions of
market conditions which are set out in note 15.

The Directors have performed internal assessment on the risks of
change in macroeconomic environment through performing
sensitivity analysis in relation to the Group’s investment
properties.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at 31
December 2021 was approximately HK$2,664,793,000 (31
December 2020: HK$2,507,388,000). More details are set out in
note 15.

Construction contracts
The Group recognised income and cost generated from
construction contracts, which were derived from the latest
available budgets of the construction contracts with reference to
the overall performance of each construction contract and the
management’s best estimates and judgements.

construction income is determined in accordance with the terms

Estimated

set out in the relevant contracts. Estimated construction costs
which mainly comprise sub-contracting charges and costs of
materials are estimated by the management on the basis of
quotations from time to time provided by the major contractors/
suppliers/vendors involved and the experience of the
management. Because of the nature of the construction industry,
the management regularly reviews the progress of the contracts
and the estimated construction income and costs.

When the actual costs incurred are significantly more or less than
expected, or changes in circumstances which result in revision of
management’s estimates on the percentage of completion, the
effect of such change is recognised prospectively in the profit or
loss in the period of the change.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Key estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred taxes

As at 31 December 2021, deferred tax assets of HK$871,999,000
(2020: HK$442,890,000) have been recognised in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position as set out in note
30. The realisability of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. The Directors determine the profit
projections of the Group for coming years during which the
deferred tax assets are expected to be utilised. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are more or less than
expected, an additional recognition or a reversal of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which such a recognition or reversal takes place.

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables and
contract assets

Trade and other receivables with significant increase in credit risk
or amounts due from related parties are assessed for ECL
individually.

In addition, the Group uses provision matrix to estimate ECL for
the trade receivables and contract assets that are not assessed
individually. The provision rates are based on debtors' aging as
groupings of various debtors that have similar loss patterns. The
provision matrix is based on the Group's historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade and other
receivables and contract assets are disclosed in notes 44 and 21,
22 respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Key estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment of inventories

The Group tests regularly whether inventories have suffered any
impairment based on the assessment of net realisable value.
Estimates of net realisable value are based on the most reliable
evidence available at the time the estimates are made, and the
amounts the inventories are expected to realise. Significant
management estimates are required in the estimates. Where the
actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimates, such differences will impact on the carrying
amounts of inventories and the impairment loss.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the
executive directors. The executive directors review the Group's
internal financial reports in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. The executive directors have determined the
operating segments based on these reports as follows:

Real estate development:  Development and sales of
residential and commercial
properties

Design, installation and selling of
curtain walls and aluminum
windows, doors and other
materials

Holding of properties to generate
rental income and/or to gain
from the appreciation in
properties’ values in the
long-term

Investment of securities

Specialised construction:

Property investment:

Securities investment:

No operating segments identified by the executive directors have
been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating

segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies

described in note 2.4. Segment results represent the profit before
tax without allocation of unallocated corporate expenses, finance
income, finance costs and share of results of associates and joint

ventures.

Inter-segment revenue is charged at prevailing market rates.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED®
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4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 ReEFTHER @
(CONTINUED)
aN
Segment revenue and results PEHBAREE
Real estate development Specialised construction Property investment Securities investment Total
EHERR EERE NERE EERE ag
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“E2o-f ZERCRE CRC-F ZRCRE CRC-F ZECRE CRo-fF ZRCRE CZT-F CECRE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TER Thr TER Thr TER Thr TER Thr TER Thr
Revenue WA
Total segment revenue BHBMA 12511033 7071620 321,444 574949 60,168 67027 - — 12,892,645  77135%
Inter-segment revenue AHERA - - - 45520) (7,007) (6430) - - (7,007) (51950)
Sales to external customers BEPHE 12511,033 707160 321,444 529429 53,161 60597 - — 12885638 7661646
Results £ |
Segment results AHEE 1,396,636 825,532 (4,692) 2830 8,821 (28701) 59,893 52049 1,460,658 872610
Unallocated corporate expenses, net FARLERR 58 (267,009) 219737)
1,193,649 652873
Finance income FHBRA 29,115 719
Finance costs BHRA (163,076) (69471)
Share of results of associates ﬁ TUNGES (264,007) 4469
Share of results of joint ventures PEEERRIEE 48,253 (2,260)
Profit before tax BHAER 808410

1,063,934
RED Z%‘Eﬁﬁl%éﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ4ﬁﬁtﬁ’ﬂ$
KESHERR W DHFEREIEARD

EMAX - BBRA - BBERARSD 15
BERRRAERRIRENRBATGH]

[E=NAN
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4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities

4

Real estate development Specialised construction

FHERR EXEE

2021 2020 2021

2020

e = =

KRESHER @

THEERER

Property investment Securities investment Total
NERE #ERE ag
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

SEo-E ZERCRE CRD-F ZERCRE CZD-F ZECRE

HKS000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS'000
Fin T Fin T Fin T Fin T Fin T
Assets AE
Segment assets PHEE 67,125762 61548989 376,585 413356 2,099,569 2064410 555,433 822778 70,157,349 64849533
Unallocated corporate assets FARLEEE 7,015,895 353804
Total assets BEBE 71173244 68387737
Liabilities &
Segment liabilties AHAE 52,070,383 43891388 179,234 144371 11,702 13627 - — 52061319 44049386
Unallocated corporate liabilities FARLCERE 1,794,014 1928344
Total liabilties BfELE 54055333 45977730

Segment assets consist primarily of interests in associates,
interests in joint ventures, property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, inventories, receivables, contract assets,
contract costs and operating cash but exclude items such as
bank deposits for corporate use and deferred tax assets. Segment
liabilities comprise all operating liabilities but exclude items such
as taxation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o T 5 R M

31 December 2021

4
(CONTINUED)

T —F+=

RA=+—8

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Other segment information

4 REFTHER @

H 75 ZR &

Real estate development  Specialised construction Property investment Securities investment Segment total Unallocated Total
ERERR EXE% NERE BERE AHER 28 &8
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“g¥--F ZFC%F C-B--F ZB-F§ -E--f CB-%F C¥--F ZFCTF C¥--F 3o -I--F CB-%F CE--F CBCRF
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK5'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK5'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TER T TiEn FEL FiEn TAL TER T TiEn FEL FiEn TAL TER L
Amounts included inthe BT AS
measure of segment BaIHP
profit or loss or BE:
segment assets:
Interests in associates REERAZ
353 3,306,006 3472,0% - - - - - — 3,306,006 34720% - — 3,306,006 3472,0%
Interests in joint ventures ~ RABREZ
B 227,863 196,074 - - - - - - 227,863 196,074 - - 227,863 196,074
Capital expenditures BARY 264,633 4199 - 1,164 39 281 - — 264672 3644 698 189 265370 3833
Depreciation recognised ~ IMFABRES
in the consalidated BRE
statement of profit or
loss 49,376 31493 54 2002 377 454 - - 49,807 33949 5453 5157 55,260 39,106
Fair value changes on RENELRE
investment properties 9 (135,767) 8914 - - (17,700) (59,500) - - (153,467) (50586) - - (153,467) (50,586)
(Reversal of impairment)/ 7% (&
allowance for B%)/HE
impaiment of BETE
inventories, net (47,598) 299,894 - = - = - = (47,598) 299,894 - = (47,598) 299,894
Impairment losses BHEEER
(reversed)/recognised BHBTHE
under expected credit (B%)/#:2
loss model, net FE - - - (3265) 13,640 17799 - - 13,640 14534 - - 13,640 14534
. 0 0 = b N
Geographical information i B8 B
. . . . . &= - g 2| D FA 5
The Group operates its businesses in two main geographical AREZ R ERE DKW EME g
areas: = e
Hong Kong: Real estate development, specialised B EHEERE 53X
. . = ~ 3 A
construction, property investment @7{‘;“ %%%X’é&
e L7 ML 4
and securities investment EHRE
. N 4
Mainland China: PEAM . EHERRE - HXEEE

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED®

Real estate development, specialised
construction and property
investment
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 REFHER @
(CONTINUED)
Geographical information (Continued) hEE R @)
In presenting geographical information, sales are presented REFME BRI - HEZ 2T IRE
based on the geographical locations of the customers. Total non- PRHBMERELE - FERBEELTE
current assets exclude financial instruments and deferred tax TNEREUBETARBEERIBEE -
assets.
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
B FE At B
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
—Eo-% T 2% ZEZTRF SETo-F ZZZTF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT THT TERT THT TERT THT
External sales HHMEE 378,002 287684 12,507,636 7373962 12,885,638 7,661,646
Total non-current assets FRYEELR 2,175,599 223907 4,510,866 4210931 6,686,465 6,434,838
Information about major customer ERETEEFZEH
No revenue from transaction with single external customer is AEBVWESE -—XFRMETE Z KA
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for both BRA10%3 A £ o
years.
REVENUE 5. A
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADHTATR -
2021 2020
—BC-—F —ETF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHETT
Revenue from contracts with customers FKEEFEHIBIHA 12,832,477 7,601,049
Revenue from other sources H R A
Rental and management fee income from REREMFENHEE
investment properties EEBERA 53,161 60,597
12,885,638 7,661,646
— ] 195 TEERRA A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(a) Disaggregated revenue information

A o)
REFEFESHHWA

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(a)

WA EH

BE=F=-—F+t=-A=t+—H

LtFE
Real estate Specialised
Segments 7 EB development construction Total
EERRE HEREE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FE&T FExT FET
Types of goods or services B R ER
Sales of properties SHEW 12,094,514 — 12,094,514
Specialised construction HEFERK
services — 321,444 321,444
Management services B AR 7% 416,519 — 416,519
Total revenue from contracts RKEBEFEHH
with customers WA 458 12,511,033 321,444 12,832,477
Geographical markets B %
Mainland China R A b 12,507,636 — 12,507,636
Hong Kong BE 3,397 321,444 324,841
Total revenue from contracts REBEFEHN
with customers WA 458 12,511,033 321,444 12,832,477
Timing of revenue DON AL
recognition
Properties transferred at a MERE K
point in time Ok 12,094,514 — 12,094,514
Specialised construction HEREERS
services transferred over BE Rr 8
time — 321,444 321,444
Management services E IR RIS B Ay
transferred over time fH 8% % 416,519 — 416,519
Total revenue from contracts RKERFPEAHH
with customers WA #E 58 12,511,033 321,444 12,832,477

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED®
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5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

(Continued)

(a)

5 YA

Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHAHEA (#)
Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) HAMZEF (&
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-—Z-_ZF+=-HA=+-—H
LEFE
Real estate Specialised
Segments 7 &b development construction Total
EHEZRE 8 e BET
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
T FHETT FHT
Types of goods or services & ¥ =% IR 3% %8 5l
Sales of properties SHEY % 6,826,439 — 6,826,439
Specialised construction BERRERS
services — 529,429 529,429
Management services BEERY 245,181 — 245,181
Total revenue from contracts RKEEFEHH
with customers WA 4258 7,071,620 529,429 7,601,049
Geographical markets B W%
Mainland China PR A 7,070,458 303,504 7,373,962
Hong Kong B 1,162 225,925 227,087
Total revenue from contracts RKERFPEAH
with customers WA 458 7,071,620 529,429 7,601,049
Timing of revenue W A e 52 B
recognition
Properties transferred at a E 3N iS
point in time BEE 6,826,439 — 6,826,439
Specialised construction HEFERK
services transferred over BiE FRF [ 8
time — 529,429 529,429
Management services E IR AR TS BE AT
transferred over time BEEE: 245,181 — 245,181
Total revenue from contracts RKEEFEHH
with customers WA 458 7,071,620 529,429 7,601,049
197 TEERRA A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

5. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 5 WAwm
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHKA (@)
(Continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) HAHZEF (E)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from LWTIARREEPEAMNKAESS
contracts with customers to the amounts disclosed in the ESERIPTH RS R R EER ¢

segment information:

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-—ZEZ-—+=-HA=+-—H
LEE
Real estate Specialised
Segments 2 EB development construction Total
EHERR HEXEE et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET THET TR

Revenue from contracts with REXF &K

customers PN
External customers HINEF 12,511,033 321,444 12,832,477
Inter-segment sales 7 EBE A — — —

12,511,033 321,444 12,832,477
Inter-segment adjustments and 4 B & #8 8& &
eliminations ¥ 65 — — -
Total revenue from contracts RKERFAEHH
with customers L PNERE] 12,511,033 321,444 12,832,477
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5.

(Continued)

(a)

REVENUE (CONTINUED) 5 WA@
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFESHHRA (&)
Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) WAHZEZER (&
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-—Z-_ZF+=-HA=+-—H
IEFEE
Real estate Specialised
Segments 7 &b development construction Total
FEiEZERE BXEE T
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHETT FATT FAT
Revenue from contracts with REEZEF S
customers KA
External customers VR 7,071,620 529,429 7,601,049
Inter-segment sales o BRI A — 45,520 45,520
7,071,620 574,949 7,646,569
Inter-segment adjustments and 2 2B A& &
eliminations ER i — (45,520) (45,520)
Total revenue from contracts REEFEAR
with customers PN R 7,071,620 529,429 7,601,049
Performance obligations (b) EHEM

(b)

—E - —F%

Information about the Group's performance obligations is
summarised below:

Real estate development

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
properties, the Group's performance does not create an
asset with alternative use to the Group. Taking into
consideration of the relevant contract terms, the legal
environment and relevant legal precedent, the Group
concluded that the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment prior to transfer of the relevant
properties to the customer. Revenue from sales of
properties is therefore recognised when the completed
property is transferred to customers, being at the point
that the customer obtains the control of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and
collection of the consideration is probable. Payment in
advance is normally required.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021

5.

o —F+-A=1+—H

REVENUE (CONTINUED) 5 WA @
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHAHNEA (#)
(Continued)
(b) Performance obligations (Continued) (b) BHEM (&)
Specialised construction B
The Group provides specialised construction services to AEBEREPRHEEERESE HE
customers. Such services are recognised as a performance e BHERBEEAS li‘ B
obligation satisfied over time as the Group creates or & B & P Hle & E é?
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset EERIEaRNERAEEKNNE
is created or enhanced. Revenue is recognised for these HEE - ZEREREHELAR
construction services based on the stage of completion of Be T ERERKRAETIA
the contract using input method. The payment is generally R RE—MNERERL A
due within 90 days from the date of billing. HBET0H N E| BT A o
The transaction price allocated to the remaining R-ZE-_—F+_A=+—HH»
performance obligations of sales of properties as at 31 REHEMERTHNBEORTN
December 2021 was HK$19,036,087,000 (31 December R 5B £19,036,087,0007% 7T (=
2020: HK$17,351,696,000) and is expected to be recognised E-_ZFTF+_A=+—8:
as revenue within two years. 17,351,696,0007% 7T ) & 78 B i 70 W
FAERBBNA °
6. OTHER INCOME 6. HAUg A
2021 2020
—E-—fF —EEF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Government subsidies (i) BT & B (i) 317 136,062
Dividend income Iz B a 59,922 53,008
Management fee income from fellow WERZMEARZ
subsidiaries EEBERA 4,813 6,295
Bargain purchase gain on acquisition of I iE — KK B A Al
interest in a subsidiary (note 36(a)) ZEBEEE W
(Bt #E36(a) — 111,889
Bargain purchase gain on acquisition of I — KB N R A
interest in an associate (note 17(b)) ZEBEBEWZE
(BEE17(0)) — 159,729
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) HEMNB AR s
(B &E37) — 955
Others HAt 26,538 28,007
91,590 495,945
MINMETALS LAND LIMITED® 200 ANNUAL REPORT 2021



6. OTHER INCOME (CONTINUED) 6. HAUWA @
(i) During the year ended 31 December 2020, a government subsidy of (i) BEZZTF+-_A=1+—HIFE &K
RMB121,000,000 (equivalent to HK$136,062,000) was awarded to the Group & [ 7 AR B R 1 JE 4R R FF & B121,000,0007T
in Mainland China. There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies ARHE (FBE 7136,062,000/87T) ° ZF & B

relating to the grant.

I R EPH R HAREIE

7. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 7. XEE&RHN

2021 2020
—E-—fF —EFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHETT
Cost of properties sold (i) B & HEK A ) 10,196,779 5,934,990
Cost of specialised construction BEEFEKK 291,474 481,853
Depreciation e 55,260 39,106
Auditor's remuneration Z SR BN & 3,650 4,580

Direct operating expenses incurred for BEESIWMA IR EME

investment properties that generated EEZHEEERY

rental income 11,912 14,349

Employee benefit expense (including EERMNZH (BREES
directors’ emoluments) (note 9) B <) (BT EE9) 323,565 235,597
(Reversal of impairment)/allowance for FECRE-E), RE
impairment of inventories B iE (47,598) 299,894
Net exchange loss/(gain) BE 3 E51E, (W) T & 5,949 (31,606)
0} Included in cost of properties sold are interest expenses of HK$619,054,000 0} BE&E B ERK A S £35619,054,00074 7T (=
(2020: HK$342,918,000). T4 : 342918000/ 7T) ZF B X i o
—E - E 201 hiEESRAT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o

31 December 2021

8.

S 25 e A Wi

—Z-—%+=-A=+—H

FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 8. BIBUWARKE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Finance income BRI
Interest income from bank deposits HRITE R B WA 84,572 38,209
Interest income from non-controlling LS ER B B8 R H) FE 12 %
shareholders of subsidiaries BR B 2 FI B WA 26,026 129,508
Interest income from an associate WH—REE & R T2
M EUA 1,788 42,147
Interest income from joint ventures WEE & RRZFE
WA 136,729 12,935
249,115 222,799
Finance costs B TS B AR
Bank borrowings wholly repayable within AR AFRNBEHER
five years ZBRITER 442,693 478,995
Bank borrowings not wholly repayable BEARAFANTEEER
within five years ZERITER 35,121 —
Other borrowings wholly repayable within ARAFRNEBHEER
five years 2 B AR 345,400 276,631
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGEZFE 3,599 3,982
826,813 759,608
Less: Amount capitalised as properties under & : LA ZAR{b 7 20 B A
development (i) BRAMEZ
& F () (663,737) (690,137)
163,076 69,471

(i) Borrowing costs were capitalised at rates ranging from 1.47% to 6.50% (2020: (i

1.51% to 6.50%) per annum.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED®
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9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

9. EERAIXH

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Wages, salaries and bonus IE - e kitsd 496,128 376,553
Pension costs — defined contribution BREKA — EBHER
plans (note 35) a1 &) (FFE35) 51,652 24,985
547,780 401,538
Less: Amount capitalised as properties B AE AT XA
under development BRERAYMEZSE (123,643) (90,057)
Less: Amount included in cost of sales W ETAHBER AR Z
o (52,285) (48,521)
Less: Amount included in selling and W ETAHE K& H
marketing expenses ERANZEE (48,287) (27,363)
323,565 235,597
There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the W SR AT H A S EEREE

Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of

contributions.

—E - —F%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 5 A B

31 December 2021

—Z-—%+=-A=+—H

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (conTINUED)

(a)

9 EER/ALZHm

Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM=
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 HE-T-_—F+=-A=+—8H
December 2021 is set out below: IEFE S5 2MeH0T
Employer’s
contribution to
Salaries and  Discretionary pension
Name of directors S Fees allowances bonuses scheme Tota
BikEsa
ne FeREH BT EEHX ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER TER TERT TER
Executive directors HTES
Mr. He Jianbo* BEEA - 347 1,563 63 1,973
Mr. Liu Bo 2K 4 - 324 1,485 63 1,872
Mr. Chen Xingwu B 7t - 305 1,329 63 1,697
Mr. Yang Shangping s - 1,788 1,066 68 2,922
Non-executive director FHTES
Ms. He Xiaoli A/NERL - 315 708 63 1,086
Independent non-executive ~ BIUFHTES
directors
Mr. Selwyn Mar BRREE 400 - - - 400
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy M B 390 — — — 390
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny BEWS T L 400 — - - 400
1,190 3,079 6,151 320 10,740

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED®
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9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(a)

—E - —F%

9 EEEANZHm

Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEM< @
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 HE-T-_ZTF+=-A=+—H
December 2020 is set out below: IEFE  SEE2MeH0T
Employer's
Salaries and Discretionary  contribution to
Name of directors =i Fees allowances bonuses pension scheme Total
RIS E
we  HekER RN EEHR ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT FTET T THT
Executive directors Y7ES
Mr. He Jianbo* BEEt = 32 1350 4 1676
Mr. Liu Bo () BB HEG) = 302 1276 4 1582
Mr. Liu Zeping (ii) 28115 4 A (i) — — — — —
Mr. Chen Xingwu B 5t & = 284 1,201 4 1489
Mr. Yang Shangping B EEE = 1,668 995 4 2,667
Non-executive director FHTES
Ms. He Xiaoll A/NERL = 292 651 4 947
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEER
directors
Mr. Selwyn Mar SHREREE 400 = = = 400
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy WHEEE 390 — — — 390
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny BEWS T L 400 — — — 400
1,190 2,868 5473 20 9,551

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive director's and independent non-

executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services as directors of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o

31 December 2021

9.

S 25 e A Wi

—F-—#+-A=+-8

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (cONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
Discretionary bonuses were determined by the
management with regard to the performance of the
Directors and the Group's operating results.

During the year, no directors of the Company waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments (2020: Nil).

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to the Directors as an inducement to join or as
compensation for loss of office (2020: Nil).

The executive director marked “*" above is also considered
as the chief executive of the Group and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for services rendered by him
as the chief executive.

(i) Appointed on 26 March 2020

(i) Resigned on 26 March 2020

(b) Five highest-paid individuals
In 2021, five highest-paid individuals in the Group include
two (2020: two) directors. These directors’ emoluments are
disclosed in (a) above. Details of the emoluments of the
remaining three (2020: three) individuals are as follows:

(a)

(b)

9 EEEANZHm

EEME @
MIEEAMERET REEFRA
RARGEEEXERET -

FA ABRNRBDEZTREXRF
ERECAME (T _FF:
&)

FAAEERERAERESS
NS ERBRIIMAREE 2 82
B ERBERMEE (T _FF
&)

BRI ZHTEETREAAE
B2 THRAE  HR EXRERN
& B EETTRAAEIR M
RGO E -

(l) E/Q\ 7—75'5 H +/\E|
EZRE

iy MZTE_ZTF=A=_+,H
BT

FEESFMAL
R-ZE-_—F AEBREES
FMATFRBEREZ(ZEZZ
F MB)ES -HESTMeR L
@QEHRFEE E#H=R(ZFT=
TEZZ) ALEZBISFBOT

2021 2020
—E-—F —E_FF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FAT
Salaries and allowances e MEBRL 4,979 5,108
Discretionary bonuses BB IEAT 1,474 1,600
Employer's contributions to pension BARSEEIEEHK
schemes 240 189
6,693 6,897
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9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (conTINUED) 9
(b) Five highest-paid individuals (Continued)

EBEERFZH @

(b) EERBEHMAL @

The emoluments fell within the following bands: e &HELT -

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF

HKS$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T Z 2,000,000
BT 1 _

HKS$2,000,001-HKS$2,500,000 2,000,001 % 7T Z 2,500,000
BT 1 2

HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T Z 3,000,000
BT 1 1
3 3

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to these individuals as an inducement to join or as

FAAEERERAZEALX
NHEERSBIIMARNKEEZ 2

compensation for loss of office (2020: Nil). B ERBEBEE (T4
) o
10. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES RECOGNISED 10. HHREEEEREE NRE
UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, BiERE
NET
2021 2020
—EZ—F —ETF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T
Impairment losses recognised on trade BSRWARENEE
receivables and contract assets VERIEY k| 13,640 14,534
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 44(a)(ii). BB AT A 5 15 5 B 2 44(a) i) ©
207 TEERRA A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FiI8HEAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong. Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, the first
HK$2,000,000 (2020: HK$2,000,000) of the profits of qualifying
group entities established in Hong Kong have been taxed at
8.25%, and profits above that amount have been subject to the
tax rate of 16.5%. The profits of the group entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rate regime have been continued to
be taxed at a rate of 16.5%.

The PRC enterprise income tax had been calculated on the
estimated assessable profit for the year derived in Mainland
China at the rate of 25% (2020: 25%).

Land appreciation tax is levied at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds of sales of properties less deductible expenditures
including costs of land and development and construction
expenditures.

BEFBRTIARB BB 2 T R
HmAIZ165% (ZFE =T F 1 165%) 25t
KEHR - RIBFIS B ARG - REBK
VKA EBERERE M 20000008 T

— T =~ T4 12,000,000 L) i A %
8.25% MR R BT - MiBBZ M=
E16.5% MR - T&BRERAFIE
TR AR < S BB B R & F EE1Z16.5%
BT =T o

FEMERSHRIIAREREREFERA
2 AR afiR2s%n (2 =%
F 0 25%) 2 EFTHE -

TR ERF B L EEZEE (B
EYEMSFRIBMR AR H (21
THIRR A « BR MRS L)) RRER
R 130% 2 60% UL °

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET

Current tax BV EA % 18
PRC enterprise income tax PR EMER 842,018 194,310
PRC enterprise income tax refund FE B RRE — (245,214)
PRC land appreciation tax AR A 3 1 (E R 13,934 130,557
Hong Kong profits tax BHEMER 21 1,410
855,973 81,063
Deferred tax (note 30) REBIE (H15E30) (423,846) 290,007
432,127 371,070
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1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

Tax charge on the Group's profit before tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average
tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as

follows:

11. FRS %R 3 ()

REBBBETADEN 2 HIAM X - EE
FHL}EHE/\\,Z SEB &N MEFER
K #Fﬁ EReBIERENT

2021 2020
—EC—-F —TF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FHT
Profit before tax B 5% B A 1,063,934 808,410
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable 3% 3@ FE A #8 B8 3 [ s 7| =~
to profits in the respective regions EMB R E BB 312,343 243,210
Land appreciation tax TR ET 13,934 130,557
Tax effect of land appreciation tax THIEER R (3,484) (32,639)
Share of results of associates DI E R R EE 66,002 (1,117)
Share of results of joint ventures Pak(Sh=R-WNCIE ¥ (12,063) 565
Income not subject to tax B ZH R 2 WA (90,018) (126,754)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes AR Bz X 86,871 95,967
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax BRFAIRER TG
losses &8 (30,035) (39,562)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised AR A ARER Y
temporary differences =% (23,711) (31,502)
Adjustment in respect of current tax of B HE N SR E
previous period fEH B 8 B 24,441 —
Tax losses/deductible temporary differences ﬂiﬁﬁu/ﬁﬁﬁ%)@ﬁﬁ/—ﬁﬂm
not recognised R E R M B 87,847 132,345
Tax charge MIEFR 432,127 371,070

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 29.4% (2020:
30.1%). The year-on-year change is primarily caused by a change
in the relative profitability of the Company’s subsidiaries in the

respective regions.

—E - — &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o

31 December 2021

12.

13.

S 25 e A Wi

—F-—#+-A=+-8

DIVIDENDS

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK1.0 cent (2020: HK1.0 cent) and a special dividend of HK1.0
cent (2020: HK1.0 cent) per ordinary share with total amount of
HK$66,938,000 (2020: HK$66,938,000). These dividends are to be
approved by the shareholders at the annual general meeting of
the Company to be held on 26 May 2022. These consolidated
financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable.

A final dividend and a special dividend in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2020 of each of HK1.0 cent per ordinary
share totalling HK$66,938,000 (2020: final dividend in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2019 of HK8.0 cents per ordinary
share totalling HK$267,753,000) were recognised as distribution
during the year.

EARNINGS PER SHARE — BASIC AND
DILUTED

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year.

Since there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares, the diluted
earnings per share is equal to basic earnings per share.

12.

13.

iz B

EFZBRN KRR SR T B0

fUJ(fo?E 1.0780) REFRIRES
BARIOBILN(ZZEZZFF 1 108

MJ) E%@%ﬁﬁ%,%gooo/%m(_z:g

F : 66,938,000/ 7L) © 2 F IR B AR

$E$Z\\ﬂﬁ/§:g::¢£ﬂ +/\E|

BITZRFBFAG LHE - HEHE
MR ARG AR B AE

MEBEE T -_ZTF+_A=+—HItHF
&2 RERE B R AF R B AR T B AR &
1.0/l - 42%8 566,938,000/8 L (—ZF —
TF pREE T NFF+_A=1—
HIEFE 2RI B TR T BA%8.0%E
il » 4858 5267,753,00056 70 ) RANEED

BDIK °
BREMN —EXREE
BRERBNITERARRIRERE AR

ORI LA PO B BT ERAR 2 M
SRBEH -

BRI KRB TR 2 BT LAk
WEkE RN EgRERRFER

2021 2020
—EC--F —EFoFTE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHEx FHT
Profit attributable to equity holders of the RARREFREA

Company JE {58 7] 89,209 112,370
2021 2020
Number of Number of
shares shares
PR 8 A% &
‘000 ‘000
TR T 1%

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 4 [N B 217 @A% 2 hnie
in issue during the year TR 3,346,908 3,346,908
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14. ¥ BERRE
M- BERRFEZHHOT

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Leasehold Furniture,
land and Leasehold fixtures and Motor
buildings improvements Machinery equipment vehicles Total
HEL HEWE KA £EB
RkEF £ e T ] k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FHET FTHET FAET FHET
Year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ-Z--%5+=8
=t+-ALFE
At 1 January 2021 R=ZFE=—%F—f—H 212,407 26,657 2,227 10,498 7,491 259,280
Exchange differences ERER 5,203 — 24 338 203 5,768
Additions NE — - 222 5,968 1,307 7,497
Transfer from inventories BYATE 272,476 — — — - 272,476
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—KME R A — - 75 - 411 486
Disposals & (89) (8) - (159) (27) (283)
Transfer to investment properties (i) BB EREWE () (2,161) — — - - (2,161)
Depreciation nE (30,581) (17,743) (265) (4,293) (2,378) (55,260)
At 31 December 2021 RZZE-—%+=A
=1+—~H 457,255 8,906 2,283 12,352 7,007 487,803
At 31 December 2021 WZZEZ—%+_A
=+—H
Cost B 543,695 37,671 3,338 45,113 24,291 654,108
Accumulated depreciation ZEHERAE
and impairment (86,440) (28,765) (1,055) (32,761) (17,284) (166,305)
Net book amount REFE 457,255 8,906 2,283 12,352 7,007 487,803
Year ended 31 December 2020 HEZ-Z-Z5+-A
=+-ALFE
At 1 January 2020 R=ZZE=ZTF—-[—H 243,851 1,821 4234 8,807 4,078 262,791
Exchange differences ERER 3,002 1 62 645 432 4152
Additions AE 765 30,779 1,190 5,584 5515 43,833
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 36(a)) KE—RKHBAF
(Pt 7E36(2) 3,676 = 3 1,905 813 6397
Disposals HE (163) - 1) (355) (340) (949)
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 37) HEHB AR (FE37) (12,200) (1434) (1,826) (1,903) (475) (17,838)
Depreciation nE (26,524) (4,520) (1,345) (4,185) (2,532) (39,106)
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-FF+=A
=1+—~H 212,407 26,657 2227 10,498 7,491 259,280
At 31 December 2020 RZZ_ZTF+_A
=+—H
Cost BN 268,833 37,679 2,968 39,872 22,355 371,707
Accumulated depreciation ZEHERAE
and impairment (56,426) (11,022) (741) (29,374) (14,864) (112,427)
Net book amount REFE 212,407 26,657 2,227 10498 7,491 259,280
—F R 211 TEERRA A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

14.

(i) At the end of both reporting periods, the Group's buildings were erected

on land under medium-term and long-term leases in Hong Kong and a

long-term lease in Mainland China, respectively.

(ii) The amount transferred to investment properties upon the end of owner

occupation included the carrying value of the property, plant and

equipment amounting to HK$2,161,000 (2020:Nil) with fair value change

recognised in other comprehensive income of approximately HK$39,424,000

(2020:Nil) during the year ended 31 December 2021.

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15.

The Group leases out various properties under operating leases
with rentals receivable monthly. The leases have an initial terms

of 1 to 15 years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of
the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the
respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease

contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s

MR- BERSKRE@®

0] REEREREE  AEEBFOHIRES
R EARBRER AR RPEE R &HHE
Sty FEE o

(ii) HE_ZT-_—+-A=+—HIEFE &
XFERERGCEREREMEZSER
EWE - BB K& 2 BREE2,161,0005 7T
ZETF ) URHEMRERESEER
NAREEEN439,4240008 T (ZE-TF :
) o

BREWR
AEBSERES RS EDENR
Wi A S - TAE AR E 154 o

$E@jf,4ﬁlfﬁgf?zﬁkﬁﬁ7¥(§’il\ﬁgﬂ

CEARAHERSEEREA Y
éﬁ‘ﬁbﬁ%aﬂﬁ HMEANOTEBHERE
RE/HEBAREREREBEEWE
ZIBERE

option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.

2021 2020
—B=—F —TE_TF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHT
At fair value BRARE
At beginning of the year F 2,507,388 2,366,668
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 36(a)) Wi — KM E A A
(BT EE36(a)) — 114,957
Transfer from property, plant and equipment % 8 Y% « FE MR E 41,585 =
Additions NE 257,873 52,072
Fair value changes on investment properties MR IEzENER Z R E Y
recognised in profit or loss DR EEE (153,467) (50,586)
Exchange differences ME H =5 11,414 24277
At end of the year F IR 2,664,793 2,507,388

As at 31 December 202

1, the Group did not pledge any

investment properties as collateral for bank borrowings (2020:

Nil).

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED®
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15.

The investment properties were fair-valued at 31 December 2021
by Cushman & Wakefield Limited, an independent valuer (2020:
Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited and Cushman & Wakefield
Limited). The valuation for investment properties was arrived at
by considering the income capitalisation of the properties or,
where appropriate, by reference to market evidence of
transaction prices for similar properties in the same locations and
conditions as direct comparison. In estimating the fair value of
the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their
current use.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting
periods are as follows:

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REWHE @)

BREWER-_FT_—F+-_A=+—H
ZAREBRBIGEMBEERITEARA
AEFGHE(CE_ZTF  BRNEE
HEERARAREBERTERA
A) REMENBELEEMEZK
HZEMERBEENELBMEREME
ERELRUNERETSRS  FAE
BLE - EAAMELAER B
ERERSMRERS -

RBEMEA - AEBREVER LA
BEERERMT :

Fair value

as at

31 December

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2021

ARER

—_E-—5F

+=A

£ == 11} E=H =+—H

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET FET FET

In Hong Kong L RE — 45,800 1,967,000 2,012,800
In Mainland China LA B A — 41,585 610,408 651,993
Fair value

as at

31 December

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2020

NAER

—E-FF

+=A

— F_H E=MR =+—H

HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FHET T FHET

In Hong Kong URE — 42,500 1,988,000 2,030,500
In Mainland China LA A B A i — 385,788 91,100 476,388
—E-—F®R 213 hiEESRAT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cONTINUED)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 (2020: Nil).

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within

15. BREWE @)

EEW ’ %_ﬁ&&éﬁ—n&%/[, {EE‘I’%ZF&

VEER(ZF=

THEE)

BERFE=RAAEBRARAENE

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: ZHER
HK$'000
FHET
Carrying amount at 1 January 2020 RZZEZZTF—HA—HZ
AREE 2,294,420
Transfer to level 2 HEREEE R (157,290)
Exchange differences bE 2= 5,547
Fair value changes on investment properties recognised in REEERZIRESE
profit or loss NI EEE) (63,577)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 RZE_ZTF+— ﬂ
=+—BRZ=ZZT=—%
—A—HZEREE 2,079,100
Transfer from level 2 HEAEZ 385,788
Additions NE 257,873
Exchange differences EE%%E 11,414
Fair value changes on investment properties recognised in RIETHERZIREWE
profit or loss N EZE (156,767)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—F+=H
=t+—HZEKEE 2,577,408
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15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cONTINUED)

The following table gives information about how the fair values

of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the
valuation techniques and key inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (Levels 2 to 3) based on the degree to which the key
inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated

15. REYE @)
TRIBHRNNETCREMELAABZE
O E R P B e B BT & &
AEE) URBERES ASESEQ
/MEJEH’]T'%E/TJ&J*EEE’A/LME%%
EAREEFTPHNLB(E_REF=
4 )o

“E—FHK

statement of financial Fair value Valuation techniques and
position hierarchy key inputs Significant unobservable inputs
REPBRRRP
AEBEZREWE DNREER fh{E BT % R 2 o A 838 ERTABREzZWARE
Property 1 in Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit
Hong Kong market rental income and unit market value of the
comparable properties of 3% (2020: 3% to 3.25%)
EEWE FE=R WA (Ll e e %FTE%F%%ZEW%&%%E@W
ARBATISEEZ3%(ZTZFF : 3%53.25%)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking
1. Reversionary yield; and into account of similar characteristics, location and sizes,
2. Market unit rent of from HK$40.8/sq.ft/month to HK$54/sq.ft./month (2020:
individual unit from HK$43.7/s5q.ft/month to HK$57/sq.ft./month)
@%%A%ﬁ%' MBS MAEETSLREIEY A= BAUE
BlEE K f%k ug&ﬁ%& HEBRAEFHRI0SBITEMAET
.1IEIJ BUMMISEMHES —E-TF - ABAGTHIRBIELESTET)
Property 2 in Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
Hong Kong rental income and unit market value of the comparable
properties of 3.25% to 3.5% (2020: 3.5% to 3.75%)
i k/EY BE= WASE EElER %J’ETﬁtmﬁ#@%Zilﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%l&
AR BATISEEZ325%E35%(Z B -FF :35%%
3.75%)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking
1. Reversionary yield; and into account of similar characteristics, location and sizes,
2. Market unit rent of from HK$23/sq.ft/month to HK$33/sq.ft/month (2020: from
individual unit HKSZS/sq ft/month to HK$36/sq.ft./month)
BRBAZIER BEMES RAEETSLRERY B ZEHELURF
TERRER: & fik UERRE MEAESFHIRBETEIBET
2 ERIE AR TIREMES (Z2=ZF - B AT TFAHARBETEHET)
Other properties Level 2 Direct comparison method N/A
in Hong Kong based on market observable
transactions of similar
properties and adjusted to
reflect the conditions and
locations of the subject
property
EREMYE E-® HELBEENBLUYXZz TEA
ISR BER S WAEFHE
VAR BREZ 1) 3 2 61 %
&
215 TEEERRAE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2021 =%

15.

——&+=A=+-A

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cONTINUED)

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated

15. REYE )

statement of financial Fair value Valuation techniques and
position hierarchy key inputs Significant unobservable inputs
REMBRR KD
AEBEZREWHE DNAREER fh{E R T &% BE 2 i A BU3& EXTABRZEARE
Property 3 in Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
Mainland China (2020: Direct comparison rental income and unit market value of the comparable
method and income properties of 2.5% (2020: 8%)
method)
R A3 P % 3 E=R WASE ERRER  ZRAUALEMEZFEELTHEDS K
(ZE-ZF  ERUEBE ARENTHEEZ25%(ZT=FF : 8%)
R AE)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking
1. Reversionary yield; and into account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, of
2. Market unit rent of HK$76.1/sq.m/month (2020: Market unit rate, taking into
individual unit account the recent transaction prices for similar properties
(2020: Market unit rate) adjusted for nature, location and conditions of the
property, being HK$20,765/5g.m)
RRBABIER MIZEMES - KAEEDSLREE Y A ZBAUE
TESKEE & B LERSE FAGFHRI6IBT(ZE 24
zﬁﬁ“umm%ﬁuﬁ% MIZEMER  ZRBUMEZIRRZE LY
E2HE - B RAMRIEL AR - BEFJ5K20,7657%8
iuﬁﬁ) 7T)
Property 4 in Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
Mainland China (2020: Direct comparison rental income and unit market value of the comparable
method and income properties of 4.5% (2020: 7.5%)
method)
lEa ik e E=/R WATE Blhakx ZRMEALBEYEZFEEMTSESK
(Z2-ZF  GRUEBE 7\&$1_Lﬁ?i’%fﬁﬁz45%(f—«f?$ 7.5%)
RWAE)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking
1. Reversionary yield; and into account of similar characteristics, location and sizes,
2. Market unit rent of from HK$51.4/sq.m/month to HK$66.0/sq.m/month (2020:
individual unit Market unit rate, taking into account the recent
(2020: Market unit rate) transaction prices for similar properties adjusted for nature,
location and conditions of the property, being HK$39,983/
sg.m)
RRBABIER MIZEMES - KAEETSLREE L B ZBAUE
TESKEE & B UERSRER AEBRAEFHKRI4EBTE60ET
2 (BRI B TS BT S (ZZ-TF : MHEMER  ZRAUYMEZTHR
(ZZZZF W5 SE UnWEIME  LERRRELRAE BT
BRER) 75 K39,9837 7T )
Property 5 in Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
Mainland China (2020: Direct comparison rental income and unit market value of the comparable
method and income properties of 3.5% (2020: 8%)
method)
B %S E W ASE ERRER  ZRAUEALBYEZFEELTSES K

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED®

(ZZ=TF  FBEHEE
R AE)
The key inputs are:
1. Reversionary yield; and
2. Market unit rent of
individual unit
(2020: Market unit rate)

M AREA
1ERREER &
2 (BRI TR B A &
(ZZE=ZTF :mH
BALE)

216

ARBMNTBEBEZ35% (T _FF : 8%)

Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking
into account of similar characteristics, location and sizes, of
HK$51.5/sq.m/month (2020: Market unit rate, taking into
account the recent transaction prices for similar properties
adjusted for nature, location and conditions of the
property, being HK$13,070/5g.m)

MISEMES - FKAEEDS L REE Y A Z B
B B EAE - BAEFIIR15ETL( 2

TISBAER  ZEAUMEZERZHE Aot
%Zﬁ% B RARREL AR - BIETF5K13,070%
7T)
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15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated

15. REYE @)

statement of financial Fair value Valuation techniques and
position hierarchy key inputs Significant unobservable inputs
FEEBBRRKF
rEBZREYH AREBR fEE M % B R\ A 25 EXTUBRZEARE
Property 6 in Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
Mainland China (2020: (2020: Direct comparison rental income and unit market value of the comparable
Level 2) method based on market properties of 6.5% (2020: N/A)
observable transactions of
similar properties and adjust
to reflect the conditions and
locations of the subject
property)
AR A Y%k 6 E=M WASE EREKER ZEAEEBMECFEEUMSESK
(ZZ2=ZF (ZZ_ZF: 5BELERE ARBNTIBEEZ6%(ZE=FF : TEHA)
FEZH) ERBUMEZ TS5 8
B2 ZEFRBIARMRZ
MEZ G RLE)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking
1. Reversionary yield; and into account of similar characteristics, location and sizes,
2. Market unit rent of from HK$73.9/sq.m/month to HK$164.0/sq.m/month
individual unit (2020: N/A)
(2020: N/A)
RS ABIER MiSBMNES - RABEETSHLREEYN B Z EE MU
TERKREE Rk B RBRHE  BEABTHKBIBITEI6408T
2fERI B TS BAES (Z2=ZF : T@ER)
(ZZE=ZF : TER)
Property 7 in Level 3 Income method Reversionary yield, taking into account annual unit market
Mainland China (2020: (2020: Direct comparison rental income and unit market value of the comparable
Level 2) method based on market properties of 4.5% (2020: N/A)
observable transactions of
similar properties and adjust
to reflect the conditions and
locations of the subject
property)
AR A 57 F=® WA SE ERENEE ZEAUELBYEZFEEUTSHESH
(Z2 =25 (ZEZTF - ERILEE ARBUTHEEZ45%(ZF_2F : TNER)
EZR) ey M EARE IR
BER WA BIARMRZ
MEZGERLE)
The key inputs are: Market unit rent, using direct market comparables and taking
1. Reversionary yield; and into account of similar characteristics, location and sizes,
2. Market unit rent of from HK$24.8/sq.m/month to HK$118.0/sq.m/month
individual unit (2020: N/A)
(2020: N/A)
BREAZIRR M5B ES - RAEETSLREIRY B Z BB
TESKEE & B UBRRE  HERAEFIIR48EITENCOET
zﬂ%“umm%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ (ZZE=ZF : T@ER)
(ZZ=2F : NEA)
Other properties Level 2 Direct comparison method N/A
In Mainland China based on market observable
transactions of similar
properties and adjusted to
reflect the conditions and
locations of the subject
property
FR B A 3 L it 1) 3 ER BELBEENALUYXz TEA

“E—FR

MG AR 5 (FHE
VAR IR 3% 40 3 22 {6k A e 2
B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15.
Increase in the reversionary yield would result in a decrease in
the fair value of the investment properties. Increase in the
market unit rent or market unit rate would result in an increase

in the fair value of the investment properties, and vice versa.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the
Group uses market observable data to the extent it is available.

BREYE @

ERKAENE  WEMLEY AL EY
I - AR B HmSER AL RmisE
R ERBE BEAPEY AL ERS
R 2 IR o

Efﬁ#&ﬁ%%ﬁ’]’”ﬂﬁﬂf REEFE
REEERA™ S A BREE - $%@E’Ja

The management of the Group works closely with the valuer to ﬁ@iﬁiﬁfﬁﬁfﬁ? A1E - LB EEED
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and key inputs to BT & B8 A BUE -
the model.
16. LEASES 16. HE
The Group as lessee EEBEREEA
(@ Lease liabilities @ MEaHE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E_FTHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Lease liabilities payable EAAEEE
Within 1 year —FR 35,115 30,069
110 2 years —FEMEF 15,005 33,005
210 5 years MEZRF 1,385 14,669
51,505 77,743
Less: Amount due for settlement W ERBBEETNZ
after 1 year shown under 1FEERZ
non-current liabilities i} (16,390) (47,674)
Amount due for settlement within 1 year REVBBEIE N Z1FER
shown under current liabilities FEf 2 & 58 35,115 30,069
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied picigas Ffﬂfﬁ%ﬁ']ﬂﬂ%iﬁ iai%?ﬂﬂ
to lease liabilities range from 4.3% to 6.0% (2020: from EHEN F43%E60%0(Z T =T F :
4.3% to 6.0%). 43%ZE6.0%) ©
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16. LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

(b)

—E - —F%

Right-of-use assets (including in the property, plant and

16. HE @)
AREBEBAEA @)

(b)

ERAEEE GIAME  BEER

equipment) )
2021 2020
—B-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER T

Buildings BF

Carrying amount at year end FREREE 30,218 54,547
Depreciation charge for the year FARITE 25,201 24,130
Additions to right-of-use assets EREEEZRE — 677
The Group leases offices for its operations. Lease contracts AEBHERDNEAREE - F7

are entered into for fixed term of 3 to 5 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

RIVHEESNEHRRE RIES
FoHBIEREER MEAZ A
A R B A o EETE AR R FF
AR REAR s RER - A%
BEAGHOZEEREEANA
1T 2 HIR -

In addition, the Group owns several office buildings. The o REBEEZERAE
Group is the registered owner of these property interests, FoAEERBZEMERER 2T
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum MEEA SEHEHRE T -
payments were made upfront to acquire these property WEZEYEERRE —£8X
interests. The leasehold land components of these owned NHFEBE -ZEEEVWECHES
properties are presented separately only if the payments HER D B AE 2 5IME R RE P
made can be allocated reliably. FEHBCH ©
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases (0 HEEREZERORBLT :
are as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGEFE 3,599 3,982
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets (& ERER X 25,201 24,130
Expense relating to short-term leases HESHAESBEN
95 21,511 16,481
Total amount recognised in profit or loss  RAIBz5TER R 4458 50,311 44,593
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—F-—#+-A=+-8

16. LEASES (CONTINUED)

16. HE @)

The Group as lessee (Continued)
(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 38(c)
to the financial statements.

The Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) consisting
of 8 commercial properties in Mainland China and 6 commercial
properties in Hong Kong under operating lease arrangements.
None of the Group's properties held for rental purposes have
been disposed of since the end of the reporting period.

At 31 December 2021, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

REBERAMEA @)
(d) %ﬂ%mﬁimutﬂﬂgﬁﬁﬁgﬁ/\ﬁjfi
R HIEE38(0)

AEEEAEHAA
REFERBESEHELTHHEEERLEY
¥ (MisE15) » BIEFR B A AISIEE %
MERBEENCEEBEDE - BREH
RIAZR - AEE & HETRIERER
BERWE -

R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H &x&H
RIFTATAHENEEHET  AIREPS
UER SRR AR BEER B0 R BRI T

2021 2020
—E-—F BT
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
Within one year —FR 55,454 65,387
In the second year —4F 32,876 44,401
In the third year =% 19,845 23,809
In the fourth year FEF 13,340 13,946
In the fifth year FRF 9,126 9,346
After five years AFE 10,044 45338
140,685 202,227
17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 17. RBE QR 2R

(a) Investments (a) ?ﬁﬁ
2021 2020
—B=-—fF —ETF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHT
At beginning of the year F9) 3,472,096 1,123,361
Acquisition of interests in associates g NG — 2,159,059
Exchange differences ME H =58 97,917 185,207
Share of results of associates DREEE QRS (264,007) 4,469
At end of the year Far 3,306,006 3,472,096
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(a)

— = —

=

F

Investments (Continued)
Details of the Group's associates are as follows:

17. REtE ATl 2 R @)
(a) ®WE#E)
A B BRI

held by the Group

Proportion of
equity interest Proportion of

voting rights held

Place of at by the Group at
incorporation and 31 December 2021 31 December 2021
Name of entity Principal activities operation and 2020 and 2020
K=®=—fF  Ro®=—f&
R=%=%F  R-F-%F
+=ZA=+-B +=ZA=+-H
rEERE rEERE
BREEB TEEHR BN ES-$u1 i 2 2 L 51 RERE LB
BYEERXRHEREERAR Real estate development  Mainland China 50% 40%
(Langfang Wanheng Shengye
Property Development Co., Ltd.)
(“Langfang Wanheng”) (i)
BhEERXEHEREERAR FEiERR B At
(TEBsHEED ()
LTREBEREXARAA Real estate development Mainland China 51% 40%
(Beijing Minmetals Vanke Real
Estate Co,, Ltd.)
(“Beijing Minmetals Vanke") (i)
LTREBEREXARAA FEHERR B A
(MHEREBTEER) ()
AEMEREEXERAA Real estate development Mainland China 49% 49%
(Tianjin Yijiahe Real Estate Company
Limited) (“Tianjin Yijiahe") (i)
REMEEABEFARAA FEHEER B A
(TREEESRD )
HEZERAEEAR AR Real estate development Mainland China 50% 40%

(Hunan Greenland Financial City
Property Development Co., Ltd.)
("Hunan Greenland”) (ii)

AR SRR BERXARAF R E#ERE
(IHms L) ()
(0] These companies are sino-foreign equity joint ventures established

in Mainland China with operating periods of 30 years. The Group
accounts for its investments in these companies as associates as it
only exercises significant influence over the investees by minority
representation in the boards of directors. Pursuant to Articles of
Association, the Company has the right to cast 40% of the votes at
shareholders’ meetings of Langfang Wanheng, and 40% of the

votes at shareholders’ meetings of Beijing Minmetals Vanke.

(if) During the year of 2020, the Group acquired 49% equity interest in
Tianjin Yijiahe and 50% equity interest in Hunan Greenland. The
Group accounts for its investments in these companies as
associates as it only exercises significant influence over the
investees by minority representation in the boards of directors.
Pursuant to Articles of Association, the Company has the right to
cast 49% of the votes at shareholders’ meetings of Tianjin Yijiahe,
and 40% of the votes at shareholders’ meetings of Hunan

Greenland.

221

R EIA

(0]

(ii)

ZER B RN B A MRS 2 Sh
BELE  EEHRF - -ARA
SEENZWERE T BHEBRBES
BLBRRTEEAFZEN  BH
BN ZER T ZRE ARSI R
RE - RBEARER  NARRE
T EBRRARRH40% R RE -
AERIERABERBRRAGIFE
40%H R ERHE

REZZ_TF  AEEREREE
325 49% Y R 48 K 08 R 4% 1 509 A A%
o ARAEEHNZWIRE R E
ERBEREGLERRITEEAY
27 MABRZEARZEREA
Ry AR E AR - RIEARIER -
AARRNKEREERERERHE
49%HIIEERE - LA R AR AR R
KEHHA0%HIHZHE -

ARBERRDA
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

—Z-—%+=-A=+—H

(b) Summarised financial information of
associates
Summarised financial information in respect of material

associates of the Group is set out below. The summarised

financial information below represents amounts shown in

the associates’ financial statements prepared in accordance

17. REE QR 2 s )

(b) EtgEL TZEJH'%ﬁ#HﬁEE

AEBEABERRZHMBEER
BEFIH T - THI 7% E R
RHEEVNBE AR BREK
N SRDIRBEFBMBREE

with HKFRSs. AlmEL -
Langfang Wanheng BBLr B e
2021 2020
—E-—F BT
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR FHT
Current assets MENEE 2,707,786 2,569,965
Non-current assets FERBEE 3,392 3,323
Current liabilities mEBEE 2,385,995 2,240,483
2021 2020
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Revenue for the year REZRKA 219,610 —
Loss for the year RNEREEE (17,131) (8911)
Other comprehensive income for the year 74 & H fth 2 @ WA 9,509 20,201
Total comprehensive (expense)/income AEEE2E(FAX)/
for the year WA 458 (7,622) 11,290
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

17. REEE DTl 2 = @|)

(b) Summarised financial information of (b) BMEQNTRZHMBERBE
associates (Continued) (&)
Langfang Wanheng (Continued) B85 B 1E (4)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial P BERBIEEEHEER
information to the carrying amount of the Group's interest BEVBBRRAMER I AEER
in Langfang Wanheng recognised in the consolidated e e ARENE < $ R
financial statements:
2021 2020
—EC--F —E-THE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR T
Net assets of the associate B Nl BEFHE 325,183 332,805
Proportion of the Group's interest in AEBRBHEEZ
Langfang Wanheng T 2 tE 151 50% 50%
2021 2020
—B-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR T
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in N B A Bs 37 & 18
Langfang Wanheng B2 RHEE 162,591 166,402
Beijing Minmetals Vanke IREEER
2021 2020
—B-—F —EZF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TR FHT
Current assets MENE E 2,128,408 2,123,140
Non-current assets FEMENE E 124 3,579
Current liabilities mEna & 21,148 79,688
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 17.
(b) Summarised financial information of

B = N R 2 i ()
m)%““?ZMﬁﬁﬂ&E

associates (Continued) (&)

Beijing Minmetals Vanke (Continued) It REEER (E)
2021 2020
—B=-—F —E_TF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
Revenue for the year REZA — 22,961
Profit for the year N [Z g A 261 35,979
Other comprehensive income for the year ZN4F[Z H b 2 U A 60,092 123,594
Total comprehensive income for the year AN E 2 HE UK A 4258 60,353 159,573

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the Group's interest

EXHBEHNR BRI RAREE
MRGa M BERRAMERZA

in Beijing Minmetals Vanke recognised in the consolidated SEREEFREEZHE:
financial statements:
2021 2020
—E-—& —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Net assets of the associate BEE AR BEEFE 2,107,384 2,047,031
Proportion of the Group's interest in Beijing ANEBRI R AKES
Minmetals Vanke B2 #E 2 b 1 51% 51%
2021 2020
—EBC-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in  ANEB Rt R ATES
Beijing Minmetals Vanke BiigEam < REE 1,074,766 1,043,986
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17. RS Q7] 2 m @
(b) BMELQRZHMBENMRE

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(b) Summarised financial information of

associates (Continued) (%)
Tianjin Yijiahe XEEEAS
2021 2020
—E-—F T
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T T
Current assets TMENE E 22,496,670 24,504,639
Non-current assets FERBEE 83 5177
Current liabilities iE2E=RiT 13,137,751 15,179,132
Non-current liabilities EmEBBE 5,628,870 5,451,521
From 2 September
2020 (Date of
acquisition) to
2021 31 December 2020
RN_TB_TF
AA=H
(1451 EA)=
—EEF
2% +-A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHE T
Revenue for the year/period NEFEHARE YA 6,229,082 —
Loss for the year/period NEE R E B (258,973) (40,831)
Other comprehensive income for the year/ A4 JE,HARH ith
period 2HE A 109,942 192,351
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for A4 HifS & H
the year/period GEIVL . ON L (149,031) 151,520
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
(b) Summarised financial information of
associates (Continued)
Tianjin Yijiahe (Continued)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the Group's interest

17. ¥

BENT Z2ER @

(#&)

XREBES (F)

(b) BELQRZMBENMRE

_}:Xﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁgéﬁi%i%‘%é
RIFEMBERERAMERZAS

in Tianjin Yijiahe recognised in the consolidated financial E S ARE E 2 H AR
statements:
2021 2020
—E=-—F —E_FF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Net assets of the associate B Nl BEFHE 3,730,132 3,879,163
Proportion of the Group's interest in Tianjin NEBR K EEEZE
Yijiahe 2 Kz b 49% 49%
2021 2020
—E-—F —EF-THE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in NEBR K EERZS
Tianjin Yijiahe B2 RHEE 1,827,765 1,900,790

Bargain purchase gain arose in the acquisition of Tianjin

WEREERAELEZZERE

Yijiahe: g
HKS$'000
FHET
Consideration transferred BEERE 1,666,816
Less: Fair value of 49% equity interest acquired B PTUR BB 4900 A% AR 25 2
AVI:] (1,826,545)
Bargain purchase gain =EREKR (159,729)
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 17. REEE DTl 2 = @|)

(b) Summarised financial information of (b) BEQATRZHEERNBRE
associates (Continued) (&)

Hunan Greenland B AR 1

2021 2020

—E-—F T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHETT

Current assets MENEE 1,004,874 1,554,780

Non-current assets IERBEE 156,234 13,921

Current liabilities mEBAE 541,659 846,864

Non-current liabilities ERBAEE 137,682 —

From 2 September

2020 (Date of

acquisition) to

2021 31 December 2020

TN
AA=H
(1451 EA)=
—EEF
—E-—-F +Z-A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Revenue for the year/period NEFEHARE YA 194,271 135,212
(Loss)/profit for the year/period REE HRE
(&), % F (257,356) 21,164
Other comprehensive income for the RNEE/HAREM
year/period 2HEIEA 17,286 35,644
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for ARG HifS & H
the year/period (AX) WAz (240,070) 56,808
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—Z-—%+=-A=+—H

17.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(b) Summarised financial information of

associates (Continued)
Hunan Greenland (Continued)

17. RS Q7] 2 fm @
(b) Hﬁ%’“""jz,ﬂzi%ﬁﬂﬂi

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest

(#&)

M ()

E X E R R B R AR R
REMBHRERAMER I AEH

18.
(a)

in Hunan Greenland recognised in the consolidated M BRTE 2 ¥ 5
financial statements:
2021 2020
—B=-—F —E_TF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FAT
Net assets of the associate g Nal s BEFR 481,767 721,837
Proportion of the Group's interest in Hunan 7% 52 [ 74 4 i 4% ith 2
Greenland T 2 tE 151 50% 50%
2021 2020
—B=-—F —E_TF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FAT
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in 2N 52 [& 7 4 B3 4% i 4
Hunan Greenland 2 BREE 240,884 360,919
INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. REE QR ZER
Investments (@ RE
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
At beginning of the year F1 196,074 84,701
Additions i 57,529 107,421
Exchange differences PE X =58 6,688 6,212
Share of results of joint ventures DA E R RIHEE 48,253 (2,260)
Others Hth (80,681) —
At end of the year FI 227,863 196,074
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18.

(CONTINUED)

(a)

—E - —F%

Investments (Continued)

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Details of the Group's joint ventures are as follows:

Name of entity

BEEEE

Principal activities

FTEEK

REE AT 2R @)
(a) ®E @)
AEBMZALATHBOT -

Place of incorporation
and operation

1 B AR 3 B

Proportion of equity
interest held
by the Group

REBERFERAER LG
2021 2020

—E-—F5 ZTZTHF

BREMNEREMERZEBRAR
(Gekuangli Nanjing Property
Development Co. Ltd.)
("Gekuangli”)

BEMNEREMERZEBRAR
(TEmAl 1)

EREMNeFEEREARAR
(Nanjing Kuanglijin Property
Development Co. Ltd.)
("Kuanglijin”)

EREMNeFEEREFR AR
(MERME 1)

EMNZEFEERZERRA T
(Guangzhou Anhe Real Estate
Development Co. Ltd.)
("Guangzhou Anhe")
BNz & EMmERERRA R
(TEMZE])

HMEESEXRERAR AR
(Hunan Kuangmeng Property
Development Co. Ltd.)
("Hunan Kuangmeng”)

HMEESEXRERAR AR
(MAmEE )

REERABEXNERBRAF
(Chengdu Xiangcheng Minmetals
Urban Development Co., Ltd.)
("Chengdu Xiangcheng”)

KEERABEXNERBRAF
(TR EBE I 1)

IRBERBEEGRAA
(Beijing Kuangrongcheng Real Estate
Co. Ltd)

I RERME X AR QA

Real estate development

FHEER

Real estate development

FiEER

Real estate development

FiE R

Real estate development

FEHEER

Real estate development

FHEER

Real estate development

FiE R

229

Mainland China

A A

Mainland China

PER

Mainland China

PR A

Mainland China

A A

Mainland China

A

Mainland China

P A

34.1% 33.9%
39.8% 39.8%
10% 10%
50% 50%
— 90%
TEA
40% —
5@ A
LEHMERGRAE
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18.

—F-—#+-A=+-8

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Investments (Continued)

These companies are joint ventures established by the
Group and other investors in Mainland China with
operating periods of 30 years. The Group accounts for its
investments in these companies as joint ventures as it
exercises joint control over the investees through its
voting rights, as unanimous consent is required for the
relevant activities.

Summarised financial information of joint
ventures

As at 31 December 2021, none of Group's joint ventures

18. REE AR 2= |)
(a) ®E @)

(b)

ZERAR/ASERFEAMME
MIREERILZEERR  &E&
HR30F AR AEEBEBRE
R E T TR RES (F S
HERESEE-HRAE)  #wEK
REZERFZREARIGEE

AR ¢
BERNTAZHMBERBE

R-_E-_—4F+-_A=+—8"

were individually material. AEBWEERNTS EANE E
NG
2021 2020
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
The Group’s share of profit/(loss) for AREEEGERFE
the year S, (E18) 48,253 (2,260)
The Group's share of other comprehensive 72N £5 B FE (G RN &
income for the year HEib2mik A 6,688 6,212
The Group’s share of total comprehensive NS B fE(E R F &
income for the year 2HIRABEE 54,941 3,952
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19. ERHEMEZERWEEZEAALE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE RECHMBEE
INCOME
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T T
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong REB LT ZRAFS
At beginning of the year F4 822,778 1,398,952
Fair value loss recognised in other PO E i 2 T U 2 R AR
comprehensive income Z AR EEE (267,345) (576,174)
At end of the year FIR 555,433 822,778
The Group's equity securities investment is measured at fair value REBMRRE PR BOBRAETFRE R
at the end of the reporting period: NREEE :

Fair value as at

AR
31 December 31 December Fair value Valuation technique
Financial assets 2021 2020 hierarchy and key input
—g=—5  —F-%F EER R
HBEE +=A=+—8 +=ZA=+—HB 2AREHH FTEBAEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F8% Fan
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 555,433 822,778 Level 1 Quoted prices in
income — Listed equity securities an active market
FRHEMEPARSEANEAECHBEE — E—] RGBTSR
ETRAE S BIE2EAE
The equity securities investment has been designated at fair IR AR TE H R E B 16 T /535 18 E A 2 U
value through other comprehensive income, which, in the HIBAREHE MESRAEENAR
opinion of the Directors, resulting more relevant information for SEREBEEERATANTRN - HE
the Group’s financial instruments based on how the Group FREMNT S TEEBEER - FAER
manages its equity instruments. Dividend income recognised HERMPBENZESIREGBNREK
during the year related to those investments held at end of the A £59,922,0008 T (Z T ZF F !
year was HK$59,922,000 (2020: HK$53,008,000). There was no 53,008,000 7T) ° H WM B F & TE i i P
disposal or transfer of the cumulative gain or loss within equity B S sk s Rt iz s B 18 -

during both years.
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Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

20. INVENTORIES 20. 78
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E_TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHETT
Properties under development ERBPYE
— located in Mainland China (i) — 2 B P () 25,339,100 22,093,933
— located in Hong Kong (i) — L REE) 6,078,169 5,264,423
31,417,269 27,358,356
Properties held for sale — FIELEME —
located in Mainland China LR A B A 11,696,350 6,935,433
43,113,619 34,293,789
()  Properties under development (i) ZRPYE
2021 2020
—E-—% BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Land use rights T e R 23,027,702 20,639,030
Construction costs BENA 8,389,567 6,719,326
31,417,269 27,358,356

The carrying amount of leasehold land is measured at cost

less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment

losses. The residual values are determined as the estimated
disposal value of the leasehold land component. No
depreciation charge is made on the leasehold land taking
into account the estimated residual values as at 31

December 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, properties under development
with a carrying amount of HK$6,471,763,000 (2020:
HKS$7,148,541,000) have been pledged as collateral for bank

borrowings (note 29 (a)).

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED®
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KRAERREBEE -

BREEERHEE

THH DG HEEE - K&t RN
T —F+ZA=1T—HHHEHE
MESEE T AT IRITERX -

RZZE-_—F+=-A=+—H" EAE
556,471,763,0008 T (Z E —Z & F
7,148,541,000 70) BB R ¥ ¥ B & i
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21. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER ENFE - EGREMENR

RECEIVABLES RAIE
2021 2020
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T T
Trade receivables, net (b) B 5 e RIE -
F 5 (b) 139,732 148,085
Deposits & 211,351 108,798
Prepayments (c) TET 3R 891,132 772,816
Prepayments for land cost (d) ?Eiﬁ:tﬂﬂﬁk_$ (d) 1,969,482 7,574,521
Amounts due from associates (note 41(b)) F’gﬂﬂﬁ’ﬁ%@ SKIB
(MFEE41(b 1,052,958 1,088,435
Amounts due from joint ventures (note 41(b)) EkE %’D\ FIE
(Mt3E41 (b 3,054,411 4,639,711
Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders — F& U ﬁﬁ%”ﬁz
of subsidiaries (note 41(b)) Iz Hﬁﬂi% X8
(BtsE41(0 4,962,606 2,530,870
Others HAfb 241,224 188,882
12,522,896 17,052,118
(@  The carrying amounts of prepayments, trade and other @ TENKIE- B KHMERKRIE
receivables are denominated in the following currencies: ZBEEETIA TS &S8R
2021 2020
—_EB-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT T T
HK$ B TT 113,098 149,736
Renminbi (“RMB") AR (AR 12,409,783 16,902,367
Macao pataca (“MOP”) SBPTHE ([DRPTHE D) 15 15
12,522,896 17,052,118
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

21. PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(b)  The aging analysis of trade receivables based on due date
for rental receivables, date of properties delivered to
purchasers and billing date of construction services
certified is as follows:

ANRE - BESREMER
/T_\AIE )
by EEKELIZEAE MEINT
EXMBHNEREEZRRSH
FRERME D EHEKGKIEZ
BRER DT -

2021 2020

—E-—F BT

HK$’000 HKS$'000

TR FHT

Within 90 days 90 H 109,665 98,032
91 to 180 days 91£180H 3,006 6,052
181 days to 1 year 18BTBE—4F 7,532 20,647
1 to 2 years —FEMF 22,020 8,690
Over 2 years MF LA 43,048 46,506
185,271 179,927

Less: Allowance for impairment R R ERE (45,539) (31,842)
139,732 148,085

Movements in the allowance for impairment of trade

hE ZRAGRIAE L 2R E A

receivables are as follows: 2T -
2021 2020
= g = fﬁ —%= _i@fﬁ
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
At beginning of the year F1 31,842 46,949
Exchange differences b H =5 2,539 1,044
Allowance for impairment, net WA FE 19,427 9,992
Written-off A (8,269) (2,248)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—KHE QA — (23,895)
At end of the year F IR 45,539 31,842

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 44(a)(ii).
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21.

22.

—E - —F%

PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(0  As at 31 December 2021, prepayments included prepaid
other taxes and other charges of approximately
HK$845,219,000 (2020: HK$677,889,000).

(d) As at 31 December 2021, prepayments for land cost
represented payments to Bureau of Planning and Natural
Resources of PRC for the acquisition of land in Mainland
China and the amount will be reclassified to inventory
upon issuance of land use right certificates.

(e)  The other items within trade and other receivables do not
contain past due or impaired assets.

21.

ENRE - BEZRHMER

FIE ()

© R-ZE-——F+=-—A=+—8H"
ENRBEEEENEMFRERE
1th B FB #9845,219,00058 7T (Z & —
T4E © 677,889,00078 TT) ©

d RZBE-_—F+=-—A=+—8"
TEAS 4 M AR AN 8 5 FP B A i B
TN TFRREAERERE
BRZRIE Mt EAERER
BT AEERERATE -

€ EHRHEMBUKREANZEMIE
BY FEREBHNCRHEERE -

CONTRACT ASSETS 22. EHNEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHET TAT
Construction services BRER 240,503 146,587
Retention receivables B WAR [E & 45,750 56,559
286,253 203,146

As at 1 January 2020, contract assets amounted to approximately
HK$500,439,000.

The contract assets from construction services primarily relate to
the Group's right to consideration for work completed and not
billed because the rights are conditioned on the Group's future
performance. The contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional, typically
upon the issuance of billing certificates.

Retention receivables are included in contract assets until the
end of the retention period as the Group's entitlement to this
final payment is conditioned on the Group’s fulfillment of its
quality warranty obligation. As at 31 December 2021, retention
receivables with a carrying amount of HK$18,239,000 (2020:
HK$22,369,000) were expected to be recovered after twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the
Group expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle.
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RZE_ZF—F—HB AHEEZS®
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BRERBHNENEETZSNAEER
Bl TREBRKEZEMN(EHRE
FRRER AR B R AR IREL BRI - 8
ARBEHEREE) ANEERENKSE
RS (BERBHRELR) BREE
P WA -

EURREEAASNEE  EE2RIEH
HERIE - BAAEBRREGZRE KD
AN AEEEREEEREFEETAIK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

23.

24,

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONTRACT COSTS 23. §HI KA
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FET
Sales commissions HE/ME 217,454 91,741

Contract costs relate to the incremental sales commissions paid/
payable to property agents whose selling activities resulted in
customers entering into sale and purchase agreements for the
Group's properties. Contract costs are recognised as part of
selling and marketing expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in the period in which revenue from the related
property sales is recognised.

BRREY REN,/ TN ERIENE
BHERS  ZFRENHEELDSE
HEFIAEAASENMENE R W
& o BHBRATIN AR EHEE SR
EEWL;%@F?EZ Tgﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁwuﬁﬁﬁg
&Mﬁﬁ'%ﬂ%ﬂ’]—*ﬁ

CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS, 24, SREIBEEREBITER
RESTRICTED
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETHF
HK$’000 HKS'000
Fits THT
Restricted cash SR HIIR & 1,077,095 194,085

The carrying amounts of restricted cash are denominated in the
following currencies:

ERHR e 2 REETATIIERIIER

2021 2020
HK$’000 HKS 000

FET FAET

HKS BT 1,042,252 176,892
RMB AR 34,843 17,193
1,077,095 194,085

As at 31 December 2021, the weighted average effective interest
rate was 0.25% (2020: 0.19%) per annum.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting
period is the carrying amount of cash and bank deposits.

The restricted cash represents (i) performance deposits for
construction projects; and (i) guarantee deposits for the benefit
of mortgage loan facilities granted by banks to the purchasers of
the Group's properties.
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25. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS,
UNRESTRICTED

25. TERFRERBITER

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHET T T

Cash at banks RITIRE 10,956,110 7,854,934
Short-term deposits RHTER — 383,559
Cash on hand FHEIBE 16 23
Cash and bank deposits R RIBITHFR 10,956,126 8,238,516

As at 31 December 2020, the weighted average effective interest

rate of short-term deposits was 0.88% per annum.

The carrying amounts of cash and bank deposits are

R-_Z_ZEF+-_A=+—8 BHF
TR DNHE 15 B BR 4 K| R 750.88% ©

RBe RBIFRZEEETIATIIEE

denominated in the following currencies: HI B -
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FE T
HKS BT 227,698 346,159
RMB AR 10,687,499 7,872,978
uss v 33,537 10,622
MOP SELPT 7,392 8,757
10,956,126 8,238,516

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting
period is the carrying amount of cash and bank deposits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 5 A B

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=A=+—8H

26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. IR

2021 2020
ZEZ—F —EEF
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
% &1 &8 % k-t
‘000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$'000
TR FB TR FHT
Authorised: JETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each FIRFEEO
/E TUE R 10,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETLES
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each FREEO.
B E Bk
Balance at beginning and end of FEH N FER
the year ek 3,346,908 334,691 3,346,908 334,691

27. RESERVES 27. {#¥E

Capital Investment  Cash flow
Share  Contributed
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total
BAME  REE( RERHH
RteE RAER @ @ B EHEE  ABERE EXBR  REEW &5
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000
T T TR T T TR T T TR T
] (b) ©
@ (o) ©

dempti luati hedging luati Other  Exchange  Retained

Balance as at 1 January 2020 W-E-2F-f-HzER 4275172 515336 769 s (5.942) 4359 (300864)  (1437,153) 4975260 8859154
Fair velue loss of financial assets at fair value through other BRAMRERRRAR EHEZHBLE

comprehensive income HELZLAEER = - - (576,174) - - = - - (576,174)
Fair value loss on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges REFHRNERIAZ DA EER = = = = (53904) - - - - (53.904)
Currency translation adjustments EXEE = o o = = = = 1177689 = 1,177,689
(Gl on partal disposals of equity interests in subsidiaries ERNBARDHERZ KR - - - - - - 12678 - - 12878
2019 final dividend paid RRZF-NEXBRE - - - - - - - - ey e
Profit for the year FRET - - - - - - - - 112370 112370
Balance as at 31 December 2020 RZF-RET-A=1-HZER 4275172 5153% 769 25041 (59846) 4359 (9986 (59464 4819879 9264260
Fair value loss of financial assets at fair value through other BRAMRERERL L EHEZHBEE

comprehensive income MELZ R EER - - - (267345 - - - - - (267345)
Fair value gain on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges ReRHMOHRIAZ AL ERE - - - - 36,407 - - - - 36,407
(Gain on revaluation of owner-occupied properties upon transfer to ETANZEBERANERERNE

investment propertes - - - - - 39424 - - - 39,424
Currency translation adjustments EiBE - - - - - - - 589909 — 589909
(Gain on partal disposal of equity inerests in 3 subsidiary fE- %WE BEDE v - - - - - - 844 - - 844
2020 final dividend paid TH-F-TERHRSE - - - - - - - - (66,938)  (66,938)
Proit for the year FRRT - - - - - - - - 89,209 89,209
Balance as at 31 December 2021 BB -F+-A=t-Rz&t 4275172 515,336 769 (2,304) (23,439) 43,783 (296,142) 330,445 4,842,150 9,685,770
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27. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(@)

(@

—E - —F%

Contributed surplus mainly represents the excess of the fair value of shares
in Minmetals Land Investments Limited acquired by the Company over the
nominal value of the new shares of the Company issued pursuant to the
share exchange agreement.

Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, contributed surplus is distributable
to shareholders, subject to the condition that the Company cannot declare
or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it
is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they
become due, or (i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities, issued share capital and share premium

account.

Other reserve represents the differences between the amount by which
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of consideration
paid or received when the Group acquired or disposed of partial interests

in existing subsidiaries.

As stipulated by regulations in Mainland China, the Company’s subsidiaries
established and operated in Mainland China are required to appropriate a
portion of their after-tax profit (after offsetting prior year losses) to the
statutory reserves at the rate of 10%. The appropriation as at 31 December
2021, amounting to approximately HK$1,111,171,000 (2020:
HK$1,016,711,000), was included in retained earnings at 31 December 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

28. PERPETUAL CAPITAL INSTRUMENTS

28. KAEXRIHR

2021 2020
—E-— —EEF
HK$’000 HKS$'000

FER TET

Perpetual loan (a)
Perpetual securities (b)

(@)

(b)

KA (D)

On 28 December 2017, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the
"Borrower”), a fellow subsidiary and a bank (the “Bank’) have entered into
an entrustment loan agreement (the “Perpetual Loan Agreement”),
pursuant to which the fellow subsidiary shall entrust the Bank to lend
RMB2,000 million (the “Perpetual Loan”) to the Borrower. The Perpetual
Loan bears interest at the benchmark interest rate for loans over five years
as quoted by the People’s Bank of China per annum. Interest payments on
the Perpetual Loan are paid annually in arrears from 28 December 2017
and can be deferred at the discretion of the Borrower. Neither the fellow
subsidiary nor the Bank could request for repayment of the principal and
accrued interest save and except for when the Borrower elects to repay the
principal and accrued interest at its sole discretion, or in the event of
liquidation. Under the Perpetual Loan Agreement, no guarantee of any kind
is required to be given by any member of the Group to either the fellow
subsidiary or the Bank for the Perpetual Loan. As the Group has the right to
defer the repayment of the principal and accrued interest at its sole
discretion, it has no direct or indirect contractual financial obligation to pay
cash or other financial asset in respect of the Perpetual Loan, thus, the
instrument is therefore classified as equity in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

On 17 May 2018 (the "Issue Date”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (the “Issuer”) issued US$ denominated senior perpetual capital
securities (the “Perpetual Securities”) with an aggregate principal amount of
US$200,000,000. The Perpetual Securities were issued at par value with an
initial distribution rate of 7.00% per annum. During the year, the Group has
exercised its option to redeem the Perpetual Securities in whole.
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(@)

(b)
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29. BORROWINGS

29, £

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT
Non-current JERE
Bank borrowings, secured (a) RITER - BEF@Q) 3,204,312 2,966,733
Bank borrowings, unsecured (a) RITER - EEIF@Q) 7,961,774 11,084,799
Guaranteed bonds, unsecured (b) BERES - EIRKF D) 3,303,115 964,345
14,469,201 15,015,877
Current mE
Bank borrowings, unsecured (a) RITER - FEER ) 6,547,465 1,955,715
Guaranteed bonds, unsecured (b) BRES @ BIEKHD) — 2,322,943
Loan from a non-controlling shareholder of —XKBRAR—H&IE
a subsidiary, unsecured (note 41 (b)) ERRR 2 &5
AR (M aE41 (b)) — 276,588
6,547,465 4,555,246
21,016,666 19,571,123
(@  Banking facilities @ HRITEE

—E - —F%

The Group's aggregate banking facilities, including bank

borrowings, as at 31

December 2021 amounted to

approximately HKS$22,132,989,000 (2020: HK$24,141,578,000),
of which approximately HKS$4,359,702,000 (2020:
HK$8,045,481,000) was unutilised. As at 31 December 2021,
the collateral for the banking facilities is as follows:

(ii)

(iiff)

Properties under development with carrying amounts
of approximately HKS$6,471,763,000 (2020:
HKS$7,148,541,000);

100% equity interest in a subsidiary; and

Corporate guarantees given by the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021

o —F+-A=1+—H

29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
(b)  Guaranteed bonds

U]

On 26 April 2013, the Group issued the guaranteed
bonds (“2013 Guaranteed Bonds”) with a principal
amounts of US$225,000,000 and US$125,000,000
bearing interest at the coupon rates of 5.50% and
6.50%, per annum respectively. The 2013
Guaranteed Bonds of US$125,000,000 will mature on
26 April 2023. The 2013 Guaranteed Bonds with a
principal amount of US$225,000,000 were matured
on 26 April 2018 and were repaid accordingly. The
013 Guaranteed Bonds were guaranteed by the
Company and had the benefit of a keep well deed
from China Minmetals, the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company. Upon the occurrence
of a change of control triggering event, the
bondholders will have the right, at the bondholders’
option, to require the Group to redeem all, but not
some only, of the outstanding 2013 Guaranteed
Bonds at 101% of their principal amounts, together
with accrued interest. If the Group would be obliged
to pay additional tax amounts in respect of the
013 Guaranteed Bonds as a result of any change in,
or amendment to, specified tax laws or regulations,
all outstanding 2013 Guaranteed Bonds may be
redeemed at the Group's option, in whole but not in
part, at their principal amounts together with
interest accrued up to but excluding the
redemption date.

The Group may at its option redeem the 2013
Guaranteed Bonds at any time, in whole but not in
part, at a Make Whole Price as of, and accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to (but excluding), the
redemption date.
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29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(b)

T —F3%

Guaranteed bonds (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

"Make Whole Price” means with respect to the 2013
Guaranteed Bonds at any redemption date, the
greater of (1) the present value of the principal
amount of the 2013 Guaranteed Bonds, plus all
required remaining scheduled interest payments due
on the 2013 Guaranteed Bonds from the optional
redemption date to the maturity date (but
excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the option
redemption date), computed using a discount rate,
which is the rate per annum equal to the semi-
annual equivalent yield
comparable treasury issue, plus 0.50 per cent, and
(2) the principal amount of the 2013 Guaranteed
Bonds.

in maturity of the

Early redemption options are regarded as embedded
derivatives not closely related to the host debt
instrument. The Directors consider that the fair value
of the above early redemption options was
insignificant on initial recognition and as at 31
December 2021 and 2020.

The effective interest rate of the 2013 Guaranteed
Bonds at the end of the reporting period was 6.73%
for USS$125,000,000 as at 31 December 2021 and
2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
N/T (8] Ej%%ﬁi%l}ﬁ‘ FIEE

31 December 2021

o —F+-A=1+—H

29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Guaranteed bonds (Continued)

(b)

(ii)

On 18 September 2018, the Group issued the
guaranteed bonds (“2018 Guaranteed Bonds") with a
principal amount of US$300,000,000 bearing interest
at the coupon rate of 6.40% per annum. The 2018
Guaranteed Bonds was matured on 18 September
2021 and repaid accordingly. The 2018 Guaranteed
Bonds were guaranteed by the Company and have
the benefit of a keep well deed from China
Minmetals, the ultimate controlling shareholder of
the Company. Upon the occurrence of a change of
control triggering event, the bondholders will have
the right, at the bondholders’ option, to require the
Group to redeem all, but not some only, of the
outstanding 2018 Guaranteed Bonds at 101% of
their principal amounts, together with accrued
interest. If the Group would be obliged to pay
additional tax amounts in respect of the 2018
Guaranteed Bonds as a result of any change in, or
amendment to, specified tax laws or regulations, all
outstanding 2018 Guaranteed Bonds may be
redeemed at the Group’s option, in whole but not in
part, at their principal amounts together with
interest accrued up to but excluding the
redemption date.

The effective interest rate of the 2018 Guaranteed
Bonds was 6.53% as at 31 December 2020.
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29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(b)

T —F3%

Guaranteed bonds (Continued)

(iii)

On 22 July 2021, the Group issued the guaranteed
bonds (“2021 Guaranteed Bonds”) with a principal
amount of US$300,000,000 bearing interest at the
coupon rate of 4.95% per annum. The 2021
Guaranteed Bonds will mature on 22 July 2026. The
2021 Guaranteed Bonds were guaranteed by the
Company and have the benefit of a keep well deed
from China Minmetals, the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company. Upon the occurrence
of a change of control triggering event, the
bondholders will have the right, at the bondholders’
option, to require the Group to redeem all, but not
some only, of the outstanding 2021 Guaranteed
Bonds at 101% of their principal amounts, together
with accrued interest. If the Group would be obliged
to pay additional tax amounts in respect of the
2021 Guaranteed Bonds as a result of any change in,
or amendment to, specified tax laws or regulations,
all outstanding 2021 Guaranteed Bonds may be
redeemed at the Group’s option, in whole but not in
part, at their principal amounts together with
interest accrued up to but excluding the
redemption date.

The effective interest rate of the 2021 Guaranteed
Bonds was 5.04% as at 31 December 2021.

245

29. &K @)

(b)

ERES (&)

(iii)

RZEBEZ—FEA=-+=
B A"EBEEHTERES
([Z2=—FBREFH]) -
K & & ¥ £300,000,0003%
UL ZEF I E B495%
—EC—FREREFBR=
E-_REtA=-+=H3
B — T —FERESHTD
m$ AR - WRENA
Tﬁ%%%h%¢lﬂﬁ
RER 4T R - RAR
%i%ﬂ%“kﬁ%Z%#
% EHFEABELRELE
BERAAEBEERL2T
(MIEBR)REEN_Z
ZFEREFZ101%8E
HEEERAE o ﬁl%iﬁ
BERIEREE N EE
%ﬁ$igmv—g—_$
BRESFITEINGIE 2
S (ERBMIER D) RMEED
—E - —FRRESFAEAR
SEEZEER  BEode
HANGBEREZETEE
EC HHE 2 RETHIE o

W=F=—F+=A=+—

A —2 - —FEREHH
BB F X A504% °

TEHERRAA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

() The maturity of the Group’s borrowings is as follows:

29, &K @)

© AEEERZFHABEROT

2021 2020
—EC--F —E-THE
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FET
Bank borrowings RITIER

Within one year —FR 6,547,465 1,955,715

In more than one year but no more than —FEWE
two years 3,206,806 6,307,136

In more than two years but no more MEZERF
than five years 7,063,757 7,038,895
More than five years AFMNE 895,523 705,501
17,713,551 16,007,247

Guaranteed bonds BRER

Within one year —FR — 2,322,943

In more than one year but no more than —FEME
two years 971,924 —

In more than two years but no more MEERF
than five years 2,331,191 964,345
3,303,115 3,287,288
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29. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(d

—E - —F%

Bank borrowings totalling HK$17,713,551,000 (2020:
HK$16,007,247,000) are interest bearing on a floating
interest rate basis. The effective interest rates at the end of
the reporting period were as follows:

29. &K @)

d) 17,713551,0008 L (T T & :
16,007,247,00078 70) Z $R7T 18 %
TR KRR c RIEHRB 2

BEERAMERMT

2021 2020
— =T=TF
HK$ RMB HKS RMB
BT AR BT AR
Non-current L)
Bank borrowings BITE R 1.93% 4.80% 2.02% 4.78%
Current e
Bank borrowings RITIER 1.95% N/A TiEF 167%  N/A NEHR
Loan from a non-controlling —RIB DA —EIFER
shareholder of a subsidiary RE 2 ER NARER NATER NATEA 6.18%
The fair values of borrowings approximate their carrying e MEBRZARBEEEEEEBERES -

amounts. The fair values are determined based on
discounted cash flows.

The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings are

AREDRCURREREETE -

h AEEERZEEEIATIE

denominated in the following currencies: BB BR
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZETHF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FATT
HKS BT 15,487,110 14,200,829
RMB AR #& 2,226,441 2,083,006
uss ETT 3,303,115 3,287,288
21,016,666 19,571,123
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

30. DEFERRED TAX

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-FTF

HK$’000 HKS'000

FET FET

Deferred tax assets RIERIBE E 871,999 442,890
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEEE (370,398) (366,366)
501,601 76,524

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the

year are as follows:

FRERERAEENRBENEHWT :

Deferred tax assets EEMREBEEE
2021 2020
—E-—-F —ETF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHExT FHT
Tax losses TIEEE
At beginning of the year F9 34,066 30,131
Exchange differences N E% 421 1317
Recognised in the profit or loss RIBz R (12,405) 2,618
At end of the year FR 22,082 34,066
Temporary difference on accruals and EEtERAREHEE
contract liabilities pd A2
At beginning of the year F9 374,885 609,013
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 36(a)) 1 B8 — KB /B R A
(Ht7E36(a)) — 57,847
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) HEME AR
(B¥3E37) — (1,302)
Exchange differences PE W ZERE 11,371 24,400
Recognised in the profit or loss RigzmER 371,679 (315,073)
At end of the year FIR 757,935 374,885
Others HAth
At beginning of the year F7) 33,939 —
Exchange differences E 5 ZEE 1,848 1,822
Recognised in the profit or loss RIBzTER 56,195 32,117
At end of the year Far 91,982 33,939
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30. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

30. iE 3 18 (&)

Deferred tax liabilities BEEHEEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR FHET
Fair value gain NIRIER €
At beginning of the year F 223,109 3,244
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 36(a)) WiE—RME A A
(B +E36(a)) — 192,792
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37) HEHBA A
(Bt3E37) — 14,802
Exchange differences EHZRR 10,932 12,232
Recognised in the profit or loss M8 R (62,104) 39
At end of the year Fax 171,937 223,109
Accelerated tax depreciation IMRBIBITE
At beginning of the year F1 26,956 25,432
Recognised in the profit or loss RIS TER 2,016 1,524
At end of the year FI 28,972 26,956
Undistributed retained earnings KD IR B & A
At beginning of the year F9) 78,020 106,142
Recognised in the profit or loss MBS R 28,446 (28,122)
At end of the year FIR 106,466 78,020
Others HAth
At beginning of the year F1 38,281 =
Exchange differences e ZE5 1,477 2,053
Recognised in the profit or loss RiER R 23,265 36,228
At end of the year Fr 63,023 38,281
249 TEERRA A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

30. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 30. iE ZE 4 18 (@)

Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

In respect of HK$899,102,000 (2020: HK$487,344,000) temporary
difference associated with undistributed retained earnings, the
Group have not recognised deferred tax liabilities of
HK$44,955,000 (2020: HK$24,367,000), as the Directors currently
intend not to distribute the retained earnings outside Mainland
China in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward
to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefits through
future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2021, the
Group had unrecognised tax losses in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$1,281,075,000 (2020:HKS$1,157,476,000), which
can be carried forward against future taxable income and have
no expiry date, and unrecognised tax losses in Mainland China of
approximately HK$465,479,000 (2020: HK$560,090,000) which will
expire at various dates up to and including 2026, as it is not
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the
tax losses can be utilised.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of HK$354,759,000 (2020: HK$288,504,000)
that have not been recognised as deferred tax assets as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED® 250

EEFHEE S @)

R IRAREB 2 F Y e RF 2= 2 4899,102,000
BIL(ZZF ZFF 487,344,000/ 7T)
MR E BRI & BN AR RAGRSE
BA R E R EARIEN  MAEEL
45 o b T SRR AE B TR & {H 44,955,000 7T
ZEZFF 2436700058 7T) ©

,ivtmL%M%Eﬂaﬁ@;{%bﬁkmlﬁﬁ&)}
LAB BTS2 R B 0] RE B B R 2R FE AR
RaFERZBERABR - R_F=——F
TZA=1+—RH AEEREBALE
tx%ﬁﬁﬁikﬂéﬁ%#%)ﬂkkzxﬁﬁMM*“J%
B4 751,2810750008 T (ZE —Z F :
1,157,476,000787T) * BIWEREAR - M
FREAMEEZ AR BBEELOA
465,479,000/ 7T (Z & = F 4 : 560,090,000
BIT)  REAZE-ZE - NF (BF%RE) Ik
Z NFRIBERE - HATKRAIEEE ER
Tt va2 71 AT (£ B A B TE s 48 DA /K8 o

RIFER - AEE R A ERBELER
TH & 7= /Y A 18 B8 Iy 2= 58 /& 354,759,000
BT (ZZ T4 : 288,504,000/ 7T)
E AT KRR LA EARDU SN B AT
HRR R B 2= B AR S o
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31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

31. EZ R EMBENRIE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T T
Trade, bills and contract payables (b) B EBEREX
JE 1~ R IE (b) 3,188,827 1,562,595
Retention payables R ES 21,972 23,329
Accrued construction costs, other accruals and ~ FEFTEEER
other payables HMEFERR
&R IE 6,470,109 4,295,680
Rental deposits received B eZEE 8,927 9,078
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (note 41(b))  FET R Z M B A 7
FRIE (FEE41(b)) 1,090,401 1,543,209
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of — F& 1~ Bif B & B FEZE AR
subsidiaries (note 41(b)) A% B FRIB
(Bt 3E41(0)) 2,054,568 1,792,178
Amounts due to associates (note 41(b)) FESTHSE & A Bl FRIB
(M =E41(0)) 2,463,129 2,283,256
Amount due to a joint venture (note 41(b)) R —RE% A7
I (FEE41(b)) 41,666 —
15,339,599 11,509,325
Less: Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary, for B EREBEEE TN
settlement after 1 year shown under 1 FEEN—R
non-current liabilities GES I)EMNG]
ZEH — (438,287)
Amounts due for settlement within 1 year shown RENEAEE N Z1FER
under current liabilities e 2 &5 15,339,599 11,071,038
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021

31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

—Z-—%+=-A=+—H

(@)  The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are (a)

denominated in the following currencies:

31. ES R HMENFIE @

BHREMEMNRAZEEETD

AT B 51K -

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

HKS BT 521,990 334,156

RMB ARE 14,753,619 11,105,549

uss$ ETT 60,327 55,568

MOP JEPY s 3,663 14,052
15,339,599 11,509,325

(b)  The aging analysis of trade, bills and contract payables of b TEEEZES EBERANEMNRK

the Group based on invoice date is as follows:

BERBEZBHBZREDHTAT :

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TR FHET

Within 90 days 90H A 1,503,667 1,048,965
91 to 180 days 912180 H 388,955 65,538
181 days to 1 year 18BIRE—4F 974,484 177,154
1 year to 2 years —FEMF 98,687 199,606
Over 2 years A A b 223,034 71,332
3,188,827 1,562,595
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32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 32. BEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TH T
Sales of properties SHEW % 15,848,803 12,787,885

As at 1
approximately HK$4,553,520,000.

January 2020, contract liabilities amounted to

The Group receives the considerations in advance from sales of

properties to customers. The advance receipts result in contract

liabilities being recognised until the customer obtains control of

the completed property.

During the year, HKS$8,713,780,000 (2020: HK$3,715,013,000) of
revenue recognised relates to brought-forward contract liabilities.

33. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

R-_ZE-_ZF—F—H AHNBEEZS
58 5 #94,553,520,00058 JT °

AEERATFHEMFARKE - B

WHIBREHERANEE  BEEFTPH
BEEKRDFERZES

FR BRI AFAFS713,780,000/ JT

—E T4 1 3715013,000087T) F R4

33. HttBi g aE

HERBNAaNEE-

2021 2020
—B=-—F —E_TF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
Derivatives under hedge accounting HHEH T 274
IA
Cash flow hedges — Interest rate swap (a) HeReh —
F = 12 H (a)
Matured within twelve months 1218 A 7R 2 A 18,868 —
Matured after twelve months 1218 A 1% B 8 4,571 59,846
23,439 59,846

—E - —F%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021

o —F+-A=1+—H

33. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (cONTINUED)

(a)

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED®

Cash flow hedges:

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the
following interest rate swap contracts designated as highly
effective hedging instruments in order to manage the
Group's interest rate exposure in relation to the bank
borrowings on a floating interest rate basis. The Group
entered into interest rate swap contracts in which the
Group would receive interest of one-month HIBOR and pay
monthly interest at a fixed rate based on the notional
amount of HK$2.0 billion.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged
items and the hedging instruments as the terms of the
interest rate swap contracts match the terms of the
expected highly probable forecast transactions (expected
payment date of the bank interests). The Group has
established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging
relationships as the underlying risks of the swap contracts
are identical to the hedged risk components.

31 December 2021

Notional amount

ERTH

Maturity
Z|H# B

33. HBI A B w

(a)

REREH A :

RBEHR ~REHEB T
EER®ER RS TAMNF X
HEHAKN BUEEAKRENIE
FBM R B ZRITERAE S
BRI RERR - NERE BRI AR
EHAK B AKEE KR
—EAETRITRAEREFAEZ
ME - RIBRBERAESE0EET
REEMEZAMNE -

WEHIEE KR TAZEFHRE
REBE RANEEHAHN
FEREFEHSE R ENTRERAR S
sk (RITH B TFRM X+ A H)
TR - AR EHE QM EER
e E2 1% S b &9 R B 4H X B 0 4R
Rl - NEE SR HRREREE 18
Epiln

—E-_—H+=-H=+—H

Swaps

=

Other financial liabilities
HiB % aE
HKS$1,000,000,000 October 2022

1,000,000,0007% 7T —E-—&F+A8

HK$1,000,000,000 January 2024
1,000,000,0007 7T —F_HmWE—A
During the vyear, fair value gain of HK$36,407,000 (2020: fair

value loss of HK$53,904,000) has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity.
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From floating rates to fixed interest
rates

)% 8 7 5 25 (B 2 il 6

From floating rates to fixed interest
rates

Pl % B ) 6 25 [ 7 R

RAEE - AR EHR 36,407,000
BT ZE_TF  QAEER
53,904,0007% 7T ) B 7 E fib 2 M Uk
mATER W R R -
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34.

35.

T —F3%

DEFERRED REVENUE

As at 31 December 2021, included in deferred revenue was a
government subsidy of HK$312,500,000 (2020:HK$303,588,000)
towards the cost of construction of its assets. The amount has
been treated as deferred revenue, and will be transferred to
income when the related assets are delivered to the buyers. As
at 31 December 2021, HK$312,500,000 (2020:HK$303,588,000)
remained to be amortised.

PENSION OBLIGATIONS

The Group participates in a defined contribution pension scheme
and a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") scheme for the eligible
employees in Hong Kong. Before 1 December 2000, a defined
contribution pension scheme was provided to certain eligible
employees employed by the Group. The Group ceased the
contributions since 1 December 2000, upon introduction of the
MPF scheme.

Under the MPF scheme, the Company and each of the Hong
Kong subsidiaries of the Company make monthly contributions
to the MPF at 5% of the employees’ cash income as defined
under the MPF legislation. Contributions by both the Company/
Hong Kong subsidiaries and their employees are subject to a
maximum of HK$1,500 per month per employee and thereafter
contributions are voluntary. The Group’s contributions to the
pension scheme and MPF scheme are expensed as incurred.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the
Group contributes to a state-sponsored retirement plan for its
employees in Mainland China as determined by the local
government. The Group is required to contribute to the plan at a
certain percentage of its employees’ salaries as specified by the
local government, and the Group has no further obligations for
the actual payment of the pensions or post-retirement benefits
beyond the annual contributions made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021

—F-—#+-A=+-8

36. ACQUISITIONS OF A SUBSIDIARY AND
ASSETS

(a)

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED®

Business combination

On 1 September 2020, the Group completed a major and
connected transaction in related to capital injection in
Minmetals Land Hunan Development Co., Ltd. (“Minmetals
Land Hunan"), and Minmetals Land Hunan has become an
indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, in
which the Group holds 51% of the equity interests, and its
financial position and results were consolidated into the
financial statements of the Group.

The acquisition contributes to business combination under
common control. According to the Group's accounting
policy, the acquisition has been accounted for as
acquisition of business using the acquisition method
because the consideration is determined based on arm’s
length negotiations between the parties.

Consideration transferred

36. WIE—XMEBARIREE

(a)

ES At

RZE-_FEFANLA—H A&EH
TREAREREREERA
A ([RREHE MR ) B EHNHEE
BEANBEERS  AEMWENS
ERAEAEEREEZEHNBAR
A AEEFEEHS 10 - E8
BRAREEBEREFTALEE
KB SR o

SERWEE R KRR T XK A
HF-REAKENETHR - A
REBRREBEEN 2EORFE
BTN WHEEHCERYE
EEREBWBEAR

EBRERE

HK$'000
TAET

Cash
Cash consideration payable (i)

(i) 80% of the total capital injection of HK$1,199,579,000 was paid on
completion by the Group to Minmetals Land Hunan for acquisition
of 51% of equity interest in Minmetals Land Hunan according to
the Capital Injection Agreement; and HK$299,894,000 has been paid
in March 2021.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$12,258,000 have
been excluded from the consideration transferred and have
been recognised as an expense in 2020 within the
“administrative and other expenses” line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Be
ENBRESRE

1,199,579
299,894

1,499,473

@) BIRILE 8 - REBE R TR
7] T b B VA i S A4 4R BB Y 80%
(1,199,579,0007 7T) * PAUIHE AL fE
B S19% 8 BRAE 5 11299,894,0007
TER-ZTE=—F=A%ff-

U B 48 B AKX 72X 512,258,000 TT
EREEBRREPIGR TR
T TEAEEABRRNITER R
HmAS JHEFRERBAX
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36. ACQUISITIONS OF A SUBSIDIARY AND
ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)

—E - —F%

Business combination (Continued)
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date

36. WIE—XNBARIREE

(&)

(a) ¥EKE 6@

RUKBEAKBEEREBERZE

of acquisition /-1
HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment LER & 6,397
Investment properties "EYE 114,957
Interest in associates REEE R A 2w 332,515
Deferred tax assets BRI E E 57,847
Inventories & 5,377,411
Prepayments, trade and other receivables TBRIE - B 5 REME
;IR 662,121
Cash and bank deposits R RIRITIFR 2,879,496
Borrowings (non-current) BEXGERE) (626,371)
Deferred revenue JRAE U A (288,638)
Borrowings (current) ER OREy) (785,837)
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk H AR IR (1,052,859)
Contract liabilities ENEaE (3,012,506)
Taxation payable JE A~ A5 18 (152,724)
Deferred tax liabilities BEHIERE (192,792)
Net assets BEFE 3,318,517
Less: Non-controlling interests W R IR R A A (158,984)
Net assets acquired BIBEE 2 FE 3,159,533

The receivables acquired (which principally comprised
trade receivables and amounts due from related parties)
with a fair value of HK$426,415,000 at the date of
acquisition had a gross contractual amount of
HK$440,520,000. The best estimate at acquisition date of
the contractual cash flows not expected to be collected
amounted to HK$14,105,000.
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RUEER - A7 B A426,4150004
ﬁﬁﬁﬂ’éﬂﬁzml&i(z%@%ﬁ%ﬂ’éuﬁz
FRIE N FEUR B IE T 3008 ) A 4948
%’Ez%zmo,szo,ooo/%yt RUgEER -
TEHEIKNBRZENEEREZ

RIEMRFT 14

,105,00078 JT °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A T 2 R I R
31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

36. ACQUISITIONS OF A SUBSIDIARY AND

(a)

36. WIE—XMEBARIREE

ASSETS (CONTINUED) (&)

Business combination (Continued) (a) ¥#&E6t@
Non-controlling interest HERK R
The non-controlling interest (49%) in Minmetals Land RUEE B A 5R /Y B M 2 8 Fa 3E
Hunan recognised at the acquisition date was measured by PRRR AR ERAE RS (49% ) IR &ML IAEHD
proportionate share of recognised amounts of net assets of EfHREEFENCHERSELL
Minmetals Land Hunan and amounted to Bl E - £ % 51,548,171,00078
HK$1,548,171,000. JT °©
Bargain purchase gain arose in the acquisition of EBNBELNZEEE W
business

HKS$'000

FHET
Consideration RE 1,499,473
Non-controlling interests BAREGFENIFERRR

2 1,548,171

Less: Recognised amounts of net assets acquired W ERRWEEEZFE (3,159,533)
Bargain purchase gain =EREKR (111,889)

Bargain purchase gain of HK$111,889,000 on acquisition of
Minmetals Land Hunan is recognised within the ‘other
income” line item in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss. The bargain purchase gain represents the excess of
the fair value of net assets acquired over the
considerations transferred. The consideration is determined
based on arm’s length negotiations between the parties.

Net cash inflow on acquisition of Minmetals Land

WEREhENmNEEREEK
25 A111,889,000/8 7T + RErA 8=
ROTEMBAIBERER &
EBREERSECEREEETFEZ
AREBBEERREZEZ®E -
REZTHET RN FEEEETE -

WETBHENEFNEZRAF

Hunan ]
HK$'000
FHT
Cash consideration paid ENBEESKRE (1,199,579)
Less: Cash and bank balances acquired B EWEEIR S RIRITIF K 2,879,496
1,679,917
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36. ACQUISITIONS OF A SUBSIDIARY AND
ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

—E - —F%

Business combination (Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December
2020 were HK$2,563,000 attributable to the business
generated by Minmetals Land Hunan, and HK$111,889,000
attributable to bargain purchase gain. Revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2020 included HK$202,969,000
generated from Minmetals Land Hunan.

Had the acquisition of Minmetals Land Hunan been
completed on 1 January 2020, revenue for the year ended
31 December 2020 of the Group from continuing
operations would have been HKS$8,577,112,000, and profit
for the year ended 31 December 2020 from continuing
operations would have been HK$559,615,000. The pro
forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is
not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of
operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1
January 2020, nor is it intended to be a projection of
future results.

Asset acquisition

On 2 December 2020, the Group acquired 90% interest in
Guangzhou Pincheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
("Guangzhou Pincheng”) at a cash consideration of
HK$380,026,000.

The Group elected to apply the optional concentration
test in accordance with HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
and concluded that the prepaid land cost was considered
a single identifiable asset.

As there is no other asset (excluding cash) acquired, the

Group considered that the acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business.
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36. WIE—XNBARIREE

(&)

(a)

(b)

Y S 2EC )
WHEEIEH RN EEEEN &
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—H
IEFERE R 2,563,00078 TTRB R
ABHEREELENER UKk
HEEEINZE111,889,0008 7T ° &
E2-_E-_ZTF+_-_A=+—HIt
FE AW A B IER B 5 E P
1 §9202,969,00078 JT ©

WM ERBEEREERN T =
TF—A—H%xK BEAEER
BERECEEBNTRRARS
8,577,112,000/ 7T * T 2R B # B 4
& TS s ) i 4559,615,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

36. ACQUISITIONS OF A SUBSIDIARY AND

36. WE—XMBRAIREE

ASSETS (CONTINUED) (&)
(b) Asset acquisition (Continued) (b) EEWE 50
Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of RKEAERZEEREE
acquisition
HKS$'000
FHET
Prepayments for land cost TEfT + Ho A AR 3,171,659
Cash and bank deposits He MIRTTER 11,840
Other payables H fth JE S 5K (2,512,416)
Borrowings &5 (276,589)
Net assets acquired BEWBEESE 394,494
Less: Non-controlling interests B FEE R AR R R (14,468)
380,026
Net cash outflow on acquisition of Guangzhou WIEE M am i 2 B 2 i i F B
Pincheng
HKS$'000
FHET
Cash consideration paid ENHESNRE (380,026)
Less: Cash and bank deposits acquired B BEWEIR & RIRITFEK 11,840
(368,186)

37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group disposed
of two subsidiaries, the net assets at the date of disposal were as

37. HEMEB X F
BE_Z-_TF+-_A=+—HLEFE
A AEBERETMRFAE - HEAR

follows: BFEEMT :
Consideration KE
HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration receivable (note) W IR & KB (k) 5,096
Total consideration RIERE 5,096

Note:  The deferred consideration was settled in cash on 27 January 2021.
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effective control was lost

37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which

7. HEKEB QT @
KEEREHECEEREED

i

Date of disposal

HER

HKS$'000

FHT

Property, plant and equipment M - HWE&EE 17,838

Inventories FE 2,167,572
Prepayments, trade and other receivables BRHIE BHR

Hoh fE W kIR 497,579

Contract assets BREE 350,995

Cash and bank deposits Re RIRITIFR 487,334

Deferred tax assets RERIAE E 16,104

Trade and other payables B 5 & H Ath fE 1 5UIR (1,078,274)

Contract liabilities aRARE (1,134,883)

Borrowings (current) B ORED) (328,280)

Borrowings (non-current) B CGERE) (665,150)

Non-controlling interests JEIE R IR = (163,347)

Net assets disposed of BEREEEZFE 167,488

Net cash outflow arising on disposal

HEMBAR 2R FRE

HKS$'000
T T
Cash consideration received BUHEESKRE —
Less: Cash and bank deposits disposed of B BEHERS RIRITHER (487,334)
(487,334)

Gain of HK$955,000 on disposal of subsidiaries was recognised S B B 2 7] 2 W ax 955,000 7T B A &R
within the ‘other income” line item in the consolidated E-ETFF+ A=+ —HILEFER
mEBERN[EMBAIEE P#ER -

statement of profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A T 2 R I R
31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash (a)

38. mERERERMNE
MR AR E X TE

generated from/(used in) operations: £ (PR ReZHER:
2021 2020
—E=-—-F —E_TF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
Profit before tax B 5% A1 g A 1,063,934 808,410
Finance income BRI (249,115) (222,799)
Finance costs IR I N 163,076 69,471
Depreciation ne 55,260 39,106
Fair value changes on investment REMERAREEE)
properties 153,467 50,586
Bargain purchase gain on acquisition of ~ UREE—RKIE A A&
interest in a subsidiary mZ HEEE WE — (111,889)
Bargain purchase gain on acquisition of UK BE — SR B & A R) &
interest in an associate w2 (B IR B W — (159,729)
Gains on disposal of a subsidiary HE—KHWBRARZ
W — (955)
Impairment losses recognised under BHEEEBREET
expected credit loss model BEEE 13,640 14,534
(Reversal of impairment)/allowance for FECRERSR),
impairment of inventories VERIERE L] (47,598) 299,894
Share of results of associates DREEE QRIS 264,007 (4,469)
Share of results of joint ventures DA E RRIEE (48,253) 2,260
Operating profit before working capital EEERFEAIZ
changes K T 1,368,418 784,420
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL,/(5m) 45,145 (532,590)
Increase in prepayments, trade and other FENZIE - B 5 &
receivables H b FE Y GR IR IS N (1,955,521) (3,846,169)
Increase in contract assets ABHREE (77,143) (21,473)
Increase in contract costs A KR AN IS 1N (123,020) (76,504)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other B 5 & H fth fE S 5UE
payables O d) 3,634,944 (3,859,111)
Increase in contract liabilities and deferred & 48 & BT Y 25
revenue o 2,685,217 6,078,341
Increase in cash and bank deposits, PR 638 & R ARTT
restricted 553 N (877,313) (148,633)
Exchange adjustments bE W T & 217,135 386,702
Cash generated from/(used in) operations &E&EIEFRELE
(FA)R% 4,917,862 (1,235,017)
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (coNTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

38. MEBRERERMTE @
(b) MEITHFEEEEZHIR

Non-cash changes

FREEH
1 January Financing Exchange Other changes Interest 31 December
2021 cash flows (i)  adjustments (ii) expense 2021
—E--&
—B--F HERS +=A
-A—-H RE() ERAE Hu2Hi) FEEX =t-H
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
TR TER TR TER TR TER
Guaranteed bonds ERES 3,287,288 16,477 (650) - - 3,303,115
Bank and other loans RITREMER 16,283,835 1,342,094 58,510 29,112 — 17,713,551
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries & Rl Z KB A7l
B 1,543,209 (498,108) 45,300 — — 1,090,401
Amounts due to associates AN S 2,283,256 112,850 67,023 - — 2,463,129
Amounts due to non-controlling MHWE 7#&
shareholders of subsidiaries RIRRFE 1,792,178 209,781 52,609 - - 2,054,568
Amount due to a joint venture ER—RagRra
e} - 41,666 - - - 41,666
Lease liabilties BB 77,743 (29,876) 39 - 3,599 51,505
25,267,509 1,194,884 222,831 29,112 3,599 26,717,935
Non-cash changes
FREEY
Financing cash Exchange  Acquisition of ~ Disposal of Other Interest 31 December
1 January 2020 flows (i) adjustments  subsidiaries  subsidiaries  changes (ii) expense 2020
2%
- k23 HERS e it +=A
-A-H mE() EXHE NG| WEAR  EEE) MERX =8
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS000
T THL THT THRT TR THT T THL
Guaranteed bonds ERES 3,296,288 = (9,000) = = = = 3,287,288
Bank and other loans RITRAMIER 13457616 2020410 141,972 1,689,297 (993.430) (32030 — 1628383
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries  FEfY F Z M B2 53R 1372132 82,710 83367 — — — — 1543209
Amounts due to associates ERBEARRE 940,026 1282690 60,540 = = = = 2,283,256
Amounts due to non-controlling  FEA HHEB A B FEEE AR
shareholders of subsidiaries RAE 394732 1,355,306 25421 = = = 16719 1792178
Lease labilities HERME 83340 (18,559) 3980 = = 3982 = 77743
19,549,134 4720557 311,280 1,689,297 (993430) (28048) 16719 25267509
(i) The cash flows from bank loans and other borrowings make up the (i) REBITERREMERZEBESR

net amount of proceeds from borrowings and repayments to
borrowings in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

(if) Other changes include amortisation of front-end fee of
interest-bearing bank borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o

S 25 e A Wi

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

38.

39.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (coNTINUED)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the

38. MEBRERERM T @

() HERESRLAE
RARSRBRANBERSR

consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: HABEET :
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Within operating activities KEEFA 21,511 16,481
Within financing activities BEEFA 29,876 18,559
51,387 35,040

(d) Major non-cash transaction
During the year ended 31 December 2020, contribution of
HK$1,313,293,000 from a non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary was transferred from other payables, which
constituted a non-cash transaction.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

As at 31 December 2021, guarantees given to banks for
mortgage facilities granted to certain purchasers of the Group's
properties amounted to HK$11,189,256,000 (2020:
HK$6,804,623,000). Such guarantees will terminate upon the
earlier of (i) the issuance of the property ownership certificate
which will generally be available within one year after the
purchasers take the possession of the relevant properties; or (ii)
the repayment of mortgage loans by the purchasers. After taking
into account the net realisable value of the related properties
and the low default rate, the Directors consider that the fair
values of the financial guarantee contracts at initial recognition
and subsequently at the end of each reporting period are not
significant.
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39. MR
RZZE—_—F+-A=+—H ®%ET
REEMEER ZIRBRE ML FTIRT
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40. COMMITMENTS 40. EIE

The Group had capital commitments as follows: REEBFERENT :
2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHET
Contracted but not provided for BETXEREE
Expenditure in respect of acquisition of land B b A
use rights Wk 2 X 713,583 —
Expenditure in respect of properties under EBEBERTPMEL
development (53 8,440,565 8,428,650
9,154,148 8,428,650

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under
China Minmetals, which is controlled by the PRC government.
Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed below or in other notes
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group also
conducts businesses with entities directly or indirectly owned or
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by the
PRC government (‘government-related entities”) in the ordinary
course of business. In establishing its pricing strategies and
approval process for transactions with other government related
entities, the Group does not differentiate whether the counter-
party is a government-related entity or not. The Group is of the
opinion that it has provided, in the best of its knowledge,
adequate and appropriate disclosure of related party transactions
in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has entered into various transactions, including sales,
purchases, borrowings and other operating expenses with other
government-related entities during the year in which the
Directors are of the opinion that it is impracticable to ascertain
the identity of the counterparties and accordingly whether the
counterparties are government-related entities.
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BIERWESRHT RS RBUARED
X -AKRERER  BEMARM DR
BUBHERABES RS LT EE
EHWE -

AEE R HRAEERTEREEE
RIVZIER S (BREEE  BE Gk
HiELER) MEERL BEH
TOENRZEXHRE RERMBET
MECEETHIIER -

ARBERRDA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)
Other than disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following material transactions
and balances with related parties, which were carried out in the
ordinary and normal course of business of the Group:

(a)

—F-—#+-A=+-8

M. BEHE RS @

Brér B M B mREMM T REEI -
AEEEBEBEIRAREAEE KX
BHREITIEARG REHRNT

Transactions with related parties (a) EEBAHEL 2P
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Construction costs to fellow subsidiaries for #& ¥ [& Z [ & A &
real estate development projects (i) EHEEEER
BB ZBEMA() 2,810,306 1,408,206
Management fee income from fellow EIEEX VEPNGTE
subsidiaries (ii) IR B WA 4,813 6,295
Rental and management fee income from  [A) & Z Bt /& A & Y Y
fellow subsidiaries (iii) HehERE
WA (i) 9,582 10,090
Interest expenses on lease liabilities with a A1 —ZK [& & M B A &)
fellow subsidiary (iv) Sz HEARE
A (v) 235 375
Interest expenses to fellow subsidiaries (v) 7] [&] Z Bt & A & 3 +f
ZEHRFEZH V) 41,058 40,072
Interest expenses to non-controlling BN 2t
shareholders of subsidiaries (v) AR AR R 2 2 B3
MEZ (V) 127,575 29,339
Interest income from a fellow IWE— R B R B
subsidiary (viii) A Al MEWA (viil) 44,122 27,427
Interest income from an associate (i) WER—REEE R T2
A2 A(ix) 1,788 42,147
Interest income from joint ventures (x) WA ERNAZ
BRI ONEY 136,729 12,935
Interest income from non-controlling WER KB AR 2
shareholders of subsidiaries (vii) IR R 2 B3
A2 A (vi) 26,026 129,508
Property management expenses to a fellow #; T —ZR[E XK &
subsidiary (xii) REIZMEER
PR 75 32 i (xi) — 5,481
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)
(b) Balances with related parties

M. BHIERZ @
(b) EERAEE 248k

2021 2020
—E-—F BT
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Construction payable to fellow subsidiaries &R XM E A A2
for real estate development projects (i) EHEZRIEEE
E0E= g (i) 1,633,625 314,488
Lease liabilities with a fellow subsidiary (iv) BE—XRZH B A
RIZHEERE (v 3,000 6,645
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (vi) FEAS[R) 253 B 2 B 5 E
(vi) 1,090,401 1,543,209
Amounts due to non-controlling FEATBT B A Bl FEIE AR
shareholders of subsidiaries (vi) A% B FRIE (vi) 2,054,568 1,792,178
Amounts due to associates (vi) FE AT B 2 R B FRIA (vi) 2,463,129 2,283,256
Amount due to a joint venture (vi) BN —RE&E QA
(vi) 41,666 —
Amounts due from non-controlling KB AR Z
shareholders of subsidiaries (vii) FEFE AR AR R (vii) 4,962,606 2,530,870
Amounts due from associates (ix) JE B 2 R BIFRIA (ix) 1,052,958 1,088,435
Amounts due from joint ventures (x) FEUE &R RIFIA ) 3,054,411 4,639,711
Current deposits placed in a fellow GFER—XRARWEB
subsidiary (viii) RNAZIERIFESR (viil) 3,651,743 3,555,306
Loan from a non-controlling shareholder of K E —KHBAE Z
a subsidiary (i) —BIERRE 2
B (i) — 276,588
Perpetual loan with a fellow subsidiary E—RRARWEB
(note 28(a)) RAEZKABER
(Kt 3E28@)) 2,448,182 2,378,366

—E - —F%

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Construction costs to fellow subsidiaries for real estate development
projects were based on terms mutually agreed by both parties.

Management fee income and receivables from fellow subsidiaries of
the Company were based on the terms in the agreements entered
into between the parties involved.

Rental and management fee income received from fellow
subsidiaries of the Company was based on the terms in the
agreements entered into between the parties involved.

The Group has entered into a lease agreement for the use of an

office with a fellow subsidiary for three years in 2019, based on
terms mutually agreed by both parties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021

—F+=-A=+—H

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)
(b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

(c)

Interest expenses to fellow subsidiaries and non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries were based on terms in the
agreements entered into between both parties.

The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Except for the balances of HK$809,075,000 bearing interest at 3.85%
per annum, the amounts due from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries are interest-free. The balances are unsecured and
repayable on demand.

The interest rate of the current deposits placed in a fellow subsidiary
which is a non-banking financial institution ranges from 0.01% to
1.75% per annum. The balance of current deposits was included in

cash and bank deposits.

Except for the balances of HK$106,939,000 beared interest at 7.0%
per annum as at 31 December 2020, the amounts due from
associates are interest-free. The balances are unsecured and
repayable on demand.

Except for the balances of HK$1,853,412,000 bearing interest at rates
ranging from 6.0% to 8.8% per annum (2020: HK$186,077,000
beared interest at rates ranging from 6.0% to 7.0% per annum), the
amounts due from joint ventures are interest-free. The balances are

unsecured and repayable on demand.

At 31 December 2020, the loan from a non-controlling shareholder
of a subsidiary was unsecured, bearing-interest at 6.2% per annum
and repayable within one year.

The property management expenses to a fellow subsidiary were
based on the terms in the agreements entered into between the
parties involved.

Key management compensation

41. BB R

mﬁ

(b) EEEBEEF 2 &6k ()

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

(c)

17) 7] 2% B 188 2 ) B B B8 2 B FE 43 R
IR AT 2 RS TR IR B AT
#9737 RT3 Bl ok 2 1R EE -

N RZRKTERE - K8 R EIEE
BRBGR - B E R B R A EREZK
BTVEER - 2B RAREREE -

B %5 ££809,075,0007 T BT B
FI= %33.85%  FEUSHT B 2 B FEFEAR
RRAIBARE - B AEKER
BIRBRAEIE -

GER—RARMB AR GERTTE
B RE) 2 E BT IR B R F A X
0.01%Z1.75%5 B o & B 7 X4 58
STABR S RBITER °

BRR-ZZ-_ZF+_A=+—HK
¢7F|J$70%H'J£*§?106939000%75
AHESN BREE AR RELAR
B o B BB R AR EREE -

B 5 £81,853,412,0008 T BB © &
R AE6.0%E88%(ZE T4 :

186,077,000/ 7T BT B FHEH
6,0%;5:70%) CEWEERRIRIEAR
%8 o

EARREER RARERME
B o

S:f¢+ A=+—8 "%
%W N2 —BIEERRAR R
HREER  FREER62%KR
—FANEE -

NE}%

5

A—RARMBRARXNZOEE
IR > M TR BB BIRT 8975 FT AT
S % IRk 2 AR

FTEEEABZHM

2021 2020

—E-—F —EEF

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FHET T

Salaries and short-term employee benefits % & & 52 Hi{E 8 13 Fll 10,420 9,531
Pension costs — defined contribution BRERA — EREMH

plans KET & 320 20

10,740 9,551
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CATEGORIES

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

As at 31 December 2021

Financial assets

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

42. ZERETWHMBHETA

- %

n=

BMBEE

Financial
assets at fair
value through
other
comprehensive

HEHR - FMBETAERIFREED

T —F+-_A=+—H

income
ERHEMEME
WHEDAE
TR
BE
Financial
Equity assets at
investments amortised cost Total
REER AT
BAREE RzUKEE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Financial assets at fair value through 3% i H ff, 2 T 2%
other comprehensive income BRAREREZ
BB EE 555,433 — 555,433
Trade receivables B 5 EWFIE — 139,732 139,732
Amounts due from associates JrE W Bt & N Bl IR — 1,052,958 1,052,958
Amounts due from joint ventures IR A & A B IH — 3,054,411 3,054,411
Amounts due from non-controlling &I MI B A &) 2 FE#2E
shareholders of subsidiaries AR A% R 3R IE — 4,962,606 4,962,606
Financial assets included in BIERBAFIE -
prepayments and other B 5 K& Hth fE UL
receivables RIEAN ) B & B — 237,611 237,611
Deposits bi-acd — 211,351 211,351
Cash and bank deposits, restricted SR #I3R & K R1T
T — 1,077,095 1,077,095
Cash and bank deposits, NEZBHRE KRBT
unrestricted TR - 10,956,126 10,956,126
555,433 21,691,890 22,247,323
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=A=+—8H

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORIES (CONTINUED)

42. REHIE 5

TR T A

As at 31 December 2021 R—E-_—F+-_A=+—H
Financial liabilities MEaE
Financial
liabilities at
fair value Financial
through liabilities at
profit or loss amortised cost Total
AREFEZ REBHEHKAKS
ke E BRzHEEE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FERT
Borrowings (EE — 21,016,666 21,016,666
Trade, bills and contract payables  Z 5 « ZE &AL
FE T3R8 — 3,188,827 3,188,827
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries &1 7] Z B B A 7]
A — 1,090,401 1,090,401
Amounts due to non-controlling FE A B /B 1 R FE R R
shareholders of subsidiaries A% 3R IE — 2,054,568 2,054,568
Amounts due to associates FE ST & N R FE — 2,463,129 2,463,129
Amount due to a joint venture FERT— %E\%" Gl
I — 41,666 41,666
Financial liabilities included in other £ ¥& K £ th & {5 FUIA
payables NEE % B & — 6,101,754 6,101,754
Other financial liabilities HiB % aE 23,439 — 23,439
Lease liabilities HE&BE — 51,505 51,505
23,439 36,008,516 36,031,955
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORIES (cONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2020

Financial assets

EH

42. BRI E 7ML A @
\ZE-TE+-A=+—H

MBEE

Financial
assets at fair
value through
other
comprehensive

income
FHRAMEE
Wtk A A
FTE 2
BE
Financial assets
Equity at amortised
investments cost Total
g i
AL E BRePBEE BE
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FAT FHT FAT
Financial assets at fair value through % 38 £ {th & mE Uk 25
other comprehensive income BRAREFEZ
B EE 822,778 — 822,778
Trade receivables B 5 WK HRIA = 148,085 148,085
Amounts due from non-controlling  EU B A &) 2
shareholders of subsidiaries JE4E Hxﬂxﬁmﬁ — 2,530,870 2,530,870
Amounts due from associates JE Bt 2 R B 5RIR — 1,088,435 1,088,435
Amounts due from joint ventures  FEURE & A A /TAIE = 4,639,711 4,639,711
Financial assets included in BRERENKIE
prepayments and other B 5 & B h FE U
receivables KB EEE — 184,003 184,003
Deposits Ze — 108,798 108,798
Cash and bank deposits, restricted R #1384 K iR1T
TF K — 194,085 194,085
Cash and bank deposits, PR HIRE KRBT
unrestricted T — 8,238,516 8,238,516
822,778 17,132,503 17,955,281
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 42. RERE SN T H @
CATEGORIES (CONTINUED)
As at 31 December 2020 RZEZZEF+=_HA=+—H
Financial liabilities R =N
Financial
liabilities at
fair value Financial
through liabilities at
profit or loss ~ amortised cost Total
FHRBE IR
AREFTEZ  REHEKAT]
WBaE BRzUBAaRE st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
T FHT T
Borrowings (EE — 19,571,123 19,571,123
Trade, bills and contract payables &5  ZHE LKA K
& SR IE — 1,562,595 1,562,595
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries &5t [ Z [t & A &
A — 1,543,209 1,543,209
Amounts due to non-controlling FE A B /B 1 R FE R R
shareholders of subsidiaries fi% 3R 3 A — 1,792,178 1,792,178
Amounts due to associates JE 1~} Bt R B 5108 — 2,283,256 2,283,256
Financial liabilities included in other &K E fih & <t k18
payables NE B8 & — 3,969,931 3,969,931
Other financial liabilities HmH s aE 59,846 — 59,846
Lease liabilities HEAE = 77,743 77,743
59,846 30,800,035 30,859,881
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs
approximate their fair values. The fair values are estimated using
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flows.

The financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income represent equity securities listed in Hong Kong. As at 31
December 2021, equity securities amounting to HK$555,433,000
(2020: HKS$822,778,000) was measured at fair value and based on
quoted market prices of an active market (Level 1) at the end of
the reporting period.

Other financial liabilities represent interest rate swap contracts
designated as highly effective hedging instruments in order to
manage the Group's interest rate exposure in relation to the
bank borrowings on a floating interest rate basis. As at 31
December 2021, fair value of other financial liabilities amounting
to HK$23,439,000 (2020: HKS$59,846,000) was measured at the
present value of future cash flows estimated based on the
applicable yield curves derived from quoted interest rates at the
end of the reporting period and contracted interest rate
discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various
counterparties and categorised in Level 2.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2020: Nil).

T —FH 273

3. MR T A2 A RERARE

=EN

EEARRBHERAAENTBEER
MHAENEREREAAERE A
AEDERAREEBELRIEHRRR S
mAGET

‘aﬁi@ﬁ@%@ﬂﬁzﬁé?ﬁi@ﬁﬁﬁizﬁzﬁ
BEFTZPREREB LT 2RAFE
RZZE=_—F+=-A=+—H BE#E
#%555,433,0008 L (Z T = T &
822,778,00077T) TYIA R /o @Eﬁ&%ﬁlﬁ%
BERTS (F—K) 2hBHREE

HtsaEaETsEEaE+TA
WA EEHEH HENEEEASE
FEFEIRITE mZﬂTH T N
——%+ZA=+—H HtHKaE
Z AR 1E A234390008 L (ZE -
F 1 59,846,000/8 7T) + H HIRE K E A
R R (BREBROTRAES
) REAIRBRZER S HEERBL
WIREFBENENFE(DERAE L)
BJHEMRRBSREAHRERTSE -

AEE WMEVKEERVBEEAR
BEERNE—ARE_FMAERE B

MEFASEBELE=-R(ZE_F :
/) o

ARBERRDA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021

o —F+-A=1+—H

44. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow
interest-rate risk, fair value interest-rate risk and equity
securities price risk for financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income), credit risk and liquidity risk.
These risks are managed by the Group's financial
management policies and practices as described below to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

(a)

(i)

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities.
Majority of the subsidiaries of the Group operate in
Mainland China, with most of their transactions
denominated in RMB, functional currency of the
respective group entities. The Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from the exposure of
RMB against USS. It has not hedged its foreign
exchange rate risk.

In addition, the conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the exchange rate, and rules
and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.

At 31 December 2021, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against USS with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year
would have been Nil (2020: HK$2,000) higher/lower
mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses
on translation of assets and liabilities denominated
in a currency that is different from the functional
currency of the Group’s entities.
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44. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

—E - —F%

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Cash flow interest-rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest-rate risk arises from
the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate
on restricted and unrestricted bank deposits and
borrowings issued at variable rates. Other than the
concentration of interest rate risk related to the
movements in Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
and the loan interest published by the People’s Bank
of China, the Group has no significant concentration
of interest rate risk.

The Group maintains a close relationship and
communicates regularly with its finance providers to
explore financing alternatives to monitor and
mitigate interest-rate risk. The Group has entered
into interest rate swaps to hedge against its
exposures to changes in cash flows of its certain
interest payments of borrowings (see note 33).

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. No sensitivity analysis has been presented
for bank balances as the Directors consider that the
fluctuation in interest rates on bank balances is
minimal.

If interest rates on HK dollar-denominated
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower
with all other variables held constant, (i) post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 would
have been HK$4,000,000 (2020: Nil) lower/higher in
respect of the finance cost charged to the profit or
loss; and (i) properties under development would
have been increased/decreased by approximately
HK$109,117,000 (2020: HK$119,319,000) for finance
cost capitalised into properties under development.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021
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44. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Cash flow interest-rate risk (Continued)

If interest rates on RMB-denominated borrowings
had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, (i) post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 December 2021 would have
been HK$13,396,000 (2020: HK$8,466,000) lower/
higher in respect of the finance cost charged to the
profit or loss; and (i) properties under development
would have been increased/decreased by
approximately HK$3,302,000 (2020: HK$5,082,000) for
finance cost capitalised into properties under
development.

Fair value interest-rate risk

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates
primarily to the guaranteed bonds issued at fixed
rate.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
the financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their respective fair
values at the end of each reporting period.

Equity securities price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk
because of investments held by the Group and
carried at fair value on the consolidated statement
of financial position. The Group’s equity securities
price risk is concentrated on equity instruments
operating in property development industry sector
quoted in the Stock Exchange. The Group will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need
arise.

If the market value of the equity securities held by
the Group increased or decreased by 10% and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's
equity would increase or decrease by approximately
HK$55,543,000 (2020: HK$82,278,000) as at 31
December 2021.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED® 276

(a)

4. BiIEARAEZREE @)

gy 3508 SEE )

(i)

w5 E k()
Ren=F=ER(8)
AN RESEZERZF)
& 3T 10058 M
T Hm BB M TE - Al
WEE=ZT=_—F+=A
_+ HiItFEHBB AR
HRZ BIERA 2 Br B 1B %
) #5844 113,396,000
BIL (ZZEZEF : 8,466,000
BIT) s RERPYMES
#0524 493,302,000 TT
—EZFF 50820008
T0) Y AE BB IS A AR A B AR
LA RBAERBYE -

R B = E
REBERNA R ERERRE
T EH AR E F AR E 2
REHEE -

EER/REEFBARRK
NIZE AR AR 5 &
ENVBRBECRRERER
Kﬁﬁxiﬁiﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁ“ﬁt@
A

AR S B R
AEEREMFARGZE Y
BRRRIZ R A B R
éﬁﬁ7¥<xﬂx$ S5 ERR
(R - NEEZ BAEFER

BERRNEBR RS
%E%%%’é)ﬁﬁ%@?ﬁﬁ@%
ATH AEEHERRE
R E B A o

WAERFE ZBRAFESHT
fﬁi*jjuﬂzﬁd\m% meT A
HMBEHERETE AR
T —F+=ZA= + Se
RNER 7 AR
#955,543,0008 T (ZZE =&
£F 182,278,000 7T ) ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2021



44. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

—E - —F%

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's credit risk primarily arises from deposits
with banks, trade and other receivables, contract
assets and guarantees provided in respect of
mortgage facilities (note 39).

The credit risk on deposits with banks is limited
because the counterparties are banks with sound
credit ratings assigned by credit-rating agencies.

In respect of trade and other receivables and
contract assets,
performed for those debtors with significant
increase in credit risk or related parties. These

individual credit evaluations are

evaluations focus on the customer's financial
position, past history of making payments and take
into account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. For the rest which
consist of a number of customers with common risk
characteristics, the Group uses aging to assess the
impairment. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers. Monitoring procedures
have been implemented to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade and other receivables and contract
assets at the end of the reporting period to ensure
adequate provision for impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2021
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44. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED®

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables are collectively assessed based on
provision matrix as at 31 December 2021 and 2020
within lifetime ECL, except for those with significant
increase in credit risk which are further assessed
individually. As at 31 December 2021, the gross
carrying amount of trade receivables assessed
collectively was HK$154,588,000 based on provision
matrix.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group provided
HK$15,246,000 (2020: HKS$1,017,000) and Nil (2020:
Nil) impairment allowance for trade receivables and
contract assets respectively, based on the provision
matrix. In addition, as at 31 December 2021, the
Group provided HK$30,293,000 (2020:
HK$30,825,000) and Nil (2020: Nil) impairment
allowance for trade receivables and contract assets,
respectively, with significant increase in credit risk
which were assessed individually.

The credit risk on other receivables is limited
because most of the counterparties are related
parties with sound credit. For other debtors or
related parties, the impairment allowance was
immaterial for both years.
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44. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

—E - —F%

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group has assisted in arranging bank financing
for certain purchasers of property units and
provided guarantees to secure obligations of such
purchasers for repayments. If a purchaser defaults on
the payment of its mortgage during the term of the
guarantee, the Group is able to retain the property
sales proceeds received from the purchasers and sell
the property to recover any amounts paid by the
Group to the bank. The management considers the
credit risk exposure to financial guarantees provided
to property purchasers is limited because the
facilities are secured by the properties and the
market prices of the properties are higher than the
guaranteed amounts.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on loans
to related parties and amount due from related
parties, but the exposure is considered limited as the
counterparties are at a good financial position.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk on trade and other receivables and contract
assets, with exposure spread over a number of
customers.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks, which
are mainly state-owned banks and with high credit
ratings in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021

44. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

—Z-—%+=-A=+—H

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

(i)

(Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts

for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2021

44, BIEEREZEREE @)

(a) MHEMREE @

(ii)

1= B /7 B2 R Bl 18 7P 1 (A

B = [ B K 6 A5 B AR
TRETREAKEEER
ROEEERERSEER
B EEXEEREBHEHR
(FRIFFEMEFTBZ KA
HTEAIBMBEHER) KR
T-A=1T—"H®OFLEK
ol

TR AMBEENRR
#BE-

RZBE_—F+_A=+—
=]

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1248A
BHEE
B 2HEBEEFE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
F-8 F1 F=H k(A3 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TET TER TET
Trade receivables* E 5l e — — — 185,271 185,271
Amounts due from associates & UgBtt = 1\ A 7B
— Normal** = e 1,052,958 — - — 1,052,958
Amounts due from joint B & ARIFIE
ventures
— Normal** = e 3,054,411 — - — 3,054,411
Amounts due from non- NG
controlling shareholders of IR R B
subsidiaries
— Normal** — [FE* 4,962,606 — — — 4,962,606
Financial assets included in BRENEMNZE -
prepayments and other B RAMEKR
receivables FTEANITEEE
— Normal** = MEE 251,556 - - — 251,556
Deposits g
— Normal** = MEg 211,351 - - - 211,351
Contract assets* ANEE" — — — 286253 286,253
Cash and bank deposits, XRFIRE KRBT
restricted TR
— Not yet past due — R H 1,077,095 — — — 1,077,095
Cash and cash equivalents Be kA2 ZEY
— Not yet past due — REH 10,956,126 — — — 10,956,126
21,566,103 - — 471,524 22,037,627
280 ANNUAL REPORT 2021

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED®



44. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

—E - —F%

(i)

44. BIBEEREEZERERE @

Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) BHiEREFEEE @)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) 1EEEERHEFG (E
(Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging AR RFELE B R (&)
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2020 RZEZEF+HA=1+—
H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A
BHEE
E#E 2 HEREEBR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
£ E-H E=4 Bl w@at
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
T BT T FHBT THET
Trade receivables* B 5 e FIE* = - = 179927 179927
Amounts due from associates B URES & A 7] A
— Normal** — EE* 1,088,435 — — — 1,088,435
Amounts due from joint JEIE & ARIFRIE
ventures
— Normal** — & 4,639,711 = = — 4639711
Amounts due from non- NG
controlling shareholders of R R
subsidiaries
— Normal** — [EF* 2,530,870 — — — 2,530,870
Financial assets included in BERENZE B
prepayments and other 5 R E A EWIE
receivables AR BEE
— Normal** = TEE 192,664 — — — 192,664
Deposits e
— Normal** — EFE* 108,798 = = = 108,798
Contract assets* ANEE = = = 203,146 203,146
Cash and bank deposits, XRHR S RRITE
restricted o
— Not yet past due — K@ 194,085 = = = 194,085
Cash and cash equivalents Re kA2 ZEY
— Not yet past due — X 8,238,516 = = — 8238516
16993079 — — 3O 1737615

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies
the simplified approach for impairment.

x* The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments and other receivables is considered to be
“normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M
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o —F+-A=1+—H

44. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii)  Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of credit
facilities. Management aims to maintain flexibility in
funding by keeping credit lines available.
Management monitors the rolling forecasts of the
Group's liquidity reserve (comprising undrawn
borrowing facilities (note 29(a)) and cash and bank
balances (note 25) on the basis of expected cash
flow.

The table below analyses the Group's financial
liabilities at amortised cost into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the
end of the reporting period to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including both principal and interest). To the extent
that interest rates are at variable rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at
the end of each reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group's
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial
instruments. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted contractual net cash (inflows)
and outflows on derivative instruments that settle on
a net basis. When the amount payable is not fixed,
the amount disclosed has been determined by
reference to the projected interest rates as
illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of
the reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the
Group's derivative financial instruments is prepared
based on the contractual
management consider that the contractual
maturities are essential for an understanding of the
timing of the cash flows of derivatives.

maturities as the
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44. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(a)

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii)  Liquidity risk (Continued)

44, BIEEREEZERERE @)

(a) BF 7 B & ()

(i) GEELE R (E)

Total
Within Between Between undiscounted Carrying
Tyear 1and2years 2and5years Over5 years cash flows amount
REERSE
- -EWF MELE RENE HEAE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TERL TR TERL TERL TR
As at 31 December 2021 R=B=-F+=f
Sr=[g
Non-derivative financial liabilities FTERBEE
Borrowings 5 7,133,330 4,580,202 10,177,618 992,180 22,883,330 21,016,666
Trade and other payables BHREAMENTE 9,290,581 - - - 9,290,581 9,290,581
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ERRZNEAR
HE 1,090,401 - - — 1,090,401 1,090,401
Amounts due to non-controlling ERHBARFEER
shareholders of subsidiaries BRFE 2,054,568 - - - 2,054,568 2,054,568
Amounts due to associates JERTBE R RIFIR 2,463,129 - - — 2463129 2463129
Amount due to a joint venture EN—FKAERHA
HB 41,666 - - - 41,666 41,666
Financial quarantee contracts HBEREN 11,189,256 - - — 11,189,256 -
33,262,931 4,580,202 10,177,618 992,180 49,012,931 35,957,011
Derivatives — net settlement fTETR — F£E
Interest rate swaps ikt 25,678 (1,761) (382) - 23,535 23,439
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31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

44. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

44, BIEEREEZERERE @

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) MERREZE @)
(iii)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (iii) 7% B % E e (4E)
Total
Within Between Between undiscounted Carrying
Tyear 1and2years 2and5years  Over 5 years cash flows amount
REBRFRE
—FR —EmF MERF AENE MELH REE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
THx TR TiEn THR TR TiEn
As at 31 December 2020 RZB-BE+ZR
=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities FITENBERE
Borrowings EEA 511329 6,098,728 8548757 766457 21,127,241 19,571,123
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENTE 5,532,526 = = = 5532526 5,532,526
Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary RGN
O] 1,104,922 438287 — — 1,543,209 1,543,209
Amounts due to non-controlling ERHBARFEER
shareholders of subsidiaries BR7E 1,792,178 = = = 1,792,178 1,792,178
Amounts due to associates FERTBE N RIFE 2,283,256 = = = 2,283,256 2,283,256
Financial guarantee contracts BEERAY 6,804623 — — — 6,804,623 —
22,630,804 7137015 8548757 766457 39,083,033 30,722,292
Derivatives — net settlement fTETER — 348
Interest rate swaps GilEget 33448 27,7719 (788) - 60439 59,846

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group
could be required to settle under the arrangement
for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based
on expectations at the end of the reporting period,
the Group considers that it is more likely than not
that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to
change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is
a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by the counterparty which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities
are subject to change if changes in variable interest
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.
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44. FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS AND 4. BHEREEREE @)

MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(b) Capital risk management (b) EXEEER

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safequard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The total equity and borrowings of the Group represents
the capital structure of the Group. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-
current borrowings as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position) less cash and bank
deposits.

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are
as follows:

AEBEEREARAZ BBRIRER
SERERKEZREN  BUBK
R KL HREEEMREREA
it URBHEREBZERE
B AREESRA -

AREBEZ fm R EFRARRRA
KSEZEXRERE REFHNHE
BARE AEEREHEITHK
e & B E AR ER

HHEMRZE - XEENAEE
LEEREREEER CEE - ZI
$¢Q1§i‘k/¥@ﬁ$lf/($b§/ﬁ@§§u‘|’
H o B FERENRE (BELR
SHBRAKRPAZEN RS K IF
B S )RR & RER1TF G
o

RZEZ—FR-ZT_ZTF+=
A=+—BzEBEHEMT :

2021 2020
—E-—5 —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Total borrowings L 21,016,666 19,571,123
Less: Cash and bank deposits B Be RIRITER (12,033,221) (8/432,601)
Net debt [ET == 8,983,445 11,138,522
Total equity e B 23,117,911 22,410,007
Gearing ratio BELE 39% 50%

45, LEE S E
EFUBRLEEFHE  NEKEER
2R o

45. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform
to current year's presentation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 46. T EME A FFEE
SUBSIDIARIES

(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at (@ R=FB-_—F+=-A=+-—
31 December 2021: B TEHNBARIIEK:
Percentage of equity interest
RAEREA L
2021 2020
= = St 23
Particulars of issued Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ share capital/paid-up held by held by held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation capital (i)  the Company  the Company the Company the Company  Principal activity
BRIRE/ EEAKLT HEAKLE ERAXLE HERAXLAA
WEARER 2R/ E£0% BRBARGE ) BE B b 2:) BE TERB
Best Pearl Development Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100 - 100 Property investment
1,000 shares with no par
value
SHRERERAR ik 1,000 7 NERE
100 EE(E
BREEERHEREBRAA Mainland China RMB778013,150 - 100 — 100 Real estate development
(Boluo County Bihua Property Development
Company Limited “Boluo County Bihua") (iii)
BREZERHERNSERAA(BERE)) ) TEAAKN 778013150 AR K FHEZR
AREtEE (LR ERAR Mainland China RMB6,001,000000 - 100 - 100 Provision of management
(Minmetals Shengshi Guangye (Beijing) Co, Ltd) senvice and investment
holding
AREERE LR ERAT PR 6,001,0000007L A% RHEEREREARR
Bright Circle Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 - 100 Property investment
10,000 shares with no par
value
BERAR Bl 100007 VES &
1000 EEE
Eastrend (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HKS2 - 100 - 100 Property investment
2 shares with no par value
RE(ER)ERAR &k W NERE
WREEE
BUTREEHEREERAR Mainland China RMB520,000000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Foshan Kuangsheng Property Development
Co, Ltd)
BUTBREBEREERAR FEML 5200000007 A K% FHEXR
Excel Capital Global Ltd. British Virgin Islands Uss1 100 - 100 — Fund raising
1 share of USS1 each
Excel Capital Global Ltd. RBRLES E &%
\REBREERIZT
Expand Lead Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - 100 — Fund raising
1 share of USS1 each
RHARAR ABRAES 1% 4
1REREEIXT
Great Way Properties Limited Hong Kong/Mainland China HKS2 - 100 - 100 Property investment
2 shares with no par value
BREXERAR &5/ RENL BT NERE
WREEE
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 46. = EM B A TS @)
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at (@ R=FB-_—F+=-A=+-—
31 December 2021: (Continued) B XEMBLRIIK: (&)
Percentage of equity interest
RAERESL
2021 2020
—R--f —2-%f
Particulars of issued Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ share capital/paid-up held by held by held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation capital (i)  the Company  the Company the Company the Company  Principal activity
BRORA/ ERMALT HEHALT  ERAKRE  BEAKRE
WEARER ELiEAVE £33 BRBARGE ) BE BE #5 BE TEXB
ENTHREEMEREBRAR Mainland China RMB120,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Kuangyue Property Development
(o, Ltd)
EMTREEHERSERAR FEAL 1200000007 A K% FRERR
BRERRERAR Mainland China RMB100,000000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Kuangjin Property Development Nanjing Co, Ltd.)
BRLERRERARA ER 1000000007 AR FRERR
BEHEARERAR Mainland China RMB100,000000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Kuangmei Property Development Nanjing Co, Ltd)
BXHERRERARA ER 1000000007 AR FRERR
BARt EEEHEREERAR Mainland China US$55,000000 - 50 = 50 Real estate development

(Langfang Kuangshi Jiye Property Development Co,
Ltd. *Kuangshi Jiye") (iii) & (iv)

BYBEEEEHEREERAR FEML 55000000 T FHEXR
(et 25 ) i R )

Linkcheer Limited Hong Kong HKS2 - 100 7 100 Property investment
2 shares with no par value
EHEARAR B W NERE
WEEE
Luck Achieve Limited British Virgin slands/Hong Kong Us$2 - 100 - 100 Securities Investment
2 shares of USS1 each
ZEERAR REBRRER/BR bEH BHRE
WRBREEIZT
Massive Leader Limited Hong Kong HKS1 - 100 7 100 Real estate development
1 share with no par value
ARARAR ik 17T EHEZR
IRERE
Minmetals Condo (Hong Kong) Engineering Company  Hong Kong HKS1 - 100 - 100 Design and installation of
Limited 1 share with no par value curtain walls
HBRA(BE) IRERAR &R BT R R KR
IREREE
Minmetals Land Capital Limited British Virgin Uss10. 100 - 100 — Fund raising
Islands 10 shares of US$1 each
IRRREFERAT RRELES 0% 4
0RERAEIXT
Minmetals Land Investments Limited British Virgin slands/Hong Kong US$990 100 - 100 — Investment holding
99 shares of US$10 each
Minmetals Land Investments Limited REBRRER/BR 9NETT REER

WRERAGIET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 46. T EME QX RFHE @
SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)
(a) List of principal subsidiaries as at (@ R=FB-_—F+=-A=+-—

31 December 2021: (Continued) H: TENBAITYIR: (&)

Percentage of equity interest

RAEREA L
2021 2020
—Bo-f BB
Particulars of issued Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ share capital/paid-up held by held by held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation capital (i)  the Company  the Company the Company the Company  Principal activity
BRORA/ ERMALT MEHALE EROARE  BEGKRE
WEARER 2R/ E£0% BRBARGE ) BE B b 2:) BE TERB
IRERREERE R ERAA Mainland China RMB4,971,652952 - 100 = 100 Provision of management
(Minmetals Land Investment Management (Beijing) service and investment
Co, Ltd) holding
IRRRRAER(LR)ERAR ER 4971652952 AR REEERBER
RERR
ABHE (RE) REERAA Mainland China RMB280,000,000 - 100 — 100 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Wuhan) Development Co, Ltd)
HRHE (RE)REERAR FEML 2800000007 A R FHEXR
ARER(E0)EEEZEARAR Mainland China US$100,000,000 - 100 — 100 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Yingkou) Hengfu Properties
Co, Ltd) (i
IRRR(EN)EEEXERAA () ERH, 10000000070 FHEZR
HERAERERZERAR Mainland China RMB600,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Hunan Kuangdai Property Development Co, Ltd)
HRBERELERZARAR ER 6000000007 A& FHEZR
ONFEM Finance Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1,000 Provision of financing for
1,000 shares of US$1 each group companies
ONFEM Finance Limited RERLER/BR 1000%70 AEERARERE

Oriental Dragon Construction Limited

RAERERAR

Texion Development Limited

STEERAERAT

Top Gain Properties Limited

AREFBERAT

Virtyre Limited

Virtyre Limited

HERREHERRBRAR

(Wuhan Runling Property Development Co, Ltd)

HERREHERRBRAR

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED®

Hong Kong/Hong Kong and

Mainland China

&t/ BERTERL

Hong Kong

&b

Hong Kong/Mainland China

Eik/HEARY

Hong Kong

&b

Mainland China

PR

1000 BREE %

HK$10,000

10,000 shares with no par
value

10000/7C

1000 EE{E

HK$50,000,000

50,000,000 shares with no par
value

50,000,000 7T
50000000k & (&

HKS2

2 shares with no par value
BT

WREEE

HKS20

2 shares with no par value
WET

WRERE
RMB350,000,000

3500000007 AR %
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S8

S8

S

S8

Investment holding

RERR

Property investment

ES

Property investment

NERA

Property investment

ES

Real estate development

FHERR
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

List of principal subsidiaries as at
31 December 2021: (Continued)

46. TEM B LA AIFE @

(@) R=ZEBE=-_—F+=ZH=1+—
A FEMBIFNER: (@)

Percentage of equity interest

REERAS L
2021 2020
—EZ-f btk 43
Particulars of issued Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ share capital/paid-up held by held by held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation capital (i)  the Company  the Company the Company ~ the Company Principal activity
BRITRE/ EHEASLT HEAKLE HRAADE  BRHARA
WEARER HRRL/ &R HRBARFE () B8 2] %5 BE TEEH
BNEEEHEREARAR Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Kuangrong Property Development Co,,
Ltd) (‘Guangzhou Kuangrong’) (iii)
ENBRELERZARAR(EMBR)) ()  TEAS 1,0000000007C A R RHEZR
BHEERERAR Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 — 100 Real estate development
(Kuangzhong Property Development Nanjing
(o, Ltd)
BTHEERRERAR RERL 1000000007 AR FHERR
HEEHEZERAR Mainland China USD45,000000 - 100 — 100 Real estate development
(Hunan Kuangxiang Real Estate Co,, Ltd) (i
HERREXRRAR () P 45000000% 7 FRERR
ENTREEHEREBRAR Mainland China RMB2,400,000,000 - 51 = 51 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Kuangmao Property Development Co,,
Ltd) (‘Guangzhou Kuangmao’) (i) & (v)
EMTRXERERSBRAR (RMEK])  PERH 24000000007 ARH FHEER
(i) B (v)
HITEERNEREBRAR Mainland China RMBI00,000,000 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Shenzhen Kuangrun Property Development Co,
Ltd) (‘Shenzhen Kuangrun') (ii) & (vi)
MTRARLEREERAR CRIBE)  TEAY 9000000007 AR & FHERR
(i) B v
ENTHREREARAR Mainland China RMB2,500,000,000 - 51 = 51 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Kuangyu Investment Co, Ltd)
(‘Guangzhou Kuangyu') (iii)
BENTRERAERAR ([EMER]) (i) PER 25000000007 A& % FHEER
ENTRARMEREBRAR Mainland China RMB2,181,280,000 - 459 - 459 Real estate development
(Guangzhou Pincheng Real Estate Development
Co, Ltd) (‘Guangzhou Pincheng") (iii) & (viil)
EMTRIEBERSERAR (EMNGR)  PERH 2,181 280000 AR EHERER
(i) B (vii)
REEBELERAR Mainland China RMB300,000,000 - 100 - 100 Real estate development
(Chengdu Shengkuang Real Estate Development
Co, Ltd)
ABERERXERAF FEAL 3000000007 AR FHERR
KPBEELERAF Mainland China RMB200,000,000 - 100 — 100 Real estate development
(Chengdu Kuangyi Real Estate Development
Co, Ltd)
RBREEXERATF FEML 2000000007EA R M FHERR
ARMEREARERAR Mainland China RMB612,244.900 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land Hunan Development Co, Ltd) (ix)
IRHENEREERAA () FEAL 612244900 AR K FRERR
289 ERBEFRA A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021

—F+=-A=+—H

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

List of principal subsidiaries as at
31 December 2021:

(Continued)

46. TEME N T

(a)

= & 15 (0

R-BZ-—H+-A=+-—

A FEMBIFNER: (@)

Percentage of equity interest

RAEREA L
2021 2020
—g=-% BB
Particulars of issued Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
Place of incorporation/ share capital/paid-up held by held by held by held by
Name of subsidiary operation capital (i)  the Company  the Company the Company the Company  Principal activity
BRARA/ EBAALT MEGALT  HEHARAR  HEAELF
WEARER 2R/ E£0% BRBARGE ) BE kR #5 BE TERB
RBSHE ORE) REARAR Mainland China RMB8,000,000 - 51 — 51 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Xiangtan) Development
Co, Ltd) ()
TRE (BE) REERAT () FERAL 80000007TC AR BHERR
ARE (FR) AEERAE Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Minmetals Land (Taian) eve\opment Co, Ltd) (i)
RE (RZ)REARAT (X ER 100000007 AR FHEZR
FRHERREREARRR Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 51 - 51 Real estate development
(Taian Runling Property Development Co,, Ltd) (ix)
FZERRERERZARLAA() FE R 100000007 AR BHERR
TS E (M) ERAR Mainland China RVB2,197,250,000 - 55 N/A /A Real estate development
(Kuangjin Property Development (Suzhou) Co, Ltd)
(*Kuangjin”) (vii)
D0 E (M) ARAR (THRY)) vi) FEML 2197250000 AR % TR TER ERERR

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the

results or assets of the Group. To give details of other

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

(0}

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED®

The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated. None of
the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

These are &REABE RS established in Mainland China with

operating periods ranging from 15 years to 40 years.

These are FINABE D E established in Mainland China with
operating periods ranging from 20 years to 30 years.

Although the Group owns 50% equity interest in Kuangshi Jiye, it
has control over Kuangshi Jiye by holding 60% of the voting power
over the board of directors of Kuangshi Jiye, which require simple
majority votes of the directors on making decision on relevant
activities.
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i S /B8 2
R EBNITE °

B A RSN - SR TR B
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B2 R0 48 BT (A AR
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& o
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

List of principal subsidiaries as at
31 December 2021: (Continued)

(a)

—E_—FH

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

During 2020, the Group has received capital injection of
RMB1,176,000,000 from a non-controlling shareholder, reducing its
equity interest in Guangzhou Kuangmao to 519%.

During 2020, the Group has received capital injection of
RMB441,000,000 from a non-controlling shareholder, reducing its
equity interest in Shenzhen Kuangrun to 51%.

During 2021, the Group has received capital injection of
RMB988,760,000 from a non-controlling shareholder, holding its
equity interest in Kuangjin to 55%.

During 2020, the Group has acquired 90% interest in Guangzhou
Pincheng through Guangzhou Kuangyu Investment Co. Ltd. (a
subsidiary the Group holds 51% equity interest) at a cash
consideration of RMB319,830,000. Details are set out in note 36(b).

During 2020, the Group has acquired 51% equity interests of
Minmetals Land Hunan and its subsidiaries by capital injection of
RMB1,327,320,000. Details are set out in note 36(a).
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(a)

i

H
(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

—E-—-F+=ZA=+-—

 FEMBARSIR D (8)
RZZ=TF  AEBRER—&IE
PR AR 3R F & 301,176,000,0007C A R
B B R D E R E MR 2 B AR
R ZE51% °

RZZB_TF  AEERBR—EIE
Iﬁxﬁxi&ﬁww 000,0007C A R
¥ A iR A BRI 2 IR AR
HEEE51% °

R=T=—F AEBERBR—FIE
22 1% B% 3R T & 54988,760,0007T A R
B AR ERES) 2 RS
Z55% ©

RZZEZTF  AEEBBEMNT
EEREARAR (AEEZH 1%
REAEZOHE AR ARENKE
319,830,0007T A R & W B8 B N & 3
Q0% ) 2 o FF I B HI TE36(b) ©

RZZE-ZZTF AEERABIE
1,327,320,0007C A R ¥ - W fE A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

46. TEM B LA AFE @

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEERFERBRRER
that have material non-controlling interests F2ENMBLARIZFE
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned TREVNAEBEAEBERIEZER
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non- fRREE BB AR &
controlling interests: 15 -
Place of incorporation
and principal place of  Proportion of equity interest held Proportion of voting rights held  Profit/(loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business by non-controlling interests by non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
EMRIRTTEE FERRREZAE FERRRER AR OFERRRBR AR A/
WEARER WY RABZEDL REEAAL (5#8) B FERRFES
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
-Z--F  ZEZFF  -EI--F ZTCZER —Z--F  ZZZ%F
T=A +=A TZA T=A T=A T-A
=t+-8 S =t-8 =t-B ZEz-§% CZZ-EZ% =t+-8 S
HK$000 HK5000 HK$000 HKS000
TET TR TAR TR
Guangzhou Kuangmao Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% 234,637 (20833) 1,647,092 1368718
BN FE R
Guangzhou Kuangrong Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% 226,742 (7,994) 819,060 572,085
EMES RE R
Beijing Wanhu Mainland China 49% 49% 40% 40% (7,740 133995 2,639,083 2571457
TREH HE A,
Minmetals Land Hunan Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% (64,146) 1256 1,545,155 1,630,210
HRGENR PEAL
Guangzhou Kuangyu Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% 452 10 1,779,217 1,728,033
BMEE FE R
Kuangshi Jiye Mainland China 50% 50% 40% 40% (11,429) 1727 432,986 431910
Rt RE R
Shenzhen Kuangrun Mainland China 49% 49% 49% 49% (1,748) (3327) 537,069 523478
Ry HE A,
Kuangjin Mainland China 45% N/A 45% N/A - N/A 1,208,503 N/A
EY RE R TEf TER &R TR
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests 834 (442) 41,103 37626
AEFBRRFERN
ERIFEARBAR
377,602 104392 10,649,268 8803517
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the ARAEBESAEGEANFERRK
Company's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling g edl ) =Ny B R S Y
interests is set out below. The summarised financial EHINWAT - L THBERRE
information below represents amounts before intragroup RREERNEIEA 2S5 -
eliminations.
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 46. = EM B A TS @)

SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)
(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b)
that have material non-controlling interests

AERBEAFERRREZHN
FEEMER R ZFHE @

(Continued)

Kuangshi Jiye e B %
2021 2020
—EZ—F —EETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx T T
Current assets MEE E 2,116,900 1,993,517
Non-current assets EMBEE 8,455 26,168
Current liabilities mBEE 1,259,383 1,155,866
Total equity ey CE 865,972 863,819
2021 2020
—EB-—F ZE-FTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx T
Revenue for the year REFRA 619 5,839
Expenses for the year AEERX (23,476) (2,385)
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (BR), & F (22,857) 3,454
Other comprehensive income for the year N4 € E i 2 T WA 25,010 52,241
Total comprehensive income for the year ARG E 2 E WA A% 2,153 55,695
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating #&E&/EEEAEHR &
activities () mA R (43,815) 49,389
Net cash outflow from investing activities &% & EEELIR S
Dikeebe 2= — (88,636)
Net cash inflow from financing activities B & /EENELIR &
AR — 86,248
Net cash (outflow)/inflow BeORd)/ mA
FER (43,815) 47,001
293 TEERRA A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021

—Z-—%+=-A=+—H

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries

46. TEM B LA AFE @

that have material non-controlling interests

(Continued)

(b) EBEEARFERKRRERM
FEEME QR ZFHE @

Beijing Wanhu It REH

2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FTEx FHT
Current assets TENE E 5,831,580 5,855,611
Non-current assets EMBEE 2,486 6,845
Current liabilities mEN B & 448,183 614,585
Total equity R 5,385,883 5,247,871
2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FTER FHT
Revenue for the year REFRA 89,735 96,800
Tax refund for the year REFR — 245214
Expenses for the year REERXZ (105,530) (68,555)
(Loss)/profit for the year NEE (B18), & (15,795) 273,459
Other comprehensive income for the year ZN4F & E fib 2 WA 153,807 315,537
Total comprehensive income for the year N4 [E 2 T U A 42 58 138,012 588,996

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating #&&&/EEELEHR &
activities WA CR ) F88 884 (1,253,675)

Net cash inflow from investing activities R EESELEIR S
mA R — 1,203,508

Net cash outflow from financing activities BIE ESELIR S
R — (37,210)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) BemrA/ ()
R 884 (87,377)
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 46. = EM B A TS @)

SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)
(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b)
that have material non-controlling interests

AERBEAFERRREZHN
FEEMER R ZFHE @

(Continued)

Guangzhou Kuangrong BB

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHT
Current assets TENE B 1,828,722 3,218,716
Non-current assets EMBEE 93 19,734
Current liabilities mENEE 157,265 1,952,108
Non-current liabilities EMBAE — 118,821
Total equity Mo M EE 1,671,550 1,167,521
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTExT FHET
Revenue for the year REZ WA 2,447,317 —
Expense for the year KEEHRY (1,984,587) (16,315)
Profit/(loss) for the year REFERFM(EE) 462,739 (16,315)
Other comprehensive income for the year ZN4F & E fib 2 H WA 41,290 70,768
Total comprehensive income for the year N4 € 2 [ YA 42 58 504,029 54453

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating A& /EBELR S
activities ORH),/ AR (1,009,690) 1,467,909

Net cash outflow from investing activities &% &ESELEIR S
R ER (23) (54)

Net cash outflow from financing activities BIE ESELIR S
R (207,899) (130,921)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be () WA
R (1,217,612) 1,336,934
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o T 5 R M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries

46. TEM B LA AFE @

that have material non-controlling interests

(Continued)

(b) EBEEARFERKRRERM
FEEME QR ZFHE @

Guangzhou Kuangmao BEMNEE

2021 2020
—EB-—F ZE-FTF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx T
Current assets MENE E 6,024,243 5,302,198
Non-current assets ERBEE 80,563 18,900
Current liabilities mENEE 2,736,422 2,105,148
Non-current liabilities EmBBE 6,971 422,647
Total equity e 3,361,413 2,793,303
2021 2020
—E=—-F —E_TF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHT
Revenue for the year NS EF PN 2,627,193 =
Expense for the year REF X (2,148,341) (42,516)
Profit/(loss) for the year REZRF,(E1E) 478,852 (42,516)
Other comprehensive income for the year N4 & H fth 2 E WA 89,258 156,650
Total comprehensive income for the year N4 E 2 T U A 42 58 568,110 114,134

Net cash inflow from operating activities A& & /ESELIR S
MAEEE 951,133 1,155,690

Net cash outflow from investing activities 1% & EENELIR S
e FER (60) (767)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing B E /EENEER S
activities ORi)/ mAFE (428,984) 178,288
Net cash inflow BEMAFR 522,089 1,333,211
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 46. TEMBE L AFHF @
SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)
(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (b) EEERFERBRRERN

that have material non-controlling interests F2EMB LR ZF1E @

(Continued)

Shenzhen Kuangrun SR
2021 2020
—B-—fF —ERF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FHT
Current assets MENE E 6,135,142 3,526,918
Non-current assets FnBEE 146,327 1,687
Current liabilities =R 5,185,107 2,459,989
Non-current liabilities EMBBE 302 293
Total equity EmiERE 1,096,060 1,068,323
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHET
Loss for the year REEEHE (3,568) (10,540)
Other comprehensive income for the year ZN4F & E fib 2 H WA 31,305 9,471
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for AFEZEWR A~
the year (M%) 4% 27,737 (1,069)
Net cash inflow from operating activities &L & /EBELIR &
MA R 2,669,587 1,345,682
Net cash outflow from investing activities 1% & EEELIR S
i H 3 R (334) (572)
Net cash outflow from financing activities BIE ESELIR S
e E R (2,386,222) (1,338,601)
Net cash inflow BERNFER 283,031 6,509
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 5 A B

31 December 2021

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

—Z-—%+=-A=+—H

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries

that have material non-controlling interests

(Continued)

46.

FEMBLRFE @

(b) EEEXRFEERBRRESZN
F2ENBLTZFRE (@)

Minmetals Land Hunan FEMEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$000 HK$'000
Tt FHET
Current assets mEEE 6,896,878 7,069,236
Non-current assets ERBEE 937,760 743,366
Current liabilities nEaE 4,519,562 4267224
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 161,698 218418
Total equity - Tkt 3,153,378 3,326,960
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46.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests

(Continued)
Minmetals Land Hunan (Continued)

46. TEM B LA AIFE @

(b) EAEEARFERKRRERM
FEEMER R ZFHE @

T B ()
From 1 September

2020 (Date of
acquisition) to

2021 31 December 2020
H_F_FF
hA—H
g 1=pE
—E_THF
—E¥-—-% +=-HA=t+—H
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT FHET
Revenue for the year/period REE/ANEARBA 1,563,952 202,969
Expenses for the year/period AEE/RAHAEAX (1,694,862) (200,406)
(Loss)/profit for the year/period REE /R
(E518), % 7| (130,910) 2,563
Other comprehensive (expense)/income — ZAN4FEJE /AN HARE E 1
for the year/period 2@ (Ax) WA (42,672) 5,880
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for A E ANEE 2 HE
the year/period (AX) A4z (173,582) 8443
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating A& /EBELR S
activities O i),/ mA (382,526) 686,465
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing K& EBEALR S
activities WA OR i) F%58 27,947 (2,206,042)
Net cash inflow from financing activities — BIE ESELIR S
AR 223,619 659,020
Net cash outflow RemHFE (130,960) (860,557)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests
(Continued)

46. TEM B LA AFE @

(b) EBEEARFERKRRERM
FEEME QR ZFHE @

Guangzhou Kuangyu EMNEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHT
Current assets mENE E 4,422,713 5811,951
Non-current assets EnBEE 23,251 —
Current liabilities mENBE 812,135 2,568,935
Non-current liabilities FnBAaE 220,157 —
Total equity - Tkt 3,413,672 3,243,016
Equity attributable to owners of the RRARER AN
Company g 1,634,455 1,514,983
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou  J& /N 5% 22 3F 2 B A% 51
Kuangyu = 1,498,438 1,455,571
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou  EIMNIEEK B AR 2
Kuangyu's subsidiary FEPERR IR R 280,779 272,462

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED®
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
that have material non-controlling interests

—E - —F%

(Continued)

46. TEM B LA AIFE @

AERBEAFERRREZHN
FEEMER R ZFHE @

Guangzhou Kuangyu (Continued) BEMNEE (&
From 23 October
2020 (Date of
incorporation) to
2021 31 December 2020
H-_FT_FF
+A=-+=H
(&FfR)=
—EFF
—E-—-% +ZR=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Profit for the period attributable to: LA AT (SRR :
The owners of the Company PAN/NEIEZ SN 2,974 11
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou  J& /M 5% 22 3F 22 A% i% 3R
Kuangyu #m 137 10
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou  EINIEBHE AR~
Kuangyu's subsidiary FE 12 IR AR R HE 2 315 —
Other comprehensive income for the year/ N4 &,/ 7K B[
period E b2 mE A 167,230 272,463
Total comprehensive income for the year/ A&/ ANEARE
period SHE AR 170,656 272,484
Profit and total comprehensive income AT A TR EF R
attributable to: 2ERALLEE :
The owners of the Company KAEHER A 119,473 138,967
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou &N AEE FE4E AR A% R
Kuangyu am 42,866 133,517
Non-controlling interests of Guangzhou  EIMNIEEK B AR 2
Kuangyu’s subsidiary FEPERR IR R 8,317 —
Net cash outflow from operating activities A& & ESELIR S
R (2,551,635) (5,488,957)
Net cash outflow from investing activities & /EENELIRE
R ER (179) —
Net cash inflow from financing activities — EEE /EBNEAEIR S
MA R 2,735,561 5,500,190
Net cash inflow REMAFE 183,747 11,233
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao £ B 25 A M

31 December 2021 =ZE=—%+=-A=+—H

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the

47.

AP E] 2 AR R B A 4 R
&
(a) ADBZHBAMR

Company
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FETT
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR 2 &RE 805,822 794,080
Current assets mENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries AN ENGIE S 18,927,302 18,823,181
Other receivables H {th e UG K18 5,587 5,645
Cash and bank deposits, unrestricted TERBRHIE e R
RITFE 65,450 32,986
18,998,339 18,861,812
Total assets BEETE 19,804,161 19,655,892
EQUITY =
Share capital f& 7 334,691 334,691
Reserves i1 5,215,435 5,165,445
Total equity e 5,550,126 5,500,136
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities mENAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN ENGIEC 14,193,205 14,092,028
Accruals and other payables FE =t FRIE e H At
FESF R IE 60,830 63,728
Total liabilities EEEEGE 14,254,035 14,155,756
Total equity and liabilities R EERE 19,804,161 19,655,892
Net current assets MBEEFE 4,744,304 4,706,056
Total assets less current liabilities BERTBRABDARG 5,550,126 5,500,136

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED®
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47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 47. XA T 2 B ARR & B 3R

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY = )
(CONTINUED)
(b) Statement of reserves of the Company (b) QT ZREERREK
Capital
Share Contributed redemption Retained
premium surplus reserve earnings Total
BRE BB EE e REEF wmE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FHET FET
(note 27(a))
(HtEE27(a))
Balance at 1 January 2020 RZZT=ZF
—A—Bz#&e 4,275,172 491,773 769 362,191 5,129,905
2019 final dividend paid SH=ZT—NF
RERR B = — — (267,753) (267,753)
Profit for the year N S5 A = = = 303,293 303,293
Balance at 31 December 2020 R-ZE-TF
+=-—A=1+—8~
2 RERR 4,275,172 491,773 769 397,731 5,165,445
2020 final dividend paid XN =TF
FEARE B — — — (66,938) (66,938)
Profit for the year AN S 5 A — — — 116,928 116,928
Balance at 31 December 2021 MNZTEZ—4
+=—A=+—~8”
2 EEE 4,275,172 491,773 769 447,721 5,215,435

48. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 48. #it & B & 3|k &
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue BmEREN T _F=H=+WMA
by the board of directors on 24 March 2022. BEEFSHEWRETE -
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

i 3

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

EARFEHRA  BRXESEMAESN > THABEBATEE

“23rd Metallurgical”

(AE—+=)4
"AGM”
&S Ek N

"Album Enterprises”

EESSY

4

“Beijing Urban Construction’

[E 32 |

“Beijing Vanke”
[Em &R

“Beijing Wanhu”
[ &

“Board”

[E%2

“Brightway Asset”
[BRBEE]

“Bye-laws”

[RRRIERR]

"CERI"
[ A R

"CG Code"
[ XE A ST A

“China”, “Mainland China” or “PRC"

[ B sk B A

“China Merchants Group”
[BEEEE]

“China Merchants Land”
[HBEREH ]

“China Minmetals”

[ B F %

“China Minmetals Group”
[ 7 A

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

The 23rd Metallurgical Construction Group Co., Ltd. of Minmetals*
AEZToREREEBERAA

annual general meeting of the Company for 2022

RARR B _FERRBFAE

Album Enterprises Limited

EHCERERAT

Beijing Urban Construction Investment & Development Co., Ltd.*

ERBEREERRBODARRA A

Beijing Vanke Co., Ltd.*
EREMEEERAF

Beijing Wanhu Property Development Co., Ltd.*
ItRBREERERRAR

the board of directors of the Company

RRFBZEEE

Brightway Asset Management Limited
REEEERABRAA

the Bye-laws of the Company
RRF 2 ERAL

Capital Engineering & Research Incorporation Ltd.*

PR TIRRMAR AR

the Corporate Governance Code
PERERTA

the People’s Republic of China
HREE AR AE

China Merchants Group Ltd.*
HERERBR AR

China Merchants Land Limited*
HEREwER AR

China Minmetals Corporation

TEABESEEARRA A

China Minmetals and its subsidiaries

o B T e BT A A
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“CMCL”
vl

“CMN”
[(hEER ek
“CMNH"

[HREA Bk

"CMP Development”
[ A7 R EdL =

“Company” or “Minmetals Land”

RAVNCIR AN 320y

“Condo Hong Kong”
[ 3 A E 7

“Condo Shanghai”
[Fm A0 £

"Director(s)”

(%]

“GFA"
[4B/BmEEAE ]

"Group”
[AR&EHE ]

“Guangzhou Kuangrong”

[EMNEEER ]

“Guangzhou Kuangyu”

[EMNEE]

“Guangzhou Merchants”

[EMN A

"HKS”
85z

“Hong Kong” or "HKSAR”
(&%

“Hunan Kuangdai”

[ A ]

“Jiahe Risheng”
[ 3= A 2% |

T —F3%

China Minmetals Corporation Limited*

PERIER O AR A

China Minmetals Non-Ferrous Metals Company Limited*

IREETBRNHBRAF

China Minmetals Non-Ferrous Holding Company Limited*

hEAEEEIERARAR

China Merchants Property Development (Beijing) Co., Ltd.*
EERE (tR) BRAF

Minmetals Land Limited

hiEERRAQA

Minmetals Condo (Hong Kong) Engineering Company Limited

Tl (FE) TIEARAF

Minmetals Condo (Shanghai) Construction Co., Ltd.*
AR (LB ZRERAF

director(s) of the Company

RRABZES

gross floor area

REHEEE

the Company and its subsidiaries

RRARMEMERA]

Guangzhou Kuangrong Property Development Co., Ltd.*

BMNERFEHERZEFR AR

Guangzhou Kuangyu Investment Co., Ltd.*

BMHREEREBR AR

Guangzhou Merchants Property Development Ltd.*

ENBREFEHEGR AR

Hong Kong dollars

BT

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REFEBRRITHE

Hunan Kuangdai Property Development Co., Ltd.*
HEEREERERRAR

Minmetals Land (Hunan) Jiahe Risheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*

BERERCHE) BMAREHERERR AR
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

il 4

“June Glory”
[June Glory ]

"Kuangshi Jiye”
[0 tH B2 |

“Liaoning Industrial Park”
[(BEEXE]

“Listing Rules”
[ Em AR A

“Massive Leader”
[R5 ]
“Minmetals Cheerglory”

[RERER]

“Minmetals Finance”

[ MR 75 ]

“Minmetals HK"

[EFELRE]

“Minmetals Land Holdings”
[ R E A

“Minmetals Land Wuhan”

[hfEmERZE]

“Minmetals Properties Hunan”

(R AR ]

“Minmetals Real Estate”

[hiEEX]

“MLI"
[MLI

“MLIML"
[AEEREE]

"MMG"
[hEEER]

“Model Code”
B2 ST

"NAV"
[EEFE]

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

June Glory International Limited
June Glory International Limited

Langfang Kuangshi Jiye Property Development Co., Ltd.*

By EEEEEMEREFRAA

Minmetals (Liaoning) Industrial Park Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*

hiE(EE) EXEERER AR

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited
BABMERSMABMRARIES LML

Massive Leader Limited
= /NC]

Minmetals Cheerglory Limited
ARERBRAF

Minmetals Finance Co., Ltd.*

hiEEEMBEBERETAR

China Minmetals H.K. (Holdings) Limited
PEAREEERBR AR

Minmetals Land Holdings Co., Ltd.*
hEEERER AR

Minmetals Land (Wuhan) Development Co., Ltd.*
HEE (BUZ) BEAR QA

Minmetals Properties Service (Hunan) Co., Ltd.*

AR ERS ) BRAF

Minmetals Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
TEEXBRAT

Minmetals Land Investments Limited
Minmetals Land Investments Limited

Minmetals Land Investment Management Limited
IRERREEEBRAF

MMG Limited
hEERBRAA

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers

EHERTAESTETESFRZNIEETA

net asset value

BEFE
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"OFL”
[OFL]

“RMB"
[ARE]

“SFO”
&% M B 1501

“Share(s)”
[ 1n ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[Ax 3]

“Share Option Scheme”

[FE AT &)

“Shengshi Guangye”
[ A%t R 2

“sa.ft”
[F 7R

usq'm.lr

75K

“Stock Exchange”
(B 32 P

“Texion”
[T

Uss”
ESH

“Wuhan Runling”
[TV %

“Zhongrun Chengzhen”
[eh B8R

0"

[%]

* For identification purpose only

* EHRFH

T —F3%

ONFEM Finance Limited
ONFEM Finance Limited

Renminbi

AR

Securities and Futures Ordinance

&7 R E R D)

the ordinary share(s) of par value HKS$0.1 each of the Company

RRAREREEIETTZ BB

the shareholder(s) of the Company

RRRZRE

the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 7 June 2013

RRRRZT—=FRNALARK ZBRES

Minmetals Shengshi Guangye (Beijing) Co., Ltd.*
IRt EE QLR BRAF

square feet

FHR

square metres

FH K

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMARIMAERLDA

Texion Development Limited
BITEEER AT

United States dollars

eV

Wuhan Runling Property Development Co., Ltd.*
REHEFMERERRAR

Hunan Zhongrun Chengzhen Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
MR EREERERAR

per cent

Bt
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ABOUT CHINA MINMETALS CORPORATION

GRS v 1 4 T A R )

Founded in 1950, China Minmetals is one of the largest State-owned
conglomerates that operates globally with core business in exploration,
mining, smelting, processing and trading for metals and minerals,
finance, real estate, and mining and metallurgic technology. China
Minmetals was ranked 65 among the US Fortune world top 500
enterprises in 2021.

China Minmetals has, in recent years, actively participated in
commercial estate development, construction and installation business
after it has a footing on the residential development and industrial
estate business. Accordingly, it has equipped with considerable
resources and industrial estate development in the Pan Bohai Rim
region and the eastern and central part of China.

China Minmetals through its Hong Kong subsidiary, Minmetals HK,
holds approximately 61.88% equity interest in Minmetals Land. Upon
the approval of inclusion of property development and operation to
the core business of China Minmetals by the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council, China
Minmetals announced its intention to transform Minmetals Land into its
listed real estate flagship. Through gradual asset injection and
consolidation of its real estate resources, China Minmetals aims at the
listing of its real estate business and turning Minmetals Land eventually
into a leading real estate development corporation which creates
better returns to its Shareholders, employees and the society.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED 308

FRABER—NLAZTERY  EUSBEE
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fif °

FER PEABATERENIEMER
i BRSEREMEMBZRELEER &
ZTEENERER -H > PEABERE
AR ERWE LG RELR I E
BEELREERN -

TEARBEBEREEZMBAR —FER
A AR EL61.88% Ak - BBl B &
EEEEEZE et ETRARIEIFHE
FRERGESEP —HETLXHE TEA
BN E o A LB /R L S M B SR TS HO I —
LA RBENTE BABETEHESR
R BREEHEXGNERLT  &KRKHLE
WESTER R —BERERFHINZEINE
EEMWEDLE  BERR - BIMHSAIEES
BfE -
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AR ERRAE

LAY MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

BAENERSBERFBER T TARPBERREAE T/ E
18th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham Road South,
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